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CIRCULATION AND COMMEMORATIVE 20 GOLD FRANG COIN, ISSUE OF 1926, 
DEDICATED TO THE SIGNING OF “THE FRIENDSHIP AND SECURITY AGREEMENT” 
BETWEEN ITALY AND ALBANIA (THE FIRST PACT OF TIRANA), IN 26 NOVEMBER 
1926.

Obverse:	 Bust of Gjergj Kastriot Skënderbeu, facing right.
Reverse:		 Stylized reproduction of the Venetian lion with leaves

Artists:	 	 Giuseppe Romagnoli, Attilio Motti 

*	 First commemorative coin issued by the National Bank of Albania, 1925-1945

(Metal: Au)
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Mission of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania is the country’s central bank and monetary authority and has the 
exclusive right to: (i) formulate, adopt and implement independently the monetary policy 
of Albania. The principal objective of the Bank of Albania is to achieve and maintain 
price stability, which is the best contribution of monetary policy for sustainable and long-
term economic growth; (ii) issue and circulate the Albanian currency, guaranteeing the 
economic agents an efficient means of payment and a reliable instrument for keeping 
their savings; (iii) hold and manage official foreign reserves of the Republic of Albania, 
as a guarantee for withstanding adverse shocks to the real sector of the economy and 
support financial stability.

As the issuer of the national currency, the Bank of Albania promotes the smooth operation 
of payments systems to: ensure a safe and fast circulation of the currency in the economy 
at minimum costs, prevent systemic risk and safeguard the stability of financial institutions 
and markets.

The Bank of Albania promotes financial system stability - public confidence in institutions, 
markets and financial infrastructure - through regulating, licencing and supervising banks 
and other financial institutions, as well as regularly identifying and analysing risks and 
threats to financial stability.
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Foreword by the Governor

Year 2015 was full of challenges both for the Albanian economy and the Bank 
of Albania. The return of inflation to target, fostering economic growth, and 
improving banking system soundness indicators has required special attention. 
These challenges became even more difficult due to the unfavourable backdrop 
in the external economy, structural problems in the Albanian economy, and 
various shocks facing it throughout the year.

However, 2015 resulted in a positive year for the country’s economic 
development. Economic growth accelerated, main economic and financial 
soundness indicators improved and the basis for development strengthened. 
These developments create positive premises for achieving our inflation target 
in the future and further strengthening financial stability.

The Bank of Albania has undoubtedly given its contribution in this regard.

The accommodative monetary policy stance, the prudent supervisory and 
regulation of the banking system, and the responsible discharge of our duties 
to support the development of the financial infrastructure have created an 
adequate platform for economic growth. Moreover, financial markets are 
calm, have both ample liquidity and low interest rates, and the banking 
system’s balance sheet have improved.

The Bank of Albania has worked seriously and devotedly for accomplishing its 
duties and institutional commitments.

We have expanded our cooperation with national and international partner 
institutions, in particular with homologous supervisory authorities. I would 
like to highlight the memorandum of cooperation with the European Banking 
Authority, establishing a framework for the fruitful exchange of expertise and 
information. The Bank of Albania has also worked in other aspects such as 
the European integration process, efficient management of the currency and 
the foreign currency reserve, further development of the payment system, and 
enhancement of the professionalism in research, and improvement of the 
statistical base.

The Bank of Albania is better prepared for future challenges.

In 2015, the Bank of Albania introduced important changes in its work and 
organisation. Decision-making and control processes improved significantly, 
aimed at addressing shortcomings identified previously and approximating 
existing methods to the best European practices. In this year, the Bank of 
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Albania filled the vacancies in the management and control structure, and 
thoroughly reviewed the organisational structure. Moreover, it established 
new monitoring units and accelerated the work for identifying and addressing 
operational risks. Decisions within the institution were supported by the 
implementation of new technology and infrastructure systems.

In conclusion to my foreword, I would like to underline that at the end of 2015 
the Supervisory Council adopted the Medium-term Development Strategy of 
the Bank of Albania.

Unlike in previous years, the Strategy was accompanied by a medium-
term budget plan, implying concrete and long-term plans and projects for 
the institution’s development. For the first time, this Strategy explains in clear 
terms the mission, vision and values of the Bank of Albania. It iterates the 
principles that guide its decisions such as maintaining independence, fostering 
accountability and enhancing transparency, through an open and unequivocal 
communication with the public.

The rest of the sections in the Report present the work and achievements of the 
Bank of Albania in 2015 in greater detail.

Gent Sejko

Governor





CIRCULATION AND COMMEMORATIVE 1, 2, 20 AND 100 GOLD FRANG COINS, 
DEDICATED TO THE 25TH ANNIVERSARY OF THE ALBANIA’S INDEPENDENCE, 
DECLARED IN 28 NOVEMBER 1912.

Obverse:	 King Zog I, facing right.
Reverse:	 Royal Emblem of Albania and the legend XXV *VJETORI*I*INDIPENDENCËS. 

FR.AR*2*-28*XI*1912*1937- (Eng: 25th anniversary of independence.).

Artists:	 	 Giuseppe Romagnoli, Attilio Motti 

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Au)

(Metal: Au)
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Highlights of 2015

•	 The Gross Domestic Product rose 2.7% in the first nine months of 
the year, driven by growth in investments and improvement of trade 
exchanges with abroad. Economic growth improved for the second 
year consecutively, but economic activity in Albania remains below its 
potential.

•	 Annual inflation averaged 1.9%, slightly upward from the previous 
year. Domestic pressures on inflation remain weak, whereas external 
pressures have been downward.

•	 The Bank of Albania sharpened its accommodative monetary policy 
stance in 2015. The Supervisory Council lowered the key interest rate 
in January and November, by 0.50 percentage point in total. At the 
end of the year, the key interest rate stood at 1.75%. The Bank of 
Albania continued the liquidity injection operations and is committed 
to keeping low interest rates in 2016 as well.

•	 The fiscal policy preserved the consolidating stance, as reflected in the 
reduction of the budget deficit and control over the public debt trending 
up. In November, the second Eurobond was issued in international 
markets. A part of it, was used to reduce the domestic public debt, and 
was followed by a considerable decline in yields in the domestic market. 

•	 The banking sector is assessed as sound. Profitability indicators 
improved significantly, and capitalisation and liquidity stand at stable 
levels, and within the regulatory bounds.

•	 Non-performing loans fell to 18.2% of the credit portfolio, from 22.8% 
a year earlier. In cooperation with other public authorities, the national 
plan of measures to reduce the stock of non-performing loans was 
finalised in September. The plan consists in legal and regulatory 
measures that facilitate this process.

•	 The supervisory regulatory framework improved, in alignment with Basel 
Committee principles and EC directives. In January, the regulation on 
the capital adequacy ratio, in accordance with the Basel II, entered 
into force.

•	 In October, a Memorandum of Cooperation was signed with the 
European Banking Authority. It is a framework on the exchange of 
information between the two parties and approximation of regulatory 
and supervisory standards to those of the European Union. 

•	 In October, the National Payment Committee held its inaugural 
meeting, which contributes to the security and efficiency of the national 
payment system through inter-institutional cooperation. During the year, 
the payment systems’ regulatory framework was completed, providing 
for the establishment of private infrastructures for the clearing and 
settlement of payments.
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•	 In January, the AFISaR system - the central system for the registration 
and settlement of securities issued by the State of Albania - started 
operating. The implementation of this system promotes the development 
of financial markets in Albania and minimises the risks generated by 
the manual processing of the registration and settlement of securities.

•	 At the beginning of the year, the Parliament appointed the new 
Governor, Mr Gent Sejko, and elected a new member of the Supervisory 
Council, Ms Denada Prifti. In May, the Supervisory Council appointed 
the Second Deputy Governor of the Bank of Albania, Ms Natasha 
Ahmetaj. With the vacancies now filled, the Supervisory Council of the 
Bank of Albania started to function with full membership, for the first 
time since December 2013.

•	 In April, the Parliament approved the appointment of the until-then-
vacant Inspector General of the Bank of Albania, enabling the 
resumption of reporting to the Council. In addition, the Supervisory 
Council approved the Internal Audit Policy and established the Audit 
Committee, composed of Council members. The control structures were 
strengthened in view of IMF recommendations and best standards on 
governance.

•	 On 30 October, the renovated building of the Bank of Albania was 
inaugurated and, for the first time, the Museum of the Bank of Albania 
was opened, which incorporates numismatic, historic and public 
education functions. 

•	 In November, the Supervisory Council approved the Medium-Term 
Development Strategy of the Bank of Albania 2016-2018. The Strategy 
is a visionary, transparent and concrete plan to be implemented across 
all functions of the institution.
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GOVERNOR

SUPERVISORY COUNCIL

ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE OF THE BANK OF ALBANIA
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Organisational Structure of the Bank of Albania



commemorative coin series 5, 10, 
20, 25, 50, 100, 200, and 500 lekË, 
issued on the 500th anniversary 
of gjergj kastrioti skëNderbeu’s 
death 1468-1968.

*	 The first commemorative coins issued by the State 
Bank of Albania,1945-1992. 



(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Au)
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I.	A ctivity of the Supervisory Council of 
the Bank of Albania

•	 The decision-making process at the Bank of Albania is guided by the principles 
of lawfulness, professionalism, independence and transparency. The highest 
decision-making and supervisory body of the Bank of Albania is the Supervisory 
Council, whose members are elected and appointed by the Parliament of Albania.

The Supervisory Council during 2015 performed its activities in line with the 
competences set out in the Law “On the Bank of Albania”1 and the procedures 
established in the regulation for its organisation and functioning.

Supervisory Council is the highest steering body of the 
Bank of Albania

The Council met 15 times in 2015. Unlike in previous years, the Council held 
eight meetings to review and approve the monetary policy: four meetings 
to discuss the quarterly report and four meetings to discuss the intermediate 
report. After discussing economic and monetary developments at home and 
their outlook, the Supervisory Council made a decision on the key interest 
rate. These decisions were based on consolidated analyses and assessments, 
and are corroborated by research conducted at the Bank of Albania over the 
years. The other four meetings focused on issues related to supervision and 
financial stability.
 
i.	 Decision making 

In the light of its role to determine the vision and strategic way ahead for 
the Bank of Albania, in November, the Council approved the Medium-
Term Development Strategy, which seeks to provide a proactive response 
to challenges for the institution, in the period 2016 - 2018. On this basis, 
and pursuant to objectives set out in the Strategy, in December, the Council 
approved the Medium Term Budget of the Bank of Albania.

The Council approved 98 decisions (including 57 Regulations and 3 
Guidelines), of which 63 were legal acts approved for the first time, and 35 
amendments or additions to existing legal acts. These acts are either issued 
pursuant to the main duties of the Bank of Albania set out in the organic law 
(monetary policy, bank licencing and supervision, payment systems, currency 
issue) or regulate various aspects of the management and functioning of the 
institution. 

1	  Law No. 8269, dated 23.12.1997, “On the Bank of Albania”. 
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ii.	 New organisational structure 

Following the filling of administrators’ vacant positions, the Council approved 
some changes to the organisational structure of the Bank of Albania. 
These changes clarify the subordination by department under each of the 
administrators as well as the line of responsibility and accountability for the 
heads of departments. These changes are reflected also in the new Statute of 
the Bank of Albania.

iii.	A ppointments of the management 

Following the amendments to the regulation on the employment relation for 
Bank of Albania’s personnel, for the first time at the Bank of Albania, the 
criteria and procedures for the appointment of the heads of departments were 
set out. On this basis, the Council approved the appointment of the following: 
(i) Head of the Payment Systems, and Accounting and Finance Department; 
and (ii) Head of the Security and Protection Department.

iv.	B udget

In December, the Council approved the budget of the Bank of Albania for 
2016. The planned income in the budget provide for good administration of 
the foreign currency reserve, monitoring of developments in the money market 
and the secondary market of government securities, and fulfilment of banking 
system needs for liquidity. The objective for the envisaged expenditure is to 
retain qualified personnel for carrying out the duties assigned to them by 
the organic law and to provide for the normal functioning of the activity of 
the Bank of Albania. A priority for investments is the renovation of former 
Hotel Dajti building, improving the IT network infrastructure and enhancing the 
quality and security of the currency in circulation. 

Enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of the use of resources has been 
and remains a primary objective of the Council. It aims at allocating financial 
resources in accordance with the priorities set out in the organic law, strategy 
and medium-term budget of the Bank of Albania. 

Every three months, the Council is informed on the budget implementation 
through reports about the realisation of income, expenditure and investments, 
with a view to monitoring the realisation of objectives set out in the medium-
term strategy and the normal functioning of the activity of the Bank of Albania. 

Supervisory Council is the highest supervisory body of the 
Bank of Albania

In 2015, special attention was given to fulfilling the supervisory responsibility 
of the Council over policies, administration and operations of the Bank of 
Albania. To ensure proper compliance with the organic law, statue and other 
acts that regulate the daily operations of the Bank of Albania, the Council has 
been regularly informed by the relevant internal and external audit units.
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i.	 Internal audit 

Control over administration 
Administrators have informed the Supervisory Council on monthly basis 
about the economic, financial and monetary developments, in accordance 
with the legal obligations. The Council has been also informed about the 
institution’s management policies and methods of using the financial assets 
for the realisation of the operational activity of the Bank of Albania. Monthly 
information has been presented on the financial position and result of the Bank 
of Albania and quarterly information has been presented about investments. 
Every month, the Council has been informed by the Investment Committee on 
the foreign currency reserve management. 

Activity of the Audit Committee 
The role of the Audit Committee is to assist the Council in its supervisory 
responsibility, providing opinions and advice on: (i) financial reporting 
process; (ii) internal control system; (iii) internal and external audit; and (iv) 
compliance with legal and sublegal acts in force. 

The Committee is composed of three external members of the Council, namely: 
Mr Petraq Milo (Chair), Ms Ela Golemi and Ms Denada Prifti. 

The Audit Committee has held a number of meetings with the Inspector General 
and heads of departments of the Bank of Albania, without the presence of the 
administrators. These meetings discussed the organisation and functioning of 
the Internal Control [Audit] Department, annual audit plan, main findings of 
audit exercises, audit universe, risk assessment, effectiveness of the internal 
control system at the Bank of Albania, and the preparations of financial 
statements in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards. 

The Council and the Audit Committee have been regularly informed on the 
findings and recommendations of audit exercises by the Audit Department, 
which provide independent guarantee on the effectiveness and quality of the 
internal control, risk assessment and management of the Bank of Albania.

ii.	E xternal audit

Independent external auditor
To ensure that financial statements prepared by the external auditor (KPMG) 
for 2015 are compliant with the accounting standards and reflect correctly 
the financial situation and performance of the Bank of Albania, the external 
members of the Council met, in March, with KPMG representatives. In the 
meeting, without the presence of the administrators, they discussed on the 
main audit findings and the transition towards the implementation of the 
International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Financial control
The Council was informed on and discussed about the Supreme State Audit 
Report for 2014 to ensure that the findings and recommendations of the report 
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comply with the principle of central bank independence. The Council has 
been also informed regularly on the measures taken by the departments of the 
Bank of Albania for addressing them.

Accountability and transparency

During 2015, the Council complied to the obligation of Bank of Albania’s 
accountability to the Assembly of the Republic of Albania and the obligation 
of its transparency to the public, financial system and the media. 

In February, the Council approved the annual report of the Bank of Albania 
presenting activities of the Bank for the year 2014. The report presents detailed 
information on the realisation of objectives of the Bank of Albania in the area 
of monetary policy, financial stability, and banking supervision, as well as 
the use of financial and human resources. The report also contained financial 
statements for 2014 as audited by the KPMG.

Moreover, the Council approved 4 quarterly monetary policy reports, the 
Monetary Policy Document and 2 half-yearly financial stability reports, which 
were submitted to the Parliament, the Council of Ministers and other central 
institutions. 



COMMEMORATIVE 5, 50 AND 100 LEKË COINS, ISSUED ON THE 
OCCASION OF THE 2600TH ANNIVERSARY OF THE FOUNDATION OF THE 
CITY OF DURRËS, 1987.

Obverse:	 Port of Durrës, its castle and a ship.
Reverse:		 Emblem of the People’s Socialist Republic of Albania.

(Metal: CuNi)

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Au)
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II.	A ctivity of the Bank of Albania during 
2015

II.1.	Economic environment and monetary policy

•	 The Albanian economy improved in 2015. The pace of economic growth 
accelerated, and the main indicators of economic and financial soundness 
showed, overall, trends of improvement. Albeit upward, economic activity in 
Albania remains below its potential. Aggregate demand is not adequate to 
generate full utilisation of production capacities, which is reflected in the still-low 
inflation rates.

•	 Against this backdrop, the Bank of Albania has adopted a stronger stimulating 
monitory policy stance. This stance has taken into account the consolidating trend 
of the fiscal policy, creating a convenient combination of economic policies. 
The monetary stimulus was increased through the further lowering of the key 
interest rate, increase in liquidity injection in the financial system, and the forward 
guidance on the future course of the monetary policy stance. These measures 
were aimed at and succeeded to control risk premiums and reduce the costs of 
financing the real sector. However, the complete monetary policy transmission 
in the economy continued to be decelerated by the persisting high uncertainty 
and conservative credit policies of the banking system.

•	 The cyclical weakness of the Albanian economy requires the implementation of 
prudent stimulating policies. Likewise, long-term problems require that structural 
reforms continue, in order to accelerate economic growth and increase its stability.

II.1.1	Economic highlights

•	 Year 2015 was overall positive for the Albanian economy. Economic activity 
continued the upward cycle started in the previous year, employment recorded 
growth and internal and external economic balances improved. Annual inflation 
averaged 1.9%, rising 0.3 percentage point from the previous year. Despite the 
volatility throughout the year, financial markets were characterised by improved 
liquidity, downtrend in interest rates and stable exchange rates.

Economic growth for 2015 was higher than in the previous year. According 
to INSTAT data, the Gross Domestic Product rose 2.7% during the first three 
quarters of the year. Indirect available indicators suggest that it continued to 
rise in comparable terms in the fourth quarter.2 The economy benefited from 
the improvement of the financing conditions, more liquid balances of firms 
due to the payment of arrears by the public sector, inflows of foreign direct 
investments, and improvement of businesses and consumers’ confidence. On 
the other hand, economic growth continues to be decelerated by the high 
uncertainty and unfavourable external environment.

2	I ndirect data include: consumers and business confidence indicators, fiscal expenditure and 
income, imports in machineries and equipment, imports in food products.
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In accordance with the fiscal consolidation strategy, the public debt resulted 
within the projected levels, whereas budget deficit was downward. Similarly, 
the external position of the Albanian economy improved slightly and the current 
account deficit of Albania reduced.

Table 1.	Selected economic figures over the years
  2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Inflation (y-o-y, average for the period)     
Headline inflation (in %) 3.56 3.45 2.04 1.94 1.63 1.9
Core inflation (in %) 1.81 3.20 1.70 0.19 0.10 -0.2
Economic growth         
Real GDP growth, in %1 3.71 2.55 1.42 1.11 2.02 2.74
GDP (at current prices, in ALL million) 1,239,645 1,300,624 1,332,811 1,350,555 1,400,549  
PBB/Frymë (në euro)  3,088  3,191  3,305  3,323  3,457  
Labour Market1        
Number of employed (in thousand) 1,153 1,127 1,097 990 1,006 1,051
Labour force participation rate
(15-64 years old)2 62.3 68.5 64.9 59.6 61.5 63.8

Unemployment rate according to the survey 14.2 14.3 13.8 16.4 17.9 17.4
Fiscal sector3        
Budget balance (including grants, as % of GDP) -3.1 -3.5 -3.4 -5.0 -5.2 -3.6
Budget revenues (as % of GDP) 26.2 25.4 24.8 24.2 26.2 26.1
Budget expenditure (as % of GDP) 29.3 28.9 28.2 29.2 31.3 29.7
Public debt (as % of GDP) 57.7 59.4 62.1 70.4 71.8 72.2
External sector1        
Current account (excl. official transfers in % of 
GDP) -11.9 -13.5 -10.7 -11.2 -13.2 -9.8

Imports of goods (fob, as % of GDP) 36.2 39.4 36.7 35.7 38.6 35.9
Exports of goods (fob, as % of GDP) 13 15.2 15.9 18.2 18.4 17.4
FDI inflows (as % of GDP) 8.8 6.8 6.9 9.5 8.2 9.3
International reserve (in EUR million, end of 
period) 1904 1912 1972.0 2015 2191.72 2879.98

Monetary and financial sector        
Repo rate (end of period) 5 4.75 4 3 2.25 1.75
M3 aggregate (annual growth, end of period) 12.5 9.2 5 2.3 4 1.9
Lending to the private sector (annual growth, 
end of period) 10.1 10.4 1.4 -1.4 2 2.3

Deposits/GDP* 64.0 68.3 71 72.3 72.7 71.8
Loans/GDP* 37.5 39.5 39.1 38 37.4 36.9
12-month yield (annual average) 8.0 7.4 7.1 5.2 3.4 3.3
ALL/USD average exchange rate 103.9 100.84 108.26 105.7 105.48 126
ALL/EUR average exchange rate 137.8 140.34 139.03 140.3 139.97 139.7
NEER 113.4 113.8 113.7 113.7 112.2 114.0

Source: INSTAT, Ministry of Finance and Bank of Albania. 
GDP ratios are based on annual projections.
1 Most recent data as at 2015 Q3.
2 “Labour force survey results”, published by INSTAT.
3 Preliminary data for 2015.
* Including deposits over two years. Credit includes also written off loans for 2015. 

From the demand-side perspective, economic growth in 2015 reflected the 
growth of investments and improvement of the balance of trade exchange with 
abroad. On the other hand, private consumption contracted during the first 
half of the year- mainly in response to uncertainty - and recovered slowly in the 
third quarter. The fiscal policy was consolidating, as reflected in the reduction 
of the fiscal stimulus.
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From the sectorial perspective, economic growth in 2015 reflected the 
continuous positive contribution by the services sector and the improvement of 
the activity in the construction sector. The activity in industry made also positive 
contribution to economic growth, but it was characterised by movements in 
opposite directions of its constituent branches. Lastly, activity in the agricultural 
sector declined.

Economic growth was accompanied by growth in employment and improvement 
in the utilisation of production capacities. However, it was insufficient to 
absorb all spare capacities in the economy and create full employment. Thus, 
pressures on the rise of wages, productions costs and profit margins were 
weak. Moreover, the performance of prices in global markets, summarised in 
low levels of core prices and of inflation in the euro area, did not favour the 
increase in inflationary pressures in Albania. While upward, annual inflation 
remained below Bank of Albania’s target.

II.1.2. Monetary policy of the Bank of Albania

•	 The primary objective of Bank of Albania’s monetary policy is to achieve and 
maintain price stability. In quantitative terms, the Bank of Albania aims at keeping 
consumer price inflation at 3.0%. To realise this objective, it implements inflation 
targeting and a free floating exchange rate regime. The monetary policy of the 
Bank of Albania is forward looking, flexible, prudent and transparent.

•	 The Bank of Albania has continued to implement an accommodative monetary 
policy stance in 2015, to create adequate monetary conditions for economic 
growth and the return of inflation to target in the medium-term horizon. This policy 
stance has contributed to reducing financing costs in the economy and is reflected 
in upholding the positive growth trend in the lek credit portfolio.

The monetary policy intensified its stimulating stance in 2015, in response to 
weak inflationary pressures. The key interest rate was lowered twice during 
2015, to 1.75% at the end of the year, from 2.25% at the beginning of 

Chart 1. Key interest rate (left) and liquidity injected by the Bank of Albania
(in ALL billion)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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the year. To reinforce the transmission of the monetary stimulus, the Bank 
of Albania has increased the liquidity injection. During 2015, the injected 
liquidity has averaged around ALL 29.5 billion, up by around ALL 5 billion 
from a year earlier and around ALL 11 billion in the period 2011-2013.

To enhance the pass through of the accommodative monetary policy stance in 
financial markets, the Bank of Albania has intensified the use of the monetary 
policy forward guidance.3 In accordance with our analyses and projections, 
and to better anchor financial market expectations for interest rates in the 
short and medium term, the Bank of Albania has used the conditioned market 
guidance on the monetary policy stance in 2015.4 The use of this instrument 
has helped improve the clarity on the monetary policy stance, lower the risk 
premiums in the market, and reduce the long-term interest rates.

Other instruments of the monetary policy implementation have not changed 
over 2015. The Bank of Albania continued to inject liquidity in the banking 
system, through its standard refinancing operations, with the one-week reverse 
repurchase agreement being the main liquidity injection operation. In addition, 
the central bank has also employed reverse repos of 1 and 3-month maturity.

Table 2.	Structure of liquidity injection operations by the Bank of Albania
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Main instrument 55% 58% 74% 55% 60% 64% 55%
Long-term liquidity providing instruments 45% 42% 26% 45% 40% 36% 45%

Source: Bank of Albania. 

The accommodative monetary policy has been followed by lower interest rates 
on financial instruments denominated in the national currency. This trend was 

3	 The forward guidance has been increasingly employed by central banks to complement or 
reinforce traditional monetary policy instruments.

4	 The conditioned guidance of the monetary policy is a commitment of the central bank to pursue 
a certain course of the monetary policy, depending on the available information. The central 
bank may decide later to take a different monetary policy course, depending on the new 
economic and monetary developments.

Chart 2. Main interest rates in �nancial markets

Source: Bank of Albania.
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reinforced in the fourth quarter, following the reduction of public borrowing 
from domestic financial markets. The average cost of credit to the private 
sector fell by 0.5 percentage point during 2015. The interest rates on lek 
deposits and government securities have also dropped.

In response to low interest rates, lek credit increased and was the only 
driving factor of the growth of credit to the private sector. Due to the constant 
expansion of the lek credit portfolio and constant narrowing of the foreign 
currency credit portfolio, the share of the lek credit in total credit portfolio has 
risen from around 29% in 2008 to around 41% in 2015.

The increase in lending has contributed to the expansion of both domestic 
demand and pace of economic growth. However, lending showed weak 
during 2015, as a result of the low need of the economy for financing and 
the banks’ reluctance to lend (see Box 3 “Lending Challenges in Albania”).

Monetary stimuli, sound balance sheet of the financial sector, reduction of 
non-performing loans, and low need of the government for financing provide 
premises for credit recovery in the period ahead. Positive developments noted 
in 2015 are expected to get stronger in the medium term. During the period, 
they will continue to be driven by the combined stimulating effects of the 
monetary policy and fiscal policy. Economic growth is expected to be more 
balanced and consumer price inflation is expected to be in line with Bank 
of Albania’s target. In the long term, results of the structural reforms should 
be reflected in the expansion of the potential of the Albanian economy and 
its enhanced resilience to shocks. Moreover, these reforms should aim at 
improving the pass through mechanism of the main economic policies, thus 
improving the degree of the monetary and fiscal control in the economy.

Chart 3. Performance of credit and its contributors (in per cent)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 1 Processes supporting monetary policy decisions at the 
Bank of Albania

The primary objective of the monetary policy of the Bank of Albania is maintaining 
price stability in the economy. In practice, the Bank of Albania aims at keeping 
inflation at 3%, on average, for the medium-term period. This target is similar, both 
in spirit and content, to that of modern central banks. Experience has shown that 
by achieving this target, the central bank contributes to the sustainable growth of 
the economy and the improvement of the living standard. 

The monetary policy operates in a dynamic environment: on the one hand, the 
economy and financial markets are constantly developing; on the other hand, the 
monetary policy effect is transmitted to the economy with a time lag. For that reason, 
the projection of economic and financial indicators, and the assessment of expected 
monetary policy effects on them are necessary steps for a successful monetary policy.

In its efforts to adopt best practices of central banking and reflecting the added 
complexity of the economic and financial backdrop of policymaking, the Bank of 
Albania pays particular attention to analysis and forecasting. All monetary policy 
decisions - eight throughout the year - are corroborated by: (i) analysis of economic 
financial and monetary developments; (ii) macroeconomic forecasts over a three-
year horizon; and, (iii) evaluation of various monetary policy options. All these steps 
are interlinked in a structured, transparent and efficient process, which is subject to 
constant improvement.

•	 The process supporting decision-making starts with collecting and analysing 
new information. Economic and financial analyses aim to create a more 
comprehensive idea on the development trends and factors determining them. 
Bank of Albania analyses are based on the expertise of its staff and are fed 
and refreshed from on-going empirical research on the Albanian economy 
and financial markets.

•	 A second step in the process is the generation of forecasts. This brings 
about added value in the definition of expected developments, identification 
of potential risks and assessment of various monetary policy options. The 
forecasting framework of the Bank of Albania is based on a portfolio of 
models. For short-term projections, the Bank of Albania uses eight forecasting 
models for inflation and four forecasting models for economic growth. 
These models apply to a time horizon from four to six quarters. For medium-
term projections, the Bank of Albania uses two structural macroeconomic 
models, to generate forecasts for at least a three-year horizon. Short-term 
and medium-term projections are coordinated so as to ensure a logical flow 
of the forecasting process.

•	 Support to the decision-making process ends with the assessment of various 
monetary policy alternatives. Monetary policy decision-making implies 
identification of the need and extent of monetary policy intervention, which, 
in turn, affects the direction and intensity of expected economic developments. 
For that reason, various response options are studied through medium-term 
forecast models and rely on experts’ judgement.

A priority of the monetary policy for 2015 was the improvement of the analytical, 
forecasting and reporting framework. In this regard, our work consisted in: (i) 
improving and enriching the forecasting models, and better coordinating the short 
and medium-term projections; (ii) enriching short-term models with news statistical 
models and their automation; (iii) conducting research for assessing the policy 
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transmission channels, and assessing the potential increase and the output gap; (iv) 
expanding the range of indicators and instruments used for the analysis and forecast 
process; and (v) enhancing the understanding of monetary policy decisions. The 
latter was realised through the enhanced clarity in writing, lay out, and consistency 
of analyses, as well as public statements by the Governor for projections on inflation, 
and economic and credit growth. During this process, the Bank of Albania has 
benefitted from foreign expertise in the framework of cooperation agreement with 
the Bank of SwedenI and the Graduate Institute Geneva Swiss State Secretariat for 
Economic Affairs (SECO).II

i  	 The cooperation agreement with the Bank of Sweden provides for technical assistance 
related to improving analysis and forecasting process regarding the monetary policy, and 
the professional staff development in these aspects.

II	 The SECO programme (2013-2016) provides technical assistance and staff development 
for the staff of several central banks, part of the programme, contributing to the development 
of a favourable environment for sound and balanced financial systems.

II.1.3. Price stability

•	 Consumer price inflation increased slightly in 2015, but overall inflationary 
pressures remain low.

Annual inflation in 2015 averaged 1.9%, standing 
higher than in the previous year, but below Bank 
of Albania’s target. The inertia of low inflation 
values continued to reflect weak pressures from the 
aggregate demand, downward commodity and 
core food prices in international markets as well as 
low inflation expectations.

Inflation rates were determined mainly by the 
performance of food prices.
Developments in food prices, especially of 
unprocessed food, have determined most of the 
inflation rate during the year. The categories 
of ‘unprocessed food’ and ‘processed food’ 
contributed by around 2.0 and 0.2 percentage 
points, respectively to the average annual inflation 
for 2015. Inflation in ‘unprocessed food’ was volatile 
due to temporary shocks. Cold weather and floods early in the year exercised 
pressures for their rise, until April. Later, their inflation reduced gradually until 
July5 and returned to the upward trend over the rest of the year. Its high value at 
the end of 2015 carried the effect of the low comparative base a year earlier. 
On the other hand, inflation of ‘processed foods’ fell gradually during the year, 
reflecting the downward trend of prices of tobacco and grains.6

5	C ontribution of ‘unprocessed foods’ fell to 1.2 percentage points in July from 2.3 percentage 
points in April 2015.

6	I n December, the contribution of ‘processed food’ was negative at -0.2 percentage point from 
0.3 percentage point in the first quarter.

Chart 4. Annual in�ation (in %)

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Table 3. Contribution of key items to annual inflation
2013 

Q4
2014 

Q1
2014 

Q2
2014 

Q3
2014 

Q4
2015 

Q1
2015 

Q2
2015 

Q3
2015 

Q4
Processed foods (pp) -0.1 -0.1 -0.2 -0.1 0.2 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.0
Bread and grains (pp)* 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1
Alcohol and tobacco (pp) 0.1 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.2
Unprocessed foods (pp) 1.5 1.6 1.3 1.5 0.8 1.7 1.8 1.8 2.6
Fruit (pp) 0.5 0.7 0.7 0.2 0.4 0.5 0.8 0.8 0.9
Vegetables (pp) 1.1 0.9 0.6 1.2 0.2 1.1 0.9 0.9 1.7
Services (pp) 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0
Regulated prices (pp) 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.0
Fuels and energy (pp) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 -0.1
Housing (pp) 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.1 0.1 0.1 -0.1 0.0 -0.2
Non-food consumer goods -0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.0 -0.4 -0.2 -0.2 -0.3
Durable consumer goods (pp) 0.0 -0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Consumer Price Index (y-o-y, %) 1.5 1.9 1.6 1.7 1.3 1.9 1.8 1.8 2.1

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania. 
*	 The table presents some of the main items. 
	 The contribution of other categories in the CPI to headline inflation resulted negative in the 

formation of the average headline inflation (around -0.3 percentage point). In particular, the 
category of ‘non-food consumption goods’ was determined by the annual fall in oil prices, 
which recorded the lowest level during 2015. Moreover, the contribution of ‘housing’ resulted 
negative at the end of the year, driven by the annual decline in rental prices.

The negative output gap generated weak pressures on inflation. Similarly, 
supply shocks did not produce strong inflationary impulses during 2015.

While upward, economic activity in Albania remained below its potential. As 
a result, pressures on the rise of wages and production costs remained weak. 
They continue to materialise in low historic values of core inflation, which 
averaged around -0.16% in 2015. The downward profile of the core inflation 
was affirmed also by the inflation of non-tradable goods in the CPI basket. 
It averaged 0.4%, with a notable negative contribution in the last quarter of 
2015.

The cyclical weakness produced lower inflationary pressures than in the 
previous year from the labour and production costs. The average annual 

Chart 5. Contribution of core and non-core in
ation (in pp), left; annual change in 
cost indicators* (right)**

*Four-terms moving averages are applied to mitigate occasional 
uctuations on annual changes of indicators.
**Proxy indicators of labour productivity and labour costs per unit of output are calculated by the Bank of Albania using 
the total series Short Term Statistics (SHTS, INSTAT, Q3’2015). Their calculations consist of the index of employees paid, 

turnover and total wage fund for the total of the activities covered by the survey SHTS. 
Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania's calculations.
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growth of the labour cost for unit in the first nine months of 2015 slowed down 
to 4.6% against 5.8% a year earlier. The slowdown was due to the decline 
in labour productivity (-6.3%), whereas the fund of wages recorded increase, 
though more moderately than in the previous year. For the same-stated period, 
industrial production costs deepened the downward trend of the last three 
years.

Pressures from components of imported inflation were low.
Imported inflation in the economy resulted lower than its historic behaviour. 
Its contribution, however, was positive, forming a large portion of headline 
inflation. The increase in the imported inflation’s contribution during 2015 Q4 
was mainly due to the effect of the low comparative base.

‘Foreign prices’ increased 3.7% in annual terms, largely unchanged from the 
previous year. Unlike in 2014, the depreciation of the national currency in 
terms of NEER, added the presence of foreign inflationary pressures at home, 
especially in the first half of the year. In response to them, the FIPI7 index 
expanded 5.3% in 2015.

Pressures from inflation expectations remain weak.
While slightly upward in 2015, inflation expectations remained low. Short-
term expectations ranged from 1.5% (firms and consumers) to 2.1% (financial 
agents), standing significantly below the respective long-term average. 
Although assessments by different agents vary in relation to the level of inflation 
for the period ahead,8 the synchronisation level of the series is high. It is 
largely affected by the volatility of factual inflation, attesting to the marked 
adaptive nature of inflation expectations.

7	 FIPI is calculated as the annual increase in the Import Price Index and NEER index for the 
respective month. Imported inflation pressures impact inflation with a 1-3 month time lag.

8	 The average of the series of financial agents expectations is around 1 percentage point higher 
than the average of the firms and consumers’ expectations.

Chart 6. FIPI and contributions of its components (left); contributions of imported 
in�ation and domestic in�ation to annual headline in�ation (right)

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania's calculations.
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Medium-term expectations (two-years-ahead inflation) of financial agents 
resulted anchored closer to Bank of Albania’s target.9 After reaching the 
lowest historic value in 2015 Q1, they made an upward turn in 2015 Q2.

II.2.2. Economic growth 

•	 Economic growth during 2015 was driven by a broader production base and 
was accompanied by improvements in labour market indicators.

Economic activity showed higher growth rates in 2015. According to official 
data, annual growth resulted in 2.7% for the first nine months of the year,10 
from 2.0% in 2014.

9	 Medium-term expectations are used to better capture the confidence in the ability of the monetary 
policy for the return of inflation to target within the medium-term horizon.

10	 The analysis of economic activity by sector is corroborated by direct statistical data available 
only for the first three quarters of 2015. Real growth by quarter was 2.24%, 2.96%, and 
2.98% respectively for Q1, Q2 and Q3. 

Chart 7 In�ation expectations from different economic agents

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 8. Annual performance of real GDP (in %) and contribution 
of production-side components (in pp). Trend of real GVA in 

economy and sectors*
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The services sector11 made a significant positive contribution to economic 
growth for the nine-month period, estimated at 1.26 percentage points. 
Also, unlike in the previous year, construction sector made a high positive 
contribution, estimated at 1.24 percentage points. This sector benefited from 
the growth of investments during 2015. Economic activity was driven also 
by the expansion of the industry sector, which contributed 0.82 percentage 
point.12 By contrast, the agricultural sector contracted and made negative 
contribution to real growth.13

From a longer-term perspective, the Albanian economy showed signs of 
restructuring, moving away from production sources and construction sector 
towards the industry sector. Likewise, within the services sector, the sources 
have shifted from sectors with a low value added, such as whole sale and 
retail trade, towards those with higher value, such as education and health 
care. These structural movements render economic growth somewhat difficult 
in the short term. However, in the long run, they are necessary and should be 
further strengthened.

11	 The services sector consists of: wholesale and retail trade; repair of vehicles and motorcycles; 
transport and storage; accommodation and food services; information and communications; 
finance and insurance; real estate; scientific, professional and technical activities; administrative 
and support services; arts, entertainment and recreation, production of goods for households 
for own use and other services.

12	 The contribution of sub-branches is divided into 0.36 percentage point by the processing 
industry and 0.46 percentage point by the extractive industry.

13	 The contribution of agriculture to real growth for the nine-month period is estimated at -0.19 
percentage point.
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Box 2 Economic growth in Albania and structural changes

The Albanian economy has grown over the period 2000-2015, but the growth rates 
have been uneven throughout the years. The growth rates decelerated from around 
6% average in the period leading up to 2008, to around 2.3% on average after 
this year. The period 2000-2008 experienced growth rates around the potential 
of the economy. The main underlying growth factors in this period were the shift 
of sources from less productive sectors (agriculture) towards more productive ones 
(services and construction), increasing adoption of technology, high support with 
bank credit, and low base at the start of economic growth. In terms of aggregate 
demand, economic growth during this period was driven by high private investment 
and consumption levels, whereas exporting remained weak.

Since 2009, the Albanian economy has been subject to pressures from added 
uncertainties due to the financial and debt crisis in EU countries. It experienced 
prolonged slowdown, accompanied by unsteady growth rates. The shock from the 
global crisis showed that the strategy of relying on domestic demand as a source 
for economic growth had its limitations, especially in the presence of tightened 
financing conditions in foreign markets. Moreover, this shock revealed sectorial 
disproportions that had characterised the high growth rates prior to 2009. Both 
these problems have been a structural weakness in the Albanian economy, which 
should be addressed resolutely in order to bring the economy back on track for 
higher and steadier growth.

From the sectorial perspective, the rapid expansion of construction up to 2009, 
especially in the residential segment, was followed by an immediate drop in 
demand for them. Consequently, the construction sector was characterised by 
contraction of its activity and contributed negatively to economic growth until the 
end of 2014.I The growth rates in the services sector also slowed down markedly, 
mainly after 2010.II In the period 2009-2010, certain branches (communications, 
mobile telephony, information, digital broadcasting, and penetration of internet) 
saw rapid increase in productivity, thus contributing positively to the performance 
of the sector. Later, the branches of services with a high share in GDP, such as 
trade and maintenance, generated less value added, therefore reducing their 
contribution to economic growth. These developments reflected to a large extent the 
spillover effects of slowdown in household expenditures for both goods and services 

Chart 9 Contribution by sector to real GDP growth (in pp) (a); GVA* by sector 
(index 2008 = 100) (b)

Note:* Gross Value Added. For GVA 2015, Bank of Albania estimates.
Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania estimates (National accounts for GVA – prior to 2008 Bank of 

Albania estimates).
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and house purchase, and reduction of firms’ investments. In the same period, the 
contribution of production sectors oriented towards exports or competitive imported 
goods - such as agriculture and industry - resulted higher. But, these developments 
could not offset the loss in the non-tradable sectors (construction and services). The 
industry progressed by utilising more the competitive advantages in terms of low 
labour costs than the growth in productivity. Its contribution to growth is positive, 
higher than prior to 2008, yet unsteady. Agriculture continued to reflect inherited 
difficulties from the land division and ownership, fragmentation and informality, 
lack of organised markets destined for Albania and abroad, relatively isolated 
investments limited to certain regions and sub-sectors. It has a considerable share 
in employment, although downward over the years, whereas its share in the gross 
value added is estimated at around 20%.

Overall, production sectors such as industry, agriculture, and construction have not 
managed to expand and dominate the value added structure in the economy. The 
latter is dictated by the services sectors, which have also increased their share in 
employment during 2011-2014.

From the viewpoint of bank credit, in the pre-crisis years, construction and services 
apparently showed more interest in it. After 2012, the increase in the bank credit 
portfolio shifted to the industry sector, against its decrease for the construction 
sector. Services, the main sector of the Albanian economy, remain the most credited 
economic activity. Agriculture remains the sector that has not yet entered seriously 
in the credit agenda, due to problems related mainly to its formalisation.

The above-analysed developments reflect the shift of the economy towards a more 
solid structure and a more efficient model. Yet, as illustrated above, this shift may 
not be considered as complete and structural reforms supporting it should progress. 
These reforms should aim at boosting the competitiveness of the economy through 
the productivity factor.

i 	  On average -0.54 percentage point against the average contribution by 1.2 percentage 
points before 2009.

II	O n average 1.35 percentage points against the average contribution by 2.9 percentage 
points before 2009.

Chart 10 Sectorial structure (in %)

Note: *GVA for 2015, INSTAT (average of �rst three quarters). Bank of Albania (credit data, third chart)
Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania estimates. National accounts for GVA - before 2008 Bank of 

Albania estimates. Open Data (employment by sector) and Structural Survey of Enterprises (until 2014); 
Balance of labour force (employed in agriculture).

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

Agriculture Industry
Construction Services

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015*

Agriculture

GVA (a) employment (b) credit stock (c) 

Industry
Construction Services

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
2015

Agriculture Industry
Construction Services



Annual Report2015

42 Bank of Albania

The improvement in economic activity was accompanied with minor 
improvements in labour market indicators. Employment increased by around 
5.6% in the first nine months, mainly concentrated in services and agriculture 
sectors. The unemployment rate reduced by 0.5 percentage point, standing 
at 17.5% at the end of the first nine months. However, it remains above the 
historic average rate, pointing to unutilised capacities in this market.

The recovery of investments and improvement of the balance of trade with 
abroad made the main contribution to economic growth in 2015.

Domestic demand, through its main components consumption and investment, 
grew 1.7% in the first nine months of 2015.14 After a poorer performance in 
the first six months, mainly due to the fall in consumption, domestic demand 
picked up in the third quarter. The easing of monetary conditions, improvement 
of confidence indicators and reduction of uncertainties contributed to its 
gradual recovery during the year. Information from indirect indicators suggests 
for a positive performance of domestic demand in the fourth quarter, driven by 
growth in private investments and consumption.

Investments resulted as the main determinant of the domestic demand 
performance. After the negative contribution in three consecutive years, 
investments made high contribution by around 2.5 percentage points to 
the growth of domestic demand in the first nine months of 2015. INSTAT 
data showed that public consumption contributed negatively in the first three 
quarters of 2015, whereas private consumption made a positive turn in the 
third quarter.

14	 Domestic demand components are final consumption (including final consumption of the 
population, of the public administration and of not-for-profit institutions) and gross fixed capital 
formation. In terms of national accounts, private consumption in this report refers to final 
consumption of the population, whereas investments are equivalent to gross fixed capital 
formation.

Chart 11 Domestic demand, contribution by components and ESI

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Private consumption contributed negatively to economic growth in the first 
nine months.
Private consumption, the component with the highest share in aggregate 
demand, contracted 0.8%, in annual terms, for the first nine months of 2015. 
After contracting for three consecutive quarters,15 consumer spending recorded 
a turning point in the 2015 Q3, returning to growth. Indirect quantitative 
indicators and survey results point to growth of private consumption in 2015 
Q4. The slight improvement of consumer confidence and easing of credit 
conditions suggest the recovery of consumer spending in this quarter. 

The increase in income from employment16 and income from remittances was 
lower during 2015. Meanwhile, private consumption was financed to a 
larger extent by consumer credit. Low inflation rates contributed positively to 
real income; however, driven by uncertainties surrounding the income stability, 
consumers continued to increase their savings during the year.

Investments were the main source of growth for domestic demand in the first 
nine months of the year.
Investments recorded positive developments, registering 13.5% real annual 
growth in the first nine months of 2015, after contracting 8.4% in the same 
period in the previous year.17 Their improvement is attributable to the positive 
developments in the category of investments in construction and expansion 

15	W hile the consumption of non-durable goods continued to grow, households spent less for 
services and postponed the purchase of durable goods during the year. The analysis on 
consumption, disaggregated by purpose and durability of goods is based on indirect indicators 
of the retail trade index and data on national accounts.

16	 The index of the wages fund increased by 7.6% in average terms during the first nine months 
of 2015, compared to the 12.1% increase in 2014.

17	 Despite the growth, the ratio of spending for investment to GDP resulted in 26.5%, being lower 
than the 28.7% historic average in the period 2008-2014. The share is calculated for data 
in current prices.

Chart 12 Private consumption and con�dence in trade and consumer 
con�dence indicator (CCI)

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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of investments in machinery and equipment18, as 
suggested by indirect quantitative indicators.19 
The upward trend of investments in the economy 
reflected the contribution of a series of factors 
related to the improvement of the firms’ confidence 
and financing conditions, growth in foreign direct 
investments, and support by the public sector20. 

Aggregated information and indirect quantitative 
data and survey results suggest for continued 
increase in investments in 2015Q4, albeit at a 
slower pace. The improving trend of the confidence 
and assessment of firms on their financial situation, 
especially in the construction sector, as well as 
the eased lending conditions signal for growth of 
investments in 2015 Q4. However, the deceleration 
of the growth rates in the balance of new investments 
(from survey results) and of the investment activity in 

machineries and equipment suggest that the expansion of investments in this 
quarter may be slower than in the first nine months of the year.21

FISCAL INDICATORS22

The consolidating nature of fiscal policy in 2015, expressed in the contraction 
of the budget deficit, has led to a lower contribution from public demand on 
economic growth. However, the reduction of public borrowing in domestic 
financial markets has contributed to improving the financing conditions and 
has created space for faster growth in the private sector.

The fiscal policy has showed a consolidating profile during 2015, pursuant to 
the commitment of the government to reduce public debt in the medium term.23 

18	 According to the latest published data of the annual national accounts on the structure of 
formation of investments belonging to 2013, investments in construction account for around 
75% of total investments, whereas 12% are investments for machinery and equipment, 6% in 
vehicles of transport, 4% in mineral search, and 3% in agriculture.

19	 The categories of investments in construction and investments in machinery and equipment 
are proxied through the respective indirect indicators of the value added in construction and 
import of machineries, equipment and spare parts. Thus, in the first nine months of 2015, both 
the value added in construction by 14.8% and imports of machineries, equipment and spare 
parts by 12.9% marked a high annual growth rate.

20	 During the first nine months of 2015, total FDI inflows recorded 15.7% growth, improving on 
a year earlier. Moreover, in the period under review, budget capital expenditure increased 
13.9% in annual terms. High expansion was also recorded for capital expenditure for the 
local government. 

21	 The confidence survey index of new investments by firms point to the reduction of growth 
of investment rates for the remainder of 2015. Also, in 2015 Q4 imports of machineries, 
equipment and spare parts increased 7.0%, lower than the rate registered in the previous year.

22	 Fiscal data analysis is based on information published by the Ministry of Finance as at 20 
February. The data are preliminary and may be subject to revision.

23	I n accordance with the Extended Fund Facility, concluded between the Government of Albania 
and the IMF in February 2014, Albania’s public debt should descend to around 60% of the 
GDP, within the medium-term period. The facility envisages also the disbursement of around 
EUR 331 million to support the government reform programme.

Chart 13. Annual performance of 
investments in the economy

Source: INSTAT and Bank of Albania.
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Although in the short term fiscal consolidation implies a low impulse in the 
economic activity, in the medium and long term, it contributes to developing 
the private sector and strengthening the macroeconomic stability.

The primary deficit to GDP (including payments of arrears) narrowed by 1.4 
percentage points from a year earlier. Excluding the payment of arrears, fiscal 
consolidation for 2015 appears more moderate, around 0.13 percentage 
point. The overall budget deficit was estimated at around 3.6% of GDP (from 
5.2% in the previous year) and 33% of it was formed by the payment of 
arrears.

The fiscal consolidation during 2015 was sustained mainly by the control over 
budget expenditure, while the performance of fiscal revenues has remained in 
relative terms similar to that in 2014.24

The size of the public sector, as a ratio of total expenditure to GDP, was 
estimated at around 29.7% at the end of 2015, from 31.3% in the previous 
year. Budget expenditure at the end of the year amounted to ALL 430.6 
billion, shrinking 1.9% in annual terms. Similar to a year earlier, the highest 
concentration was noted in the last quarter.25 Primary current expenditure 
resulted ALL 309.3 billion, or 2.1% higher in annual terms. Capital expenditure 
were realised at a level around 1.8% lower than in the previous year, estimated 
at around 4.1% of GDP26. During 2015 around ALL 17.2 billion were paid 
as arrears, accounting for around 4% of total budget expenditure for this year.

24	 Fiscal data for 2015 are preliminary and subject to review by the Ministry of Finance. 
25	 The last quarter accounted for around 30.7% of total expenditure.
26	C apital expenditure, according to the Ministry of Finance publication, does not include the 

activity of the Regional Development Fund, most of which is destined for infrastructure projects. 
When including this item, investment expenditure by the public (central and local) sector would 
result slightly up, by 0.2% in annual terms.

Chart 14. Fiscal policy and position, 2002 - 2015*
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Budget revenues have been rising slowly throughout 2015. In terms of GDP, 
revenues were estimated at around 26.1% from 26.2% in the previous year. 
The accumulated level until the end of the year amounted to ALL 378.5 billion, 
or 3.2% higher in annual terms. The majority of this growth was formed by 
non-tax revenues (revenues from granting the right of use for 4G band to 
mobile telephony companies). Of tax items, revenues from profit tax made 
the most substantial positive contribution to total growth (1 p.p.), reflecting 
the improved financial situation of state-owned companies (KESh), and the 
improved economic activity at home. On the other hand, revenues from the 
VAT, despite their high share in total revenues (33%), had a modest contribution 
to growth in this year (0.5 p.p.). The performance of VAT revenues, in the 
absence of legal changes, has reflected the fall in imports on a year earlier 
(around 1.4%)27, weak consumption during this year, as well as lower food 
and oil prices in international markets. Legal amendments made in 2015 
related mostly to personal income tax28, national tax29 and excise tax30 were 
factorised in a slow increase of total budget revenues. 

Budget deficit resulted in around ALL 52.1 billion at the end of 2015, 
narrowing by around 27.7% from the previous year. Foreign resources have 
not only financed in full the budget deficit for this year, but also served to 
reduce the stock of domestic debt (by around ALL 17.7 billion).

27	R evenues from imports VAT contributed negatively to total VAT collected as at the end of the 
11-month period. Conversely, the VAT on goods and services produced at home made a 
positive contribution to the increase in total VAT almost throughout all 2015. This trend was 
similar to 2014, but different to the historic behaviour. 

28	 Dividends, income from partner’s profit, interests on loans and deposits, income from copyright, 
gambling games and income from bonuses were taxed at 15% (from 10% before). The increase 
in this item in the previous year, which in addition to the above sub-items includes income from 
tax on wages, having the highest share, resulted in around ALL 0.4 billion. 

29	 The vehicle circulation tax on fuel rose to ALL 27/litre (From ALL 17/litre). Income from this 
item rose by around ALL 1.9 billion for 2015.

30	 Excise tax revenues contracted by 4.6% on a year earlier, as a result of the downward imports 
of fuel and tobacco, which did not offset the increase in the excise tax on tobacco and its 
sub-products.

Chart 15. Annual changes in main �scal items (expenditure, left and revenues, right) 
by contribution of relevant items, 2003-2015*
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Foreign resources used to finance the deficit in this year were the Eurobond, 
the PBG (Policy Based Guarantee) guaranteed by the World Bank (around 
EUR 250 million), as well as disbursed funds by the IMF in the framework of 
the EFF. A part of the EUR 450 million Eurobond (issued in November 2015) 
served to pay the maturing EUR 300 million Eurobond issued in November 
2010. The rest was used to reduce the domestic short-term debt. 

Public debt accounted for around 72.2% of GDP at the end of 2015, up by 
around 0.4 percentage point from the previous year. In terms of structure, as 
a result of the focusing of the government to finance the deficit with foreign 
resources, the debt held by non-residents has risen to around 34.0% of the GDP, 
whereas the domestic one has reduced to 38.2%. In the structure of the domestic 
debt, the share of the long-term debt increased and the share of the short-term 
debt decreased. Days to maturity for the stock of domestic debt increased to 
706 from 630 at the end of 2014. This improvement increases the public debt 
resilience to short-term liquidity shocks and interest rates in the financial markets.

Table 4.	Key fiscal indicators

  ALL billion Against GDP, in % Annual change, in %
2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015

Total revenues 327.2 366.7 378.5 24.2 26.2 26.1 -1.0 12.1 3.2
Grants 5.7 10.1 8.9 0.4 0.7 0.6 3.2 75.9 -11.6
Tax and customs 229.0 253.5 259.3 17.0 18.1 17.9 -1.5 10.7 2.3
Local government 10.8 12.4 11.7 0.8 0.9 0.8 -0.3 15.0 -6.0
Social insurance 60.0 69.9 73.2 4.4 5.0 5.0 4.6 16.5 4.6
Non-tax 21.6 20.7 25.4 1.6 1.5 1.8 -10.1 -4.1 23.0
Total expenditure 394.1 438.8 430.6 29.2 31.3 29.7 4.8 11.3 -1.9
Current 328.6 343.0 348.0 24.3 24.5 24.0 5.1 4.4 1.4
Capital 65.5 60.5 59.4 4.8 4.3 4.1 6.2 -7.5 -1.8
Arrears 0.0 33.8 17.2 0.0 2.4 1.2     -49.0
Budget balance -66.9 -72.1 -52.1 -5.0 -5.2 -3.6 46.0 7.8 -27.7
Domestic borrowing 46.3 38.2 -17.3 3.4 2.7 -1.2 86.8 -17.5 -145.2

Source: Ministry of Finance, INSTAT.

Chart 16. Budget de�cit �nancing, by two main sources in % of GDP, left, and main 
�nancing instruments, in ALL billion, right 

Source: Ministry of Finance, INSTAT, and Bank of Albania.
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Trade with abroad and balance of payments
The improvement of the balance of trade with abroad was reflected in 
economic growth during the first nine months of the year.

Net real exports contributed positively to aggregate demand growth during 
the first nine months, driven mostly by the 7.3% fall in annual terms in the 
imports of goods and services. The decline of imports was dictated by both 
the lower volume of the imports of goods, and the faster decline of expenditure 
for tourism abroad. Real exports showed a similar trend, which fell by around 
0.9% in annual terms. However, its fall was significantly lower than that in 
real imports. The fall of Albanian exports in goods accelerated, as driven by 

the downward oil and metal prices in international 
markets. Meanwhile, the exports of services, driven 
by higher financial inflows from tourism, resulted 
upward, in annual terms, during the period.

The lower deficit of net exports provided the primary 
contribution to the reduction of the current account 
deficit in the first nine months of the year. This 
trend contributes to the improvement of the long-
term sustainability of Albania’s external position. 
Higher inflows of secondary income also made 
a considerable contribution to the narrowing of 
the current deficit.31 In this account, the annual 
growth of remittances was the main development. 
In the meantime, the deficit of the primary income 
account32 expanded, as a result of the higher 
outflows of FDI profits. 

The current account deficit is financed based on non-debt creating flows.
The profile of financing the current account deficit continues to be based on 
non-debt creating flows, in the form of foreign direct investments and capital 
account inflows. The financing by debt-creating flows resulted somewhat higher 
in this year, accounting for around 2.8% of nominal GDP. The expansion of 
financial obligations in the form of state borrowing was the main contributor to 
the growth of financing the current account through external debt. At the end 
of 2015, the stock of foreign currency reserve assets was sufficient to cover 
7.6 months of imports of goods and services and 185.3% of the short-term 
external debt.

31	 The secondary income account includes current transfers of the central government, of households 
and of not-for-profit institutions serving households. Remittances is the main item in this account.

32	 Primary income account includes all the flows of the profit from the stock of assets invested 
abroad by residents or in Albania by non-residents. FDI income is the main item in this account.

Chart 17. Contribution of real net exports
(in percentage points to GDP)

*For 2015, data apply for the �rst three quarters.
Source: Bank of Albania.
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Table 5.	Main balance of payments items (in EUR million, unless otherwise stated)
  2014 Q2 2014 Q3 2014 Q4 2015 Q1 2015 Q2 2015 Q3
Current account (in EUR million) -341.0 -313.2 -377.5 -239.9 -170.5 -325.6
/ GDP (%) -12.0 -11.8 -14.5 -10.6 -6.2 -12.5
Goods and services -479.5 -470.2 -540.8 -376.8 -360.3 -474.6
 Exports, f.o.b. 712.7 803.7 720.0 589.6 705.7 776.0
 Imports, f.o.b. 1192.3 1273.9 1260.8 966.4 1066.0 1250.6
 Travel - net 10.6 32.0 66.0 43.6 76.4 64.5
Primary income -13.7 -24.1 -47.1 -43.8 -20.5 -23.1
 Credit 28.9 34.7 30.5 27.2 24.7 30.3
 Debit 42.6 58.8 77.6 71.1 45.2 53.4
 Net FDI income -17.5 -31.6 -38.7 -46.4 -24.1 -28.7
Secondary income 175.6 198.3 205.4 180.7 210.2 172.1
 Credit 204.4 230.6 244.1 211.9 243.3 214.7
 Debit 28.8 32.3 38.8 31.2 33.0 42.6
 Remittances - net 137.5 165.1 171.0 141.8 161.7 135.4
Capital account 22.4 20.7 21.1 26.0 21.3 45.6
Net borrowing/net lending -295.3 -275.3 -361.3 -213.9 -149.2 -280.0
Financial account (in EUR million) -215.8 -183.2 -292.5 -187.4 -184.8 -111.2
/ GDP (%) -8.2 -7.3 -11.1 -8.3 -6.8 -4.3
Direct investments -135.5 -242.3 -222.8 -273.9 -200.5 -231.0
Portfolio investments 14.3 -12.0 105.1 -79.1 -71.3 -12.7
Financial derivatives 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Other investments -117.1 -83.0 -135.9 53.7 70.8 -179.9
Reserve assets 22.5 154.0 -38.9 111.8 16.2 312.5
Errors and omissions 79.5 92.0 68.9 26.5 -35.6 168.8
Net borrowing/net lending -295.3 -275.3 -361.3 -213.9 -149.2 -280.0

Source: Bank of Albania.

II.1.4. Financial markets

•	 Financial markets appeared liquid, interest rates trended downward, and the 
exchange rate was relatively stable. These trends are expected to pick up further 
in 2016, reflecting the monetary policy stance and the reduction of public 
borrowing in domestic financial markets. The latter has contributed to lowering 
yields on government securities beyond monetary policy signals. Their reduction 
is reflected also in other financial instruments.

Monetary policy was reflected in lower interest rates in financial markets.
Financial markets have responded to the accommodative monetary policy 
and the engagement for maintaining this direction for the medium-term period. 
The interest rate in the interbank market fell further in 2015, in line with the 
monetary policy stance. They ranged close to the key rate, in accordance with 
the operational objective of the Bank of Albania33. Average daily overnight 
interest rate in this market fell to 1.92% in 2015, from 2.56% in 2014, while 
the one-week rate fell to 1.93%, from 2.65%. Interbank rates were less volatile 
compared to the previous year34.

In accordance with the performance of lending interests in the money markets, 
the yields on government debt instruments also fell. The yield curb shifted on 

33	 The operational objective of the Bank of Albania is addressed in more detail in the chapter 
on “Financial market operations and foreign currency reserve management”. 

34	 The standard deviation of the overnight interbank rate for this year was 0.1537, from 0.2626 
in 2014.
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the down side and became steeper. With the issue of the Eurobond and 
shifting to foreign financing, domestic borrowing reduced through operations 
for early purchasing of treasury bills or their maturity, causing an immediate 
drop in short-term yields in the last month of the year.

The rising demand of the government for financing in the first quarter exercised, 
for a short time, slightly upward pressures on short-term yields. The further 
lowering of the key rate and the downward demand over the rest of the year 
caused the trend to change to the opposite direction. The 12-month yield at 
the end of the year stood at 2.26% from 3.45% in the previous year. Long-
term debt instruments fell on average by 0.26 percentage point35, mostly 
concentrated in the last quarter. Participation in auctions was generally high 
in 2015, driven by the rising demand of households. Over the last two years, 
the positive difference of yields on securities with interest rates on term deposits 
has triggered the shift of households’ savings toward the first alternative.

The accommodative monetary policy has been transmitted also in lek deposits 
and credits. The average interest rate on new term deposits was 1.4% in 
2015 from 1.9% in 2014. The rate fell for all the maturities, though more 
significant in long-term maturities. In parallel, the interest rate on new euro 
deposits fell also, down on average to 0.30% or 0.46 percentage point 
lower than in the previous year.

Interest rates on new lek loans have also been on the down trend, averaging 
8.1% from 8.6% in the previous year. The fall in interest rates has mainly 
affected the medium and long-term loans, while those on short-term loans have 
not changed. Interest rates on credit have fallen for both loans to enterprises 
and loans to households. The former have benefited lower interest rates on 
loans for investment purposes, whereas the latter have benefited lower interest 

35	 Bond yields for 2-, 3-, 5-, 7- and 10-year maturity with fixed interest rate, at the end of the 
year, stood at 4.57%, 5.69%, 6.42%, 6.79% and 8.80%, respectively 0.47pp, 0.11pp, 
0.20pp, 0.07pp and 0.45pp lower than at the end of the previous year.

Chart 18. Interbank rates and yields curb in the primary market

Source: Bank of Albania.
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rates on consumer and mortgage loans. Year 2015 recorded a drop in interest 
rates on new euro loans as well, on average to 5.9% from 6.7% in the previous 
year. The strong drop was affected significantly by the credit for preferential 
clients, as the rates applied for them are lower than for the other clients.

Lek exchange rate showed volatility at the end of the year. 
The EUR/ALL exchange rate averaged 139.7 for 2015, slightly below the 
average in the previous year. The first half of the year recorded growth of 
demand for foreign currency by both public and private agents, which was 
reflected in the depreciation of the national currency. Albanian lek appreciated 
modestly over the summer months, in response to the characteristic seasonal 
behaviour. This trajectory continued more evidently in the last quarter, reflecting 
the higher foreign currency supply. Against the US dollar, the Albanian lek 
continued to depreciate throughout the year (19.4% in annual terms), in line 
with the dynamics of the EUR/USD exchange rate in foreign markets.

Chart 19. Interest rates on deposits and loans

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 20. EUR/ALL and USD/ALL rate and volatility over the years

Source: Bank of Albania.
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II.1.5. Monetary indicators

•	 The monetary supply expanded moderately, dictated by the absence of 
government financing through the domestic market and low demand by the 
private sector for funding.

The monetary expansion remained at moderate levels during 2015. The 
creation of money in the economy was driven mainly by the currency component 
and less so by the performance of credit. After the annual increase by around 
4.3% in the first half of the year, the M3 aggregate slowed down the annual 
rate to 1.9% in December. The expansion of monetary supplycontinued to 
be limited by the low performance of credit to the private sector, in line with 
the performance of the economic activity. At the same time, structural shifts 
toward financial assets that are not included in the money indicator continued 
to dictate money developments on the liabilities side.

Deposits in the banking system continued to expand against the previous year, 
whereas their structure reflects a shift towards demand deposits. The total stock 
of deposits36 expanded on average 3.3% during 2015. Economic agents 
have added their demand for more liquid instruments, against the backdrop 
of further decline in interest rates. Demand deposits accounted for around 
33.4% of total deposits in December, up by around 5.5 percentage points 
from the end of the previous year. In parallel with the shift towards more liquid 
instruments, households have shifted a part of their savings to long-term financial 
instruments such as over-two-year time deposits. The latter have maintained the 
same growth rate as in the previous year, expanding by around ALL 13 billion.

The stock of deposits expanded driven mainly by the increase in foreign 
currency deposits, whereas lek deposits fell over 2015. The performance of 

36	 The analysis of deposits in the banking system include over-two-year time deposits, which are 
not included in the calculation of the M3 aggregate, according to the methodology of monetary 
statistics. 

Chart 21. Monetary supply* and performance of deposits**

*Contribution of credit to the economy is adjusted for written off loans in 2015. 
**Monetary deposits include the deposit stock calculated in the broad money, which, according to the IMF 
de�nition, includes deposits of up to two-year term to maturity. Total deposits include monetary deposits and 

stock of deposits whose maturity is longer than two years. 
Source: Bank of Albania.
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lek deposits was driven by shift of households’ savings in instruments outside 
the banking system, which are offered mainly in the national currency at more 
favourable interest rates. Households’ investments in government securities 
rose by around ALL 18 billion over 2015.

Credit to the private sector was supported by both the moderate expansion of 
lending and the cleanup of banks’ balance sheets from loss loans37. Lending 
showed a sluggish performance in 2015. Adjusted for written off loans, 
outstanding credit to the private sector rose by ALL 12 billion, or at 2.2% 
compared to 2.0% in 2014. The credit performance in the second half of 
2015 was driven by the appreciation of the exchange rate38, especially in 
December. Adjusted for exchange rate fluctuations, annual growth of credit 
to the private sector amounts to around ALL 14 billion, or 2.8% higher than in 
2014.

From a long-term perspective, the sluggish credit performance continues to 
reflect a sluggish demand by economic agents against the backdrop of 
uncertainties, spare production capacities and expansion of own sources of 
financing.39 In parallel, banks continued to be selective and conservative in 
their lending policies, albeit the credit standards eased in 2015.

37	 During 2015, the credit portfolio was impacted by loss loans write off, in accordance with the 
regulatory requirements that entered into effect at the beginning of 2015. These requirements 
consisted in the write off of loss loans rated under this category for longer than three years. The 
following analysis on lending refers only to credit to residents, according to the methodology 
on monetary statistics, adjusted for written off loans. According to banks reporting, written off 
loans amounted to ALL 26.7 billion in total for 2015. For detailed information on the impact of 
this process on credit data, refer to Box 2 in the quarterly Monetary Policy Report, November 
2015. 

38	 At the end of December 2015, the Albanian lek appreciated 2% against the euro, compared 
to December 2014. 

39	 Firms’ liquidity improved in 2015 also thanks to the payment of government arrears over the 
past two years.

Chart 22. Credit to the private sector (annual change in per cent)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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The growth of credit to the private sector is driven by a steady growth of 
lek credit. The reduction for some years of lek credit costs, together with the 
orientation of bank policies for lek credit, have supported the shift of the credit 
portfolio to the national currency. This portfolio recorded 5.4% annual growth 
in 2015. At the end of December, the ratio of lek credit to total credit stood 
at 41%, or 1.2 percentage points higher than in 2014.

By sector, loans to households rose by 4.8%, whereas loans to enterprises rose 
only 1.2% during 2015. Consumer loans recorded 11.4% annual growth. In 
parallel, credit for house purchase recovered in the second half of the year, 
recording 3.0% annual growth.

The growth of loans to enterprises was overall weak. This performance reflected 
the lower need by enterprises for support with short-term monetary assets, in 
response to the improved liquidity situation following the payment of arrears. 
Loans to enterprises for liquidity rose by 0.9% at the end of the year, after 
fluctuating in negative territory for some months. Credit for investments showed 
positive growth rates, recording 1.7% annual growth at the end of the year.

Chart 23. Lending by purpose of use 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Box 3 Lending challenges in Albania

The performance of lending in Albania has been sluggish, over the recent years. 
The sluggish credit growth is accompanied by the concentration of the credit supply 
in only few banks and small number of enterprises. Moreover, for certain business 
segments, access to borrowing became more difficult, whereas the portfolio’s 
average term to maturity has shortened. The portfolio of loans to enterprises is 
dominated by credit to large corporates, which accounts for 64% of the portfolio, 
compared to 47% in 2008. For the same period, the average residual maturity 
shortened to 41 months, against 47 in 2008.

The weak lending rates are related to both demand and supply-side factors.

The low demand by economic agents for financing was conditioned by the sluggish 
economic activity and the presence of unutilised production capacities, as well as 
added uncertainties about the developments in the future. In parallel, the use of 
alternative sources of financing, such as firms own funds or the injection of liquidity 
by the government in the form of the payment of arrears, contributed to the reduction 
of the banking sector demand for financing.

Credit supply also tightened. This performance reflected the prudent approach by 
banks towards lending, in the presence of tightened policies by parent groups, 
of regulatory capital requirements and its high costs in the euro area, as well as 
of the high risk level perceived in Albania due to the high level of non-performing 
loans and difficulties surrounding collateral execution. The tightening of supply was 
reflected in worsened credit conditions, such as increase in collateral requirements, 
reduction of the disbursed credit size, and reduction of term to maturity.

Bank lending surveys show that households demand expanded during the year, 
and demand by enterprises grew in the last quarter. Credit conditions are reported 
as overall eased during 2015. For enterprises, this performance reflects the easing 
of conditions for small and medium-sized enterprises, and tightening for larger 
corporations. The credit conditions tightened generally due to factors related to the 
firms’ financial situation, sector-specific problems, and high level of non-performing 

Chart 24. Credit demand and standards*
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loans in the banking system. The implementation of tightened policies is reflected 
in the widening of the margin for risk-rated credits, reduction of the disbursed 
credit size, and reduction of term to maturity. On the other hand, credit conditions 
for households eased over the three last quarters, both for consumer and house 
purchase credit. The increase in interbank competition and the accommodative 
monetary policy of the Bank of Albania have constantly contributed to the easing 
side of credit conditions.

While credit conditions have eased, both enterprises and households perceive 
them as still tight. According to Business and Consumer Confidence Surveys, most 
respondents state that bank credit conditions remain tightened, in terms of credit 
cost, collateral requirements and commissions. The chart shows responses by sectors 
of the economy. The chart also reveals that the industry sector and households have 
the highest share of responses for tightened or very tightened credit conditions. 
Interviewed households have not opted to get a loan not only due to their assessment 
of conditions as inadequate, but also because they do not meet the required 
conditions by the banks. However, compared to 2012, the number of enterprises 
stating that credit conditions are tight has fallen.

The performance of credit conditions at home has resulted overall in line with their 
trend in the CESEE region. Credit standardsI in these countries eased over the first 
half, and remained largely unchanged in the second half of the year. They eased 
more evidently for the consumer credit segment, and less for small and medium-
sized enterprises. Credit conditions for larger corporations are reported as overall 
tight. The still-high level of non-performing loans - notwithstanding the improved 
ratio to total credit - and the regulatory framework remain the most important factors 
contributing to the tightening side of credit conditions. On the other hand, banks in 
these countries report constant increase in demand for financing over the last three 
years, thus expanding the demand - supply gap. 

In response to the sluggish credit performance, the Bank of Albania has aimed 
at boosting demand and contributing to improving the supply conditions. The 
accommodative monetary policy of the Bank of Albania has aimed at reducing the 
credit price and increasing credit demand. The key interest rate has been lowered 
by 4.5 percentage points since 2008. Moreover, the accommodative monetary 

Chart 25. Responses on the assessment of credit conditions

Source: Bank of Albania.
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policy has enabled the lowering of the cost of refinancing and reducing the burden 
of servicing existing credits for economic agents. From the supply side, the Bank 
of Albania has taken a series of measures aimed at addressing such problems as: 
high costs of banking capital in the euro area; incentivising credit restructuring in 
Albania; and, reducing non-performing loans and credit risk. In relation to the last 
aspect, in cooperation with the Ministry of Finance and other public institutions, a 
national plan was drafted to reduce the level of non-performing loans. In this context, 
a number of measures have been taken on the treatment of bad debt, easing the tax 
burden and collateral execution. Additionally, in cooperation with the WB FinSac 
project, an initiative is taken about large-debtor restructuring in the banking system. 
All these measures create the premises for better credit performance in 2016.

i	 For more information, see: CESEE Bank Lending Survey H2-2015 

II.2  Monetary operations in the money market 

•	 The Bank of Albania implements its monetary policy by using indirect  
market instruments. They include open market operations, standing facilities and 
the required reserve. Open market operations play a key role in the monetary 
policy transmission to the banking system. The Bank of Albania exclusively 
determines the conditions for applying them. The main open market operations are 
the repurchase and reverse repurchase agreement of seven-day maturity, whose 
interest rate represents the key interest rate. Other operations are repurchase 
agreements (reverse) of one- and three-month maturity and outright transactions

Open market operations

Open market operations consist in three sub-items: the main operation; fine-
tuning operations; and structural operations. They are used for short-term 
management of liquidity in the money market, aiming at accomplishing Bank 
of Albania’s operational objective - orienting short-term interbank rates close to 
Bank of Albania’s key interest rate and limiting their fluctuations.

During 2015, the overnight interbank rate floated very close to the key rate, 
deviating 0.07 percentage point. This deviation is similar to that in 2014, and 
lower than the 0.10 percentage point and 0.26 percentage point recorded 
in 2013 and 2012, respectively. Unlike in the last three years when it ranged 
0.01-0.07 percentage point above the key rate, the one-week interbank 
rate stood on average 0.06 percentage point below the key rate in 2015. 
Interbank trading for maturities longer than one week was very rare even in 
2015. Amid continued limits on amounts and maturities in interbank trading, 
the Bank of Albania increased the share of one and three-monthly injections.

During 2015, the injected liquidity amounted to ALL 29.50 billion, up on 
average by ALL 5 billion from a year earlier. Irrespective of the high average 
of injection during the year, the need for liquidity by commercial banks fell 
significantly by the end of the year, due to the maturation of the domestic 
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debt by the Ministry of Finance. After the issue of 
the Eurobond, the Ministry of Finance strategically 
shifted the financing from domestic to foreign 
resources, by maturing securities, mainly in lek. 
The majority of matured securities were owned by 
commercial banks, which was, in turn, reflected in 
increased liquidity. The Bank of Albania continued 
to maintain a mixed structure of liquidity injection, 
dominated by one-week (main) facility accounting 
for 55% against 64% in the previous year. 

One-week reverse repurchase agreement is the 
main instrument for open-market operations. The 
interventions through the main operation were 
conducted through fixed-amount and variable-price. 
During 2015, the liquidity injected through the one-
week reverse repo amounted to ALL 18.6 billion. 
Besides one-week liquidity-injecting operations, 

one-month ones continued at the same time. They amounted to ALL 3.6 billion 
per week, increasing from the past two years (ALL 2.2 billion and ALL 1.9 
billion, respectively). The three-moth reverse repos were employed in only four 
occasions, during July - October, with the amount ranging ALL 1.5-2.5 billion. 

To manage the liquidity situation and short-term interest rates, during 2015, the 
overnight liquidity injection operation was employed too, mainly concentrated 
in the last days of the period for the required reserve. The overnight reverse 
repurchase agreement was used at similar levels to those of the past two 
years, 15 days against 12 days and 18 days in the preceding years. In the 
meantime, the placed amount continued to rise, to ALL 2.6 billion from ALL 2.0 
billion and ALL 1.5 billion in 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Chart 27. Interventions through one-week, one-month and three-month 
reverse repurchase agreements

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 26. Open market operations and use of 
standing facilities*

*Negative values in the use of the instruments in the chart re�ect 
liquidity withdrawal operations whereas positive values re�ect 

liquidity injection operations.
Source: Bank of Albania.
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The Bank of Albania intervened in the market through structural operations, 
aiming to enhance competition in the short-term security market segment. It sold 
3 and 6-month Treasury bills and purchased the same amount in 12-month 
Treasury bills, aiming to keep the portfolio unchanged. Only in the last two 
months of 2015, with the reduction of debt issues by the Ministry of Finance, 
the Bank of Albania reduced its ownership in Treasury bills. 

Standing Facilities
Standing facilities – overnight deposits and overnight loans at the Bank of 
Albania are instruments available to commercial banks to manage liquidity 
on a daily basis. Their interest rate is set by Bank of Albania’s Supervisory 
Council. During 2015, they followed the key interest rate movements, creating 
an upper corridor (+1.75 p.p. from the key rate) and a lower corridor (-1.75 
p.p. from the key rate), for the short-term interbank rates. Since 4 November, 
following the lowering of the key rate by the Bank of Albania to 1.75%, the 
deposit rate fell to 0.0%, thus discouraging the banks to use it. 

The overnight deposit continued to be highly used, concentrated in the first 
three months, due to the structural liquidity surplus concentrated in one bank. 

Table 6.	Use of standing facilities
Overnight deposit Overnight loan

Number of 
cases

Average value
(ALL billion)

Number of 
cases

Average value
(ALL billion)

2011 65 0.44 31 0.15
2012 185 5.57 20 0.49
2013 159 1.70 19 1.46
2014 74 4.60 14 0.80
2015 80 5.70 22 2.20

Source: Bank of Albania. 

Required reserve
The required reserve in lek is a monetary policy instrument that aims to adjust 
liquidity in the banking system and stabilise the interest rates. The level of the 
required reserve is applied to the amount corresponding to 10% of deposits up 
to two years of the commercial banks, denominated in lek, euro and US dollar. 
The Bank of Albania allows banks to use up to 40% of the required reserve in lek on 
daily basis, while observing the obligation to keep the monthly average level of  
the required reserve not lower than its defined level.

The performance of the required reserve has been in line with the performance 
of the deposits that are subject to this instrument. During 2015, the required 
reserve in lek fell by 2.7%, in euro increased by 7.3%, and in US dollar fell 
by 10.50%. The remuneration rate on the lek required reserve reflected the 
performance of Bank of Albania’s key interest rate (70% of the key interest 
rate), while foreign currency required reserve is not remunerated. 

The remuneration rate on the surplus in lek and US dollars balance has 
remained 0% during 2015, whereas the remuneration rate on the surplus euro 
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balance remained 0.10% lower than the deposit rate, in accordance with the 
ECB definition. Therefore, banks administer by themselves the costs deriving 
from the introduction of negative interest rates by the ECB, at least for the 
surplus balance of their accounts at the Bank of Albania. 

II.3 	Financial stability and banking system 
performance 

•	 Safeguarding financial stability and the smooth functioning of the financial 
system in the Republic of Albania are key objectives for the Bank of Albania, in 
addition to the primary objective to maintain price stability. The role of the Bank 
of Albania on safeguarding financial stability is set out in the law “On the Bank 
of Albania” and in the law “On banks in the Republic of Albania”. The Bank 
of Albania identifies and acts to mitigate the risks that jeopardise the financial 
system stability. This objective is sustained through the licensing, regulation and 
supervision of banking activity and the implementation of initiatives for improving 
payments systems, for which the Bank of Albania is responsible. 

II.3.1. Financial stability activities of the Bank of Albania 

Financial stability is defined as a situation in which the financial system 
operates in the absence of serious failures or undesirable effects, supporting 
the actual and future development of the entire economy. The Bank of Albania 
identifies, monitors, and acts to mitigate the risks that jeopardise the financial 
system stability. To fulfil this commitment, the Bank of Albania communicates 
regularly with all public authorities, the financial industry and the public as 
important stakeholders in achieving financial stability. 

The Financial Stability Report and the Financial Stability Statement are the main 
communication tools, which provide an assessment of the situation, identify the 
risks and make recommendations for the smooth functioning of the banking 
and financial activity. During 2015, the Report was re-formatted to focus on 
the identification of specific risks. Both the number and themes addressed in 
“boxes”, which analyse specifically definite issues, has increased. In addition, 
financial stability issues are addressed in other publications of the Bank of 
Albania, and speeches by administrators.

Stress testing is an important instrument to assess financial system stability. 
It consists in scenarios of adverse developments in the financial activity and 
macroeconomic indicators to test the resilience of the banking sector in terms 
of capitalisation and liquidity. This year, Bank of Albania supplemented these 
tests including market and operational risks, in terms of assessing the banking 
system’s solvency. In parallel, stress test was conducted for the liquidity risk. 
Both tests certified the banks’ adequacy of capital and liquidity levels to 
withstand risks.

The Bank of Albania, during 2015, continued to work for a comprehensive 
macro-prudential policies framework. As the treatment of the systemic risk in 
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the centre of these policies, during 2015, the methodologies and method 
to assess this risk are expanded and improved. In parallel, work continues 
to draft the objectives, instruments and method of implementation of these 
policies in the institution and in relation to the other relevant public authorities. 
At the same time, during 2015, the Bank of Albania has worked to improve 
the management framework of contingency financial situations. In this regard, 
various procedures were reviewed and work started for the necessary legal 
improvements. These developments are expected to be finalised during 2016.

The Bank of Albania has fully and fruitfully cooperated with other public 
authorities, notably the Financial Stability Advisory Group (FSAG) meetings, 
as an effective forum for sharing information and coordinating activities with 
the Ministry of Finance, the Financial Supervision Authority and the Albanian 
Deposits Insurance Agency. During 2015, FSAG meetings focused on the 
assessment and necessary action to mitigate risks that may be spilled over from 
foreign markets. The cooperation with the Albanian Government was also 
fruitful in realisation of the action plan for addressing non-performing loans. 
Contributions provided by the Ministry of Economic Development, Tourism, 
Trade and Entrepreneurship and the Ministry of Justice as well as cooperation 
with the World Bank Group and the International Monetary Fund on these 
issues have also been important. 

II.3.2. Banking sector performance 

Overall, the positive developments in the real economy and in the banking 
sector contributed to the consolidation of the financial stability over the 
period. Prudential indicators of the banking sector, solvency, liquidity and the 
creation of reserves to specific risks, are assessed as adequate and within the 
regulatory requirement, even when assuming the materialisation of adverse 
macroeconomic scenarios. The main challenge to the Albanian banking 
system, in the period ahead, is related to the further improvement of assets’ 
quality, to enable also the expansion of lending and deepening of financial 
intermediation in the economy. 

The banking sector remains the main segment of financial intermediation in 
Albania. As at end-December 2015, its assets stood at 91.3% of the Gross 
Domestic Product (GDP), slightly down from the previous year. Sixteen banks 
continue to operate in the banking sector. Four large banks share 62.4% of 
the credit portfolio and 69.5% of the sector’s deposits.

As at end-2015, the banking sector assets rose to ALL 1.318 billion, 
registering 1.9% annual growth, from 4.8% a year earlier. The expansion of 
inter-bank investments and the contraction of provisions, following the write off 
of loss loans from banks’ balance sheets, provided the main contribution to the 
expansion of the sector’s assets. The activity was financed through the increase 
in deposits of the public, which accounted for 83% of total banking sector 
assets. Aggregated, deposits in banks, as at the end of the year, increased 
2.6%, from 4.5% in the previous year. 
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The banking sector’s reliance on external sources of financing remains limited. 
Its net position to non-residents remained on the crediting side and continued 
to increase during the period. In 2015, borrowing from parent banks fell at 
low historic levels.

Financial result and profitability indicators
The average indicators of banking sector profitability improved considerably 
during 2015. The net financial result of the banking sector (after taxes) was 
positive, around ALL 15.7 billion, up by 40% from 2014. The net result from 
interests hiked around ALL 4.4 billion, or around 9.8%, accounting for 83% of 
the gross income from the activity. This performance reflects (i) expansion of 
average earning assets and (ii) continuous improvement of net interest margin. 
The latter is a result of the accommodative monetary policy combined with a 
fast re-pricing of deposits and the fall in the share of costly deposits. The share 
of time deposits dropped at 64.8% to total deposits, as at end of 2015, from 
70.4% in December 2014. On the other hand, provisioning expenses on 
credit risk and total expenses fell by 1.4% and 3.7%, respectively, from a year 
earlier. In the light of developments, average profitability indicators improved: 
return on average assets rose to 1.2%, from 0.9% in the previous year, while 
return on average equity reached 13.2%, from 10.5% in the previous year. 

Banking business capitalisation
During 2015, the higher growth rate of risk-bearing assets against the regulatory 
capital, contributed to the fall in the capital adequacy ratio by around 1 
percentage point from a year earlier. Nevertheless, the 15.7% capital adequacy 
ratio is notably higher than the 12% required minimum, laid down in the regulatory 
framework. Good capitalisation remains a feature of the banking system and it 
has been maintained due to continued positive values in the net financial result. 
Banks maintained the required minimum even after the approval of the new rules 
on capital adequacy ratio, in line with the Basel II40approach. The structure of the 
regulatory capital appeared favourable in terms of the banking sector’s capacity 
to cover potential losses, as the core capital continues to account for 85% of it. 

II.3.3. Risk assessment and management

Credit risk
During 2015, the Bank of Albania continued to closely monitor the loss 
loans write off from balance sheets, as part of implementing the regulatory 
obligations41. Also, information has been constantly submitted on the mandatory 
execution processes, as part of the banking sectors’ efforts to collect non-
performing loans. 

40	 Starting from January 2015, banks have shifted to a new standard of calculating the capital 
requirements for monitoring main risks, in accordance with Basel II. Pursuant to the provisions 
in the new Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” (No.48, dated 31.07.2013) providing 
for the alignment with this standard, banks may release capital in certain categories of risk 
weighted assets from one side, but should plan for additional capital requirements for market 
and operational risks.

41	 Starting from January 2015, banks are obliged by the regulatory requirements to undertake 
the process of balance cleaning and the write off loans under the category “lost” for 3 years. 
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The Bank of Albania continued to implement the countercyclical measures 
undertaken since May 2013, with incentives to channel the surplus liquidity in 
the economy, and support the early re-structuring of loans. The impact of these 
measures, throughout the implemented period, was assessed as positive.

Along with other measures, including the fiscal treatment and the positive 
impact of payment of government arrears to private sector, they have 
contributed positively to the improvement of credit portfolio quality over the last 
year. In December 2015, the non-performing loans fell at 18.2% of the credit 
portfolio, down by 4.6 percentage points compared to the end of 2014. At 
the same time, the provisioning ratio for non-performing loans climbed at 71%, 
expanding by 4 percentage points from end-2014. 

During 2015, the Bank of Albania, in collaboration with FinSAC of the World 
Bank, continued to implement the initiative for addressing the non-performing 
loans. Also, in collaboration with the Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Economic 
Development, Tourism, Trade and Entrepreneurship, commercial banks in 
Albania, the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund, the Bank of 
Albania drafted an action plan on reducing non-performing loans. Finalised in 
autumn, the plan contains some legal and regulatory measures to facilitate the 
management of credit risk by the banking sector.42

The impact of the above-stated factors will continue during 2016, while the 
assets’ quality is expected to improve. Against this backdrop, the Bank of 
Albania will request banks to maintain high capitalisation and liquidity levels, 
while they accurately identify non-performing loans. 

Market risk
The Bank of Albania monitors closely the developments related to the market 
risk and the direct or indirect impact from possible fluctuations in the exchange 
rate and the interest rate on the banking sector’s activity. 

Owing to the mismatch between interest rate-sensitive assets and liabilities, 
the sector is exposed to a rapid increase in the interest rate. Although the 
probability of this movement is low, Bank of Albania has recommended to 
banks to include the assessment of this risk in their analyses and to take action 
to minimise this risk in case it is considered as important.

The level of net open position in foreign currency suggests a limited exposure 
to the exchange rate risk (volatility). At sector level, the open position in foreign 
currency was “long” at 7.7% of the regulatory capital, as at December 2015. 

The indirect impact of potential exchange rate volatility on banking activity 
indicators is important. In the event of unfavourable exchange rate fluctuations, 
the most probable impacting instrument is the size of foreign currency credit 
when the borrower’s income is in the national currency. Although the portfolio 
of such credit has been downward during the period, exchange rate volatility 

42	 The activity of the Bank of Albania to reduce the non-performing loans is also addressed in 
the light of supervisory aspect of the institution. 
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is considered as important as regards the impact on the borrowers’ solvency. 
The unhedged foreign currency credit accounts for 27.7% of credit outstanding, 
down by 3.6 percentage points from end-2014. The trend noted in the past 
two years, for the expansion of crediting mainly in the Albanian lek, has 
contributed to the reduction of the above-mentioned exposure. Therefore, more 
support should be provided by the banking industry and economic agents.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity position of the banking sector stands at good levels. Bank of Albania 
assesses that banking system exposure to liquidity risk is low. Stress test exercises 
shows that banking system in Albania has regulatory capital and liquidity 
reserves able to withstand strong shocks caused by adverse macroeconomic 
developments, inside or outside Albania. 

As at December 2015, liquidity indicators, stated as the ratio of liquid assets 
to total assets and the ratio of liquid assets to short-term liabilities, were 32.3% 
and 41.4%. All banks maintained liquidity ratios considerably above the 
required minimum laid down in the applicable regulatory framework. The 
ratio of credit to deposit value was around 53%.

Deposits remain the main source of funding the banking sector activity. Overall, 
deposits have a low concentration, which has been downward since the end 
of 2014. 

During the year, the commitments by parent banks in the form of line of financing  
narrowed. In December 2015, credit lines accounted for only 0.42% of total 
assets of the sector, from 1.98% in December 2014. Only 32% of the total 
credit line was used. 

Monitoring systemic risk 
In the light of the last financial crisis, the construction of adequate indicators for 
the identification of systemic risk is an important challenge to regulators. The 
Bank of Albania, in the framework of developing macro prudential policies, 
monitors the developments in the systemic risk through some indicators and 
methodologies, which assess its various aspects.

During 2015, the accumulation of the systemic risk arising from factors relating 
to the banking sector and the real economy appears slightly up by reflecting 
the non-positive developments in the housing market and the increase in the 
external public debt. In contrast, the contraction of foreign currency credit has 
mitigated the accumulation of systemic risk. Nevertheless, the materialisation of 
the systemic risk fell from the previous year, reflecting the improvement of credit 
quality for businesses and households and a lower exposure to exchange rate 
risk during the period. The financial stress is assessed as downward, due to 
the decreasing fluctuation in the exchange rate and money market. 
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Box 4 Methodologies used by the Bank of Albania to monitor 
systemic risk

During 2015, the Bank of Albania was committed to deepen and improve the 
analyses related to systemic risk monitoring in the financial market (hereinafter 
systemic risk). Systemic risk is the possibility that an event in the financial system 
may severely damage the overall ability of the financial system to carry out main 
functions, thus causing serious consequences to the economic activity. Systemic risk 
may change over time and/or expand across the sectors in a certain moment of time. 

1.	 To assess the change of systemic risk over time, Bank of Albania has worked 
to establish and implement the following techniques:

•	 Financial systemic stress index - assesses the exposure of financial system 
components to adverse developments, which, in case of being materialised, 
have a considerable impact on the economic activity; 

•	 Systemic risk accumulation index - assesses the accumulation of disorders 
in terms of real economy, public and banking sectors, which increase the 
exposure of the economy to systemic risk. Following, through the construction 
of macro prudential policies framework, Bank of Albania aims at mitigating 
the accumulation of systemic risk prior to its materialisation. On the other 
hand, Systemic Risk Materialisation Index assesses the level of system risk 
materialisation in the economy and in the respective agents. 

•	 Banking stability index - an overall assessment of the core conditions and 
substantial factors of risk that affect the assessment of banking sector’s 
soundness. 

•	 Assessment of the financial cycle - an important step, albeit difficult, to 
complete the macro prudential policies framework. The activation of these 
policies is carried out in compliance with the development of the financial 
cycle with the purpose its impact. During 2015, Bank of Albania has worked 
for the complete assessment of the credit cycle, which will be further expanded 
through the inclusion of new dimensions and elements. 

2.	 To assess the cross-sectorial expansion, the Bank of Albania has worked to 
establish and implement the following techniques: 

•	 Identification of systemically important banks in Albania, a methodology 
developed in line with the recommendations of the Basel Committee on 
Banking Supervision. This methodology sustains the need to adopt the 
supervision of systemically important financial institutions, in order to contain 
their contribution to the systemic risk. 	  

•	 Similarity among banks in Albania: application on the credit portfolio and 
its quality, which assesses the contribution to the banking activity arising 
from the exposure of bank lending in the same sectors. 

3.	 To assess the systemic risk by combining both particularities of its development, 
the Bank of Albania has worked to establish and implement the following 
techniques:

•	 Survey of systemic risk perception with banks - collects the banks’ opinion 
on their exposure to main systemic risks and the respective probability of 
materialisation in the short/medium-term period. 

•	 Liquidity stress test - following the stress-test on the solvency of a bank 
through the up-bottom and bottom-up approaches, strengthens the analytical 
capacities of the Bank of Albania and provides the assessment of the solvency 
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of both individual banks and the banking sector to withstand the extreme 
shocks to their financing. 

•	 Macro prudential instruments in the real estate market - constructed based on 
the dataset received from the banking industry, which provide the construction 
of the Loan to Value, Price to Income and Debt Service Ratio indicators, to 
monitor and address the strong connection between unsteady real estate 
prices and financing of the real estate market through bank loans. 

•	 Assessment of financial stress periods after its materialisation - through the 
implementation of quantitative methods, identifies the financial stress stages 
and supports the analysis on the need to activate macro prudential policies. 

The work started for some of these methodologies will be finalised during 2016. 
Also, conditions will be provided to consolidate them on the basis of qualities that 
show their identification and treatment of systemic risks in the banking sector and 
the financial sector.

II.3.4. Stress-test exercises and outcome

Stress-test exercises assess the adequacy of banking sector’s resilience against 
assumed shocks, as a part of the relevant scenarios, usually over a period 
of two years. Capitalisation is considered as the main source of the banking 
sector’s resilience. During 2015, the exercise was enriched by including market 
and operational risks in compliance with Basel II, and the effect of loss loan 
write offs. The scenarios purposely include movements, with low probability 
of occurrence in the macroeconomic indicators, such as the considerable 
rise in interest rates, the slowdown or strong contraction of lending and the 
considerable depreciation of the exchange rate. The outcome of the exercise, 
in terms of capital adequacy, reveals that the banking sector can successfully 
withstand macroeconomic shocks. Also, the exercise was conducted to assess 
the sensitivity of banks to the fall in the exposures’ value to parent banking 
groups. This exercise showed that some banks need to monitor, on on-going 
basis, this exposure. 

II.4.	Banking Supervision 

•	 Bank of Albania’s supervision is based on three pillars: licensing, regulation 
and supervision. The latter is carried out through off-site surveillance and on-site 
inspections. The constant supervision and regulation of financial activities, mainly 
of banking activities, are at the focus of this function and represent its main 
activities.43

To guarantee a sound financial situation of the licensed entities and of the 
entire financial sector, the attention of the Bank of Albania, during 2015, was 
also focused on providing the high standards of corporate government and 

43	 The Bank of Albania publishes detailed information on developments in the banking system 
and banking supervision process in annual supervision reports. 



Annual Report 2015

Bank of Albania 67

risk management and control, in maintaining the level of banks capitalisation, 
the improvement of credit portfolio quality and maintenance of liquidity level. A 
positive development in terms of supervisory attention is the considerable drop 
in the non-performing loans indicators of banking sector at the end of 2015 
(at 18.2%, from 22.8% in 2014). The mandatory written off of loans which 
had been categorised for more than three years as loss loans contributed to 
this improvement. This process was monitored on an on-going basis.

The supervisory mission has been sustained by the efforts to increasingly 
approximate the supervisory standards with those of European Union 
homologous institutions and the best international standards. The cooperation 
with international institutions is strengthened for materialisation of these 
projects. In this regard, the assessment of the European Banking Authority 
for the Bank of Albania’s confidentiality regime in 2015 was an important 
milestone in the work of the Bank of Albania in 2015. The European Banking 
Authority considered this regime in full compliance with the respective regime 
of the European Union (EU) and decided to include the Bank of Albania in the 
supervisory authorities list of non-EU countries, which participate in the banking 
supervisory colleges of the European Union. In the light of this event, the 
European Banking Authority (EBA) signed in October 2015 a Memorandum 
of Cooperation with supervisory authorities in six South-Eastern European (SEE) 
countries. 

In the framework of implementing the medium-term strategy of the Bank of 
Albania and the objectives laid down in this document, during 2015, work 
continued to develop supervisory methodologies, the regulatory framework and 
the human resources and skills to carry out the supervisory function. The review 
of the methodology aimed at further restructuring the supervisory procedures 
based on best international standards and practices. Also, the alignment 
of the Bank of Albania’s regulatory framework with Basel II & III and with 
the European Union directives continued during 2015, taking into account 
developments in the domestic banking system. The development of human 
resources was focused not only in increasing its number, also in intensifying 
the training of staff to enhance their knowledge and expertise, in parallel with 
the sophistication of the regulatory and methodological framework.

In the period ahead, we will concentrate on fostering the coordination of 
banking supervision with the financial stability in order to effectively harmonise 
the micro prudential approach to macro prudential approach for the purposes 
of the ultimate objective of safeguarding financial stability in Albania.

In concrete terms, some of the most important developments in the supervision 
activity during 2015 were:

-	 Implementation of the risk-based supervisory policy;
-	 Implementation of risk assessment manual and the new assessment 

system of banks;
-	 Implementation of the new regulation on calculating the capital 

adequacy ratio in compliance with Pillar I of Basel II.
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In line with the new supervisory policy adopted by the Supervisory Council 
in 2014, the supervisory approach for licensed entities, mainly banks, drove 
to an increased attention to banking system risks. In addition to full scope 
assessments or examinations, to control the exposure level and the measures 
taken by banks, thematic analyses or examinations are carried out. 

The approval of the new risk assessment manual in 2014 drove to the change 
of periodic off-site surveillance and the whole assessment of banks during the 
examinations, thus marking a qualitative increase of the conducted assessment, 
clearer identification of problems, and supervisory practice in compliance with 
the assessment standards of EU homologous institutions. 

The entry into force of the regulation on the calculation of capital adequacy 
and regulatory capital of banks in compliance with Pillar I of Basel II and 
partially with Basel III increased the attention of supervision for maintaining the 
capitalisation rate by banks. The special analysis helped keep in check possible 
fluctuations in the capital adequacy level of banks. Dedicated examinations 
were conducted to verify the correct implementation of this regulation, by 
identifying the possible problems as well. 

Year 2015 was characterised by a set of other developments, which are 
provided in greater details in the following sections.

II.4.1. Regulatory framework

The main purpose for the compilation and review of the supervisory regulatory 
framework during 2015 was to adopt an effective and proactive banking 
supervision approach in introducing supervisory requirements for risk prevention 
and management, and implementing the recommendations by international 
institutions, such as the International Monetary Fund and the World Bank. 
For this purpose, banking supervision regulations were aligned with Basel 
Committee standards, European Union directives, best practices in the field of 
regulation of the regional countries, which are EU members, and taking into 
account, in any event, the opinion and considerations of the banking industry 
through continuous meetings and communication.

Revision of regulatory acts in force during 2015
•	 Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” supplemented with the new 

guidelines “On the recognition of ECAIs”44 accepted by the Bank 
of Albania, which also contains the correspondence tables of credit 
quality degree with the relevant credit assessment realised by the 
ECAIs, which are known as accepted.

•	 Regulation “On consumer credit and mortgage credit” was revised to 
enrich the regulatory framework of the supervision authority in terms of 

44	 External Credit Assessment Institutions (ECAIs). Bank of Albania shall know as accepted “ 
External Credit Assessment Institutions”, for all the classes of exposure as laid down in Chapter 
III of the Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio”; and the for the securitisation positions, the 
following institutions: Moody’s, Fitch, Standard &Poor’s and Japan Credit Rating (JCR).
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consumer’s protection, increase of competition and transparency on the 
consumer credit and mortgage credit products provided by banks and 
non-bank financial institutions. This was realised through the adoption 
of the best practices and alignment with Directive 2008/48EC “On 
credit agreements for consumers” and Directive 2014/17/EU “On 
credit agreements for consumers relating to residential immovable 
property”, and amendments to the Law “On consumers’ protection”. 

•	 Regulation “On internal audit system”, was reviewed triggered by the 
need to review the internal audit cycle and some principles as reviewed 
by Basel Committee on Internal Audit (2012). This review aimed at 
further strengthening the internal audit role in banks, by increasing 
the independence and professionalism, strengthening the relationships 
and communication between the supervision authority and internal 
audit system of banks, and in particular between the business units, 
supporting units and the internal audit unit (the model of “three lines of 
defence”). 

Amendments to regulatory acts during 2015:
•	 Regulation “On the minimum requirements of disclosing information 

by banks and branches of foreign bank” was partially reviewed to 
further align the supervision authority’s requirements in the field of 
market discipline with the European regulation on the credit institutions’ 
activity, and increase the requirements on information disclosure, 
mainly of the banks remuneration’s policies, as laid down in the recent 
document of the Basel Committee “Pillar 3 - Disclosure requirements for 
remuneration”45;

•	 Regulation “On capital adequacy ratio” was partially amended to 
extend the deadline into 2016 for the package of measures to improve 
lending climate in Albania.

•	 Regulation “On regulatory capital of the bank” was partially amended 
for the alignment of the regulatory capital with the revised provisions 
of the European Regulation on the activity of credit institutions, to 
gradually include in the commercial bank’s regulatory capital the Tier 
1 capital as a ratio to Tier 2 capital;

•	 In the light of the current liquidity situation in the system, and the cost 
materialisation that the entry into force of new requirements on risk 
concentration management would bring about, the Regulation “On the 
risk management from large exposures of banks” as amended. These 
amendments aimed to facilitate the treatment of banks’ exposures 
against supervised institutions as well as Albanian government 
debt securities in foreign currency, as various investments in various 
counterparties abroad were evidenced as non-profitable; 

•	 Regulation “On the reporting to the Bank of Albania according to the 
Unified Reporting System”, was amended aimed at completing one of 
the medium-term recommendations of the IMF and WB joint mission, 
FSAP (2013), for a more detailed information by banks about their 
direct and indirect shareholders;

•	 Regulation “On foreign exchange transactions” was amended, 
45	  Pillar 3 - Disclosure Requirements for Remuneration.
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in accordance with IMF recommendations on the liberalisation of 
regulatory requirements on the foreign exchange transactions in the 
framework of the free capital movement.

II.4.2. Licensing and approvals

The number of banks that conduct their activity in the Republic of Albania 
remained unchanged, consisting of 16 commercial banks with both foreign 
and Albanian capital. The major part of the banking sector is controlled 
by subsidiaries of EU-based banking groups, and exercises the activity in 
accordance with the Albanian legislation and in accordance with Bank 
of Albania’s regulatory framework in force. During 2015, the number of 
Albanian-owned banks rose to three.

Table 7 Banks’ ownership structure (number of banks at period-end)
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Banks in Albania, of which: 16 16 16 16 16
Branches of foreign banks 2 0 0 0 0
Banks’ ownership structure, by capital origin, of which: 
Majority foreign-owned1 14 14 14 14 13
EU-based banks2 10 10 10 10 9
Turkish owned3 1 1 1 1 1
Majority owned by an international financial institution 
(Saudi Arabia)4 1 1 1 1 1

Majority Kuwaiti owned5 1 1 1 1 1
Majority Swiss Confederation owned6 1 1 1 1 1
Majority Albanian owned7 2 2 2 2 3

Source: Bank of Albania. 
1	 ‘The major part’ is in any case a simple majority of 50 per cent of votes plus 1 vote.
2	 EU-based banks are: Italy (Intesa Sanpaolo Albania, Banka Veneto), Austria (Raiffeisen), 

Germany (Procredit), France (Societe Generale Albania, Credit Agricole Albania), Greece 
(Banka Tirana, Alpha Bank Albania, NBG Albania), Bulgaria (First Investment Bank). 

3	 National Commercial Bank.
4	U nited Bank of Albania.
5	C redit Bank of Albania.
6	I nternational Commercial Bank.
7	 Majority Albanian owned banks at the end of 2015, are: Union Bank (88.82%), Credins Bank 

(79.08%) and American Bank of Investments (former Credit Agricole Bank, Albania, 100%).

During 2015, the Bank of Albania approved the transfer of 100% of the 
qualifying holding of the shareholder’s capital of Credit Agricole Bank Albania 
sh.a. (the new name of the bank is American Bank of Investments sh.a.). After 
this approval, the bank’s ownership is transferred from the shareholder IUB 
Holding SA, France, to the new shareholder Tranzit sh.p.k., Albania, non-
bank financial institution. Also, during 2015 the merger by absorption was 
approved between Banka Credins sh.a. (the absorber company) with Credins 
Leasing sh.a, a non-bank financial institution (the absorbed company). The 
request initiated by Banka Credins sh.a. was in terms of its re-organisation 
and the possibility to increase the activity of leasing within the bank structures. 

Related to the additional activities of banks, five requests were assessed and 
approved consisting in the increase of the trading activity for the account of 
the bank and of the clients, including in foreign exchange, in a self-organised 
market of transferable securities, in increasing the intermediation activity in 
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insurance and re-insurance and in providing the service of security boxes. 

Banks submitted applications for their bank network regarding both expansion 
and reduction (closure, merger/transfer) of branches/agencies in the country. 
Following these changes, the number of branches/banking agencies through 
which the banks conduct their activity is 500. 

With regard to licensing, the Bank of Albania has paid particular attention 
to implementing the core principles and rules for responsible and effective 
bank management, assessing the organisational structure of the banks, their 
management and division of responsibilities. In accordance with the Regulation 
“On the core management principles of banks and branches of foreign banks 
and the criteria on the approval of their administrators”, the Bank of Albania 
approved 73 new administrators. Their positions are as follows: 22 Steering 
Council members, 8 Audit Committee members and 43 executive directors. 
Administrators of non-bank financial institutions were also subject to approval.

During 2015, based on the applications, the Bank of Albania granted licenses 
and its approval for financial institutions, which are subject to its licensing and 
supervision.

Table 8 Number of financial institutions licensed by the Bank of Albania (end of 
period)

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Banks and branches of foreign banks 16 16 16 16 16
Non-bank financial institutions 19 21 21 22 27
Foreign exchange bureaus 301 322 333 356 397
Unions of Savings and Loan Associations 2 2 2 2 2
Savings and Loan Associations 126 126 121 113 111

Source: Bank of Albania. 

In the non-bank financial market, in 2015, six new entities were licensed: three 
micro credit financial institutions, two electronic money institutions and one 
non-bank financial institution to conduct the activities of factoring and financial 
lease. Meanwhile, one of the new licences is relevant to the revocation of an 
existing one, attributable to the change of a non-bank financial institution into 
an electronic money institution. The number of licenced non-bank financial 
institutions is 27, as at the end of the year. Part of the approvals for non-bank 
financial institutions was the approval for conducting additional activities to 
two institutions for the transfer of the qualifying holding to 20% of shares of 
capital for one institution. 

Licensing of foreign exchange bureaus continued in 2015, at a faster pace 
than in the previous year. Thus 50 new entities were licensed to conduct foreign 
exchange activities. Nine licensed entities that exercised foreign exchange 
activities returned their licences to the Bank of Albania for termination of 
activities. As at end 2015, in the forex market operated 397 licensed foreign 
exchange bureaus. Approvals were given for additional cambists exercising 
their activity in existing foreign exchange bureaus.
In this year, no new Savings and Loans Associations were licensed. Their 
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number reduced due to the re-organisation of three Savings and Loans 
Associations through the merger by absorption in a single one and the 
revocation of licences for two Savings and Loans Associations.

II.4.3. On-site examinations

On-site examination is one of the most important supervisory processes, 
aimed at examining in practice the functioning of the licensed entities and the 
implementation of sound risk management practices, in terms of quality and 
quantity. During 2015, 20 full-scope and partial examinations were performed 
in banks and 44 examinations in other licensed entities. The organisation and 
planning of these activities is based on the supervisory cycle set out by the 
supervisory policy, the off-site analyses result and ensuring the conformity of the 
activity of licensed entities with the applicable legal and regulatory framework. 

The overall assessment of banks was realised through the full-scope 
examinations, which are the main focus of supervision. Also, special attention 
was paid to targeted inspections during 2015. Their main focus was to 
assess the implementation of regulatory framework after the entry into force 
of the new Regulation “On capital adequacy”, in compliance with Basel II. 
The conclusions from on-site examinations reveal that the activity of licensed 
entities is overall carried out in conformity with the requirements of the legal, 
supervisory and regulatory framework and the banking system maintains a 
sound financial situation. 

Following are summarised some of the main aspects of inspections:

•	 Corporate governance, establishment of adequate structures for 
the governance, management and audit, adequate delegation of 
responsibilities and decision-making based on ethics and responsibility; 

•	 Adequacy of internal acts that regulate the activity and management 
of various risks, regarding compliance with the applicable regulatory 
requirements and the methodology of risks assessment or the prudential 
level for all the involved structures. Special attention is paid to lending, 
starting with the approval of credit, the continuous monitoring and their 
recovery;

•	 Ensuring regulatory compliance, in particular regarding the calculation 
of provisions against risks, regulatory limits, exposures to related 
persons, level of capital adequacy and regulatory capital; 

•	 Systems of internal audit, to increase work quality, expand the 
scope of audit and increase capacities to enhance efficiency for the 
identification, measurement and monitoring of risks. 

At the conclusion of the examinations, recommendations were provided on the 
necessary improvements and the examined entities were required to draft a 
plan, and their rigorous implementation. 

During 2015, new non-bank financial institutions were subject of on-site 
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examinations as well. On-site inspections were conducted at institutions 
exercising the activity of factoring, transfers and payments at e-payments 
institutions and at the intermediary and advisory for foreign exchange 
transactions. The focus of the examination was on supervisory requirements 
regarding corporate governance, observation of supervisory norms and lending 
or factoring principles or the management of specific risks of institutions. 

Anti-money laundering and combating the financing of 
terrorism 

In addition to banks and non-bank financial institutions, 42 foreign exchange 
bureaus were subject of this risk assessment through continuous inspections. 
Joint inspections with the General Directorate on Preventing Money Laundering 
and Terrorism Financing were conducted in two banks, two NBFIs and eight 
FEBs on issues on the prevention of money laundering.

Positive efforts of institutions to manage the risk related to the AML/CFT were 
noted during this year. In particular, banks have put in place adequate structures 
and systems in this regard and have increased the effectiveness of preventive 
measures on money laundering and terrorism financing driving to the increase of 
number and quality of the reporting suspicious activities. The identified shortfalls in 
inspections consisted in: identification of the beneficiary owner; implementation 
of due diligence in cases of abnormal indicators, increase of frequency and 
fields subject of control of internal audit or of trainings, improvement of SARs 
identification and analysis systems, etc. In addition to the recommendations, 
supervisory measures are provided in the inspection reports to specific institutions. 

A highlight related to the AML/CFT was the CoE Moneyval Committee’s 
decision to remove Albania from the regular follow-up process. The Bank 
of Albania provided its contribution in the preparation of standards and 
information, based on which, the Moneyval experts concluded that Albania 
had made adequate progress in respect of all Core and Key recommendations 
of Moneyval in the field of AML/CFT.

Transparency and disclosure of information

Transparency with clients and information disclosure were in focus during 
2015, aiming at improving the customer relations standards and public 
information. Banks’ behaviour and measures relating to public transparency 
and disclosure of financial information have been consistently and cautiously 
examined through on-site and off-site supervision.

Following the Bank of Albania’s recommendations, the banking sector has 
raised its awareness and commitment to matters of transparency and disclosure 
of information. Bank of Albania’s supervisory measures relating to disclosure of 
information have proved effective as all banks are now publishing the annual 
report and periodical quarterly financial reports on their websites. 
The publication of banks’ reports on Bank of Albania’s website, in a standardised 
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format, on approved commissions and interest rates on loans and deposits, 
continued during 2015. Besides off-site analyses, on-site examinations also 
assessed the accuracy of these reports.

II.4.4. Credit registry 

The inclusion of new reporting entities in the Credit Registry System, with a view 
to reducing information asymmetry among financial institutions, the exercising 
of supervision and the optimum management of credit risk continued to receive 
proper attention during 2015. In this regard, the database managed by this 
system was enriched with the inclusion of four non-bank financial institutions46. 
The credit registry contained data reported by 35 reporting entities, as at end 
2015.

The structure of participants in the credit registry consists in: 16 banks, 16 
non-bank financial institutions, 9 of which are lending entities and 7 financial 
leasing entities; 2 Unions of Savings and Loan Associations, and one Savings 
and Loan Association, which conducts its activity independently of Unions. 

An important function of the Credit Registry remains the handling of requests for 
borrowers’ report. In this regard, a large number of requests submitted by legal 
entities and individuals were handled throughout the year; requests handled in 
the framework of meeting the legal obligation, as well as other requests. 

Special attention was paid to further developing the information currently 
reported to the credit registry, which consists in the inclusion of loans that 
are subject of a court process. The inclusion of this information is expected 
to be materialised in a reduction of non-qualitative loans in the banking and 
financial system and in the further increase of transparency level among the 
reporting entities. The reporting of this information at live system of the credit 
registry is projected to start in early 2016. 

II.4.5. Special supervisory activities

Platform for addressing non-performing loans
This platform was initially introduced in October 2013 and was realised in 
collaboration with consultative companies ADASTRA and TPJ, supported by 
the World Bank FinSAC project. The purpose of this platform is to find out 
a sustainable solution for the difficult financial relationships of some large 
borrowers with the banks of the system. During 2015, many meetings were 
held with banks to discuss the possibilities to resolve the problems of these 
borrowers. The work to implement this platform evidenced rather positive 
elements, such as sharing information and perspectives of banks on the solution 
of individual problems. 
Plan of measures for reducing non-performing loans in the banking system
46	 Three Non-bank Financial Institutions of lending (Lute Credit; Capital Invest; Agro partner) and 

one Financial leasing entity (Albania Leasing).
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The special attention to reduce the non-performing loans in the system was 
materialised in the drafting of a coordinated plan of measures. This plan 
was a result of the inter-institutional work to identify the legal, regulatory and 
administrative space for intervention with a view to lowering the non-performing 
loans in the banking system. The work was finalised upon approval of the plan 
by the Council of Ministers and the Bank of Albania. The scope of this plan is 
to review or draft legal acts related to the registration and execution processes 
of loans collaterals, review some Bank of Albania’s regulation whose purpose 
is to improve the management, in particular, of non-performing loans, and in 
general, the credit portfolio. During 2016, special attention will be paid to the 
treatment of 35 largest borrowers in the banking system. 

Package of measures to support lending to economy
This package of measures was introduced in 2013, aimed at boosting bank 
lending to the economy through the incentives consisting in (i) easing of capital 
requirements upon the increase of credit; and (ii) increasing capital requirements 
upon the growth of investment in non-resident counterparties. The application of 
this package was initially decided for 2013-2015. Given its positive results, 
at the end of 2015, it was decided to extend the effects during 2016 as well. 
 
Drafting of the law on savings and loan associations
Year 2015 marked the finalisation of the draft-law “On Savings and Loan 
Associations and their Unions” by the Bank of Albania, initiated in 2014. In 
this regard, round tables with savings and loans associations (SLAs) were held 
to present and consult developments in the new legal framework and respective 
expectations. These round tables were organised jointly with the World Bank. 
The new draft-law will further contribute to long-term developments in the SLAs 
market and is expected to be approved at the Parliament in the first half of 2016. 

Recovery plans 
Seven banks in the Albanian banking system (systemically important banks), 
drafted for the first time the recovery plans in compliance with the Bank of 
Albania’s guideline “On Recovery Plans”. These plans are drafted preliminarily 
to serve as a guideline in the event the institution is subject of financial stress. 
The submitted plans were assessed during the year, with assistance from 
World Bank experts. This process aimed at not only analysing the compliance 
with the regulatory requirements laid down by the Bank of Albania, but also 
the drafting of some requirements for approximating the plan with the latest 
guidelines of the European Banking Authority, Financial Stability Bank of 
Albaniard and Directive 2014/59/EU “For the recovery and resolution of 
credit institutions and investment firms”, and with the best practices. 

II.4.6. Cooperation with other institutions

Cooperation with national authorities
The cooperation with various institutions, which monitor special activities in 
the financial market, continued during 2015. Most notably, cooperation with:

-	 Albanian Deposit Insurance Agency, through the regional workshops 
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with banks’ branches throughout the country, in the framework of the 
communication and training campaign on data maintaining and public 
information; 

-	 Ministry of Foreign Affairs, regarding the United Nations SC resolution 
and the Decision of the Council of Ministers on introduction of sanctions 
and updating the list of terrorism financing; 

-	 Tirana District Court and the Prosecution Office (in collaboration with 
judiciary police), 

-	 Gambling Monitoring Unit on blocking the guarantee fund; 
-	 General Directorate of Customs on the execution of guarantees on 

excises. 

The close cooperation with the General Directorate for the Prevention of Money 
Laundering (GDPML) continued in 2015, consisting in the share of opinions 
and expertise during the year. 

The collaboration regarding the prevention of money laundering, given its 
importance to other public institutions, is not limited only with the GDPML. This 
collaboration has consisted in inter-institutional meetings and discussion tables 
with the Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Justice, Prosecution Office, 
State Informative Service, Financial Supervision Authority, General Directorate 
of Police, etc. 

Cooperation with foreign institutions
Cooperation with foreign supervisory authorities is based on formalising 
the relations, through memorandums of understanding (MoUs) with relevant 
counterparts. In concrete terms, we have periodically cooperated with the 
regulatory authorities of Italy, Greece, Austria, Kosovo, etc. The collaboration 
is deemed crucial, in particular with those home countries of foreign banks 
operating in Albania, where the coordination of joint actions increased the 
supervisory effectiveness. In the framework of collaboration with supervisory 
authorities, a joint inspection was organised with the Central Bank of the 
Republic of Kosovo. The visits and discussions provided for sharing experience 
and information and strengthening the relationships between both institutions. 

The communication with the European Central Bank, the Bank of Greece and 
parent banks of Albanian banks with Greek capital was also important. These 
communications aimed at sharing the information on the stress-test process, 
which was followed by the re-capitalisation process. 

Also, the Bank of Albania has cooperated with the delegation of the CoE 
Economic Crime and Cooperation Unit on the technical assessment of the 
situation in Albania on anti-corruption and money laundering issues. This 
collaboration took place in the framework of the Agreement between the 
European Union and the Council of Europe with Western Balkan countries 
and Turkey, named Horizontal Instrument of Financing, under IPA II. 
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II.5.	Payment system 

•	 To accomplish its legal responsibilities on payment systems, the Bank of  
Albania promotes the smooth functioning of the internal payment system in Albania. 
During 2015, the Bank of Albania has undertaken concrete steps aiming at 
achieving the objective, by promoting developments, both as the systems’ operator 
and their overseer and reformer. Besides, the infrastructure of payments, the Bank 
of Albania already provides an infrastructure on securities. Also, attention was 
paid to the completion and improvement of the payment system’s regulatory 
framework, promotion of inter-institutional collaboration, expansion of research 
and increase of transparency. 

To strengthen the oversight of payment systems, the Bank of Albania, during 
2015, undertook a set of measures aimed at improving the regulatory 
framework and procedures on payment systems oversight. One of the key 
developments in this regard was the approval of the Regulation “On the 
licensing, regulation and oversight of payment systems and clearing houses”. 
This Regulation seeks to establish an incentive in the payment systems market, 
to encourage private initiatives on the clearing and settlement of payments. 
The establishment of infrastructure for the clearing and settlement of payments 
contributes to promoting the use of electronic payment instruments, hence the 
reduction of cash in economy.

In compliance with the reformatory role in the field of payment systems, 
the Bank of Albania has intensified the efforts to promote inter-institutional 
cooperation and research in the field of payments. The National Payment 
Systems Committee (NPSC) held its first meeting in October 2015. The scope 
of the NPSC is to support and contribute to enhancing the security, stability 
and efficiency of the national payment system in Albania, through the inter-
institutional cooperation. In addition, the NPSC serves as a forum to facilitate 
discussion over issues related to payment systems and instruments, with a view 
to drafting necessary recommendations to corroborate decision-making for 
the involved institutions. In the first meeting, NCPS dealt with some important 
projects in the field of small-value payments, which aim at promoting the use of 
payment instruments, through the increase of security and effectiveness, while 
the reduction of costs on their use has a considerable impact. 

Also, the Bank of Albania, during 2015, continued to cooperate with the 
World Bank in the framework of the finalisation of the project on the study 
of costs for the use of payment instruments, and for the identification of other 
fields, where both institutions may cooperate to reform the payment services 
market in Albania. 

As the overseer and catalyser of payment systems, the Bank of Albania has 
adopted the “Methodology on the reporting of electronic payment instruments 
from the electronic money institutions”. The establishment of the methodology 
was a response to the licensing of two electronic money institutions during 
2015. The compilation of this methodology was based on the practices and 
standards of the Bank for International Settlements and the European Central 
Bank. The implementation of these standards in the Albanian environment 
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considerably supports the monitoring process and possibilities to undertake 
initiatives to encourage money institutions through comparative analyses.

Box 5	 AFISaR and its impact on AIPS 

The Bank of Albania established the central system for the registration and settlement 
of securities in AFISaR, in the framework of boosting the development of financial 
markets in Albania, and of minimising risks from the manual process of settlement 
and registration of government’s securities in its transactions. Considering that the 
issue and exchange of securities bear the movement of funds for the finalisation of a 
transaction, the interconnection of the AFISaR system with AIPS, may be considered 
crucial for the smooth functioning of both systems. In this regard, the establishment of 
AFISaR is assessed to directly affect the activity of AIPS. This box aims to identify the 
impacts of the interconnection between AIPS and AFISaR, which affect the activity 
of AIPS, and thus, the results of the analysis. 

In more concrete terms, due to the fact that, AFISaR, related to the part of securities 
settlement, observes the Delivery Versus Payment, a core principle on the securities 
settlement, the securities’ settlement is projected to be conducted in compliance with 
the models that eliminate the risk.I In addition, the automation of securities settlement 
through AFISaR has a direct impact on the number and value of the settled payments, 
if considering, that previously the settlements was conducted on net basis. The main 
impact of this development may be identified in “settlements for net clearing systems”II, 
where the settlement of securities is reflected. The Bank of Albania, with regard 
to the functions of AFISaR, holds only the securities’ accounts of individual clients, 
by transferring their cash accounts to commercial banks. This has automatically 
increased considerably the number of transactions that are processed through AIPS. 

Beyond the impact on the number and value of the securities settled in AIPS, the 
establishment of AFISaR affects also the liquidity need of participants, as a result of 
the settlement on a gross basis. In this framework, the Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) is 
being used somewhat more broadlyIII.

i	 “Principal risk” means the risk that a counterparty will lose the full value involved in a 
transaction, i.e. either the risk that a seller of a financial asset will irrevocably deliver the 
asset, but not receive payment, or the risk that a buyer of a financial asset will irrevocably 
pay for, but not receive the asset;

II	 This item includes the settlements in AECH and the international schemes of Visa and 
MasterCard cards. 

III	 An important instrument in AIPS is the Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) provided by the Bank of 
Albania to participating banks for the intraday management of liquidity and to guarantee 
the continuing and smooth interbank functioning of payments.

Performance of AIPS and AECH

AIPS - Albanian Interbank Payment System for large-value payments
In compliance with the objectives of the Bank of Albania, the payment systems 
showed security and effectiveness during 2015. The volume of transactions 
processed in AIPS amounted to 123,578 transactions, with the value of 
circulated liquidity totalling ALL 6,329 billion. The volume of the processed 



Annual Report 2015

Bank of Albania 79

transactions in AIPS increased considerably, compared to the previous year, 
by about 42.98%, meanwhile the value of the processed transactions fell by 
12.74%. The increase in the number of payments processed in AIPS reflects 
also the processing of securities transactions at gross basis in AFISaR. 

Table 9.	AIPS activity 
AIPS 2014 2015
Number of transactions 86,430 123,578
Value of transactions (in ALL million) 7,253,748 6,329,598
Average value per transaction (in ALL million) 83.93  51.22

Source: Bank of Albania. 

By typology of transactions processed in AIPS, the volume of payments for  
clients (this item has the main share of 47.88% of payments in terms of number) 
was upward in terms of value, by 7.03%. In terms of volume, the number of 
transactions fell 1,263 transactions, compared to the previous year. On the 
other hand, the main item in terms of value, “transactions/financial instruments 
of Bank of Albania” (42.69%) fell in terms of absolute value by 11.25%, 
compared to the previous year, thus dictating a more limited presence of the 
monetary authority in the market, given the ample liquidity conditions. 

The Intraday Loan Facility (ILF) increased, in terms of both number and value (by 
23.88% and 7.44% respectively), albeit reflecting a fall of the average value 
per transaction. The need for more ILF shows an increase of banks’ demand 
for liquidity. This development shows the beginning of AFISaR activity, which, 
based on the new way of collateral management, affects also the need of 
participants for liquidity. It should be emphasised that the increase in the use 
of Intraday Loan Facility does not reflect an increase of the system’s exposure 
to liquidity risk. 

Chart 28. Activity in AIPS by transaction in number (left) and value (right)

Source: Bank of Albania.
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AECH- Albanian Electronic Clearing House
During 2015, some 466,708 payments were 
cleared in AECH, with around ALL 180,000 as an 
average value per transaction. The activity of AECH 
was up by 5.12%, compared to the previous year, 
in terms of the volume of transactions. The value of 
cleared transactions rose by 1.53%. 

Payments by participants show that the use of AECH 
by banks for payments of their clients continued to 
increase. In this regard, banking activity increased 
considerably the number of transactions by 15.66% 
and their value by 4.99%, compared to 2014. 
The upward trend of the number of transactions by 
banks shows the increasing familiarisation of the 
public with payment instruments (interbank credit 
transfers), and reflects the measures taken by the 
Bank of Albania in this regard47. 

Table 10. Share of participants’ activities in AECH, in number and value 
AECH - number 2014 2015
Ministry of Finance and Bank of Albania 56.68% 52.34%
Banks 43.32% 47.66%
Total number 443,977 466,708
AECH - value (in ALL million) 2014 2015
Ministry of Finance and Bank of Albania 50.20% 48.50%
Banks 49.80% 51.50%
Total value 83,133.08 84,404.99

Source: Bank of Albania. 

47	 Since 2011, the Bank of Albania has increased the limit value for transactions in AECH, added 
a third clearing session in the AECH, differentiated tariffs during the sessions and reduced the 
commissions and tariffs applied for this system, as well as set out a maximum value on bank 
commissions for ALL payments cleared in the AECH.

Chart 29. ILF number and average value (left); and
ILF value and AIPS performance (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 30. Number and value of transactions 
cleared in AECH 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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By session, the chart shows a higher concentration of transactions cleared in 
the first session in the AECH, avoiding the overload in payments flows in the 
last clearing session. As a result, the additional risks on the smooth functioning 
of the payment systems are minimised. 

Payment instruments
Banks’ reporting on payment instruments show that about 11.3 million payment 
transactions were made, totalling ALL 4.603 billion, reflecting 7.75% growth 
in the number and 7.60% in the value of payments during 2015.

From the total number of clients’ payments, during this period, a high use of 
credit transfer took place during this period (at 67.57%), of which, 81.63% 
were payments instructed in paper form. During the recent years, paper credit 
transfers contracted, meanwhile non-paper credit transfers (home banking) 
and card payments increased.

Chart 31. Transactions cleared in AECH, volume (left) and value (right), in 2015

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 32. Volume of payment instruments in years-number (left) and use of payment 
instruments by households and businesses during 2015 (right) 

Source: Bank of Albania.
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A highlight of electronic payment instruments was the introduction of electronic 
money payment instrument, from both bank and non-bank financial institutions. 
The introduction of this instrument in the Albanian market would provide a 
positive impact on the financial inclusion of the population in financial services. 

Home Banking
Recently, home banking has been increasingly expanding in the Albanian 
market. After their introduction in 2005 by one bank of the system, 13 banks 
provided home-banking services as at end-2015. The products provide the 
remote access to the bank account, via on-line, telephone or software that the 
bank makes available to its clients. Banks reported an increase of 12.39% 
in the volume of “home banking” payments. Also, the value of transactions 
increased considerably by 71.89%, from the previous year. The rise of home 
banking transactions dictates at a considerable degree the developments of 
the market in this regard. 

Table 11. Number and value of reported home banking transactions 
Year 2012 Year 2013 Year 2014 Year 2015

Number of transactions 236,215 323.676 1,249,294 1,404,052 
Value of transactions (in ALL million) 117.233 101.067 164.502 282.756

Source: Banks’ reporting according to the “Methodology for reporting payment instruments”.

The increasingly upward trend of home banking is 
closely connected to the presence of infrastructure 
and the expansion of possibilities to internet access 
even through a smart phone. Banks policies in the 
framework of promoting these alternative means of 
payments are assessed to have played a positive 
role in this regard.
 
Bank cards 
As at end-2015, 14 banks were licensed as card 
issuers in the Republic of Albania. Eight banks were 
also cards accepters, unchanged from end-2014. 

The infrastructure provided by banks licensed as 
card issuers and those licensed as cards accepters 
shows that, as at end-2015, the number of ATMs and 
POS terminals was slightly up, by 1.9% and 2.3%, 
respectively, compared to 2014. Notwithstanding 

the positive upward trend in the number of POS terminals, their concentration 
continues to be high in Tirana,48 79.7%. Also, virtual POS terminals showed 
an increase. The introduction of terminals for electronic money cards49 was a 
novelty in this year. 

48	  Districts are divided according to the branches of the Bank of Albania. 
49	 Electronic money is a payment instrument, different from the remote payment instruments. 

E-money is an electronic store of monetary value and provides to the holder the possibility to 
make payments electronically. This instrument may be reloaded at a monetary value whenever 
necessary, within the limits set out by the bank of Albania. Electronic money may be stored 
on an electronic device or remotely at a server (for example PAYPAL) and is not conditioned 
by the need to own a bank account.

Chart 33. Share of online accessible accounts 
against total accounts and online accessible 

accounts utilisation ratio*

*Utilisation ratio shows the average use of an online accessible 
account for transactions.

Source: Bank of Albania.
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During 2015, the issue of debit and credit cards increased by 6.3% and 
9.9%, respectively. Also, the presentation of electronic-money cards in the 
market showed an increasing pace during 2015. 

Table 12. Number of issued/active cards, as reported by banks 
Number of cards 31 December 2014 31 December 2015
Cash and payment cards 862.019 940.278
 1- Debit cards 777.195 826.280
 2- Credit cards 73.804 81.125
 3- Electronic-money cards 0 32.873

Source: Banks’ reporting according to the “Methodology for reporting payment instruments”.

The use of bank cards in ATMs and POS terminals shows that cash withdrawals 
at ATMS have the main share of transactions processed via cards. This indicator 
reveals that the economy is still highly based on cash. Nevertheless, during 
2015, the number and value of payments via cards at physical and virtual 
POS terminals increased considerably, by 16.8% and 12.4%, respectively, in 
line with the positive trend of the recent years. In relative terms, the payments 
through via pre-paid cards stood at 6.30% of payments through debit and 
credit cards. 

Table 13. Number and value of transactions through payment cards as reported by 
banks 

Volume Value (ALL millions)
2013 2014 2015 2013 2014 2015

1- ATM cash withdrawals 11,729,920 12,205,989 13,105,771 117,195 125,048 136,627
2- ATM depositing 21 6 816 0.09 0.01 116.45
3- ATM transfer orders 61 40 63 0.75 0.65 0.58
4- Cash withdrawal at POS terminals 3 881 580 460.17 113.73 14.06
5- Card payments at POS terminals 1,496,640 2,124,304 2,481,524 12,511 17,921 20,141
- through debit cards 864,730 1,212,278 1,490,416 5.74 7,915 9,059.31
- through credit cards 631,910 912,026 991,108 6.77 10,006.15 11,082.19
6- E-money payments (POS) 0.00 0.00 155,873 0.00 0.00 618.04
 Total card transactions 13,226,645 14,331,220 15,744,627 130,167 143,084 157,518

Source: Banks’ reporting according to the “Methodology for reporting payment instruments” 

Source: Bank of Albania.

Chart 34. Developments in ATM and POS terminals (left);
developments in debit and credit cards (right)

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

90,000

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

600,000

700,000

800,000

900,000

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Debit cards  (left)
Credit cards (right)

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

 ATM (left)
 POS (Point of Sale), right



Annual Report2015

84 Bank of Albania

Cash transactions 
Cash transactions of clients at banks’ counters rose in number and fell in value 
for 2015, compared to the previous year. In 2015, the number of transactions 
at bank cash desks increased by 5.4% in terms of number, and fell by 4.4% 
in terms of value, compared to the previous year.

 
Table 14. Number and value of cash transactions at banks’ counters 

  2014 2015
Number Value (ALL million) Number Value (ALL million)

Cash transactions at bank desks 10,853,254 2,440,046 11,434,237 2,332,974
I .Cash deposits at bank desks 6,753,568 1,351,998 7,637,418 1,378,922
II. Cash withdrawals at bank desks 4,099,686 1,088,048 3,796,819 954.052

Source: Reports submitted by banks according to the “Methodology for reporting payment 
instruments”. 

II.6. Money issue 

The Bank of Albania has the exclusive right for the issue and circulation of the national 
currency – the Albanian lek. It determines the form, dimensions, weight, model, and 
other features of Albanian banknotes and coins of legal tender in Albania, as well as 
coins and banknotes for numismatic purposes. 

Banknotes in circulation50

As at end-2015, there were 125,314,626 banknotes in circulation, worth ALL 
235.393 billion. Compared to 2014, the number decreased by 5.4 million 
banknotes, while their value increased by 5.6%. The change in this indicators 
is attributable to the change in the structure in favour of 5000 Lek and 2000 
Lek banknotes. Also, the volume of payment requests from commercial banks 
increased by 6.4%. The average value of a banknote in circulation was ALL 
1,878 at end-2015, from ALL 1,706 at end-2014.

50	  It is the number and value of banknotes put in circulation by the Bank of Albania. 

31.12.2014

Chart 35. Structure of banknotes in circulation 
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Coins in circulation 
As at end-2015, there were 158,396,989 coins in circulation, worth ALL 
3.799 billion. Compared to 2014, the number of coins increased by 7.6% 
and their value increased by 8.2%. As at end-2015, the overall coin to 
banknote value ratio was largely unchanged from a year earlier.

Indicators of currency in circulation 
At end-2015, the ratio of currency in circulation to the M2 aggregate was 
31.9%, from 31.3% at end-2014. Further, the coefficient of the currency in 
circulation51 at the Bank of Albania in 2015 was 0.409, from 0.568 in 
2014. 

Recycling of cash and quality of banknotes in circulation 
In 2015, some 112 million banknotes were processed, which were checked 
for their authenticity and fitness for circulation. The sorting rate52 was 25%, 
from 28.86% during 2014. Unfit banknotes were replaced case by case with 
new banknotes fit for circulation. The banknote circulation rate53 for 2015 was 
0.9, implying that a banknote is returned to the Bank of Albania’s cash desks, 
on average, less than once a year. This rate is higher for 500 Lekë and 1000 
Lekë banknotes, and lower for 5000 Lekë and 2000 Lekë banknotes, which 
shows that the latter are returned less at the cash desks of the Bank of Albania.

Protecting banknotes and coins against counterfeiting
The Bank of Albania pays attention and encourages the continuous collaboration 
with commercial banks, to increase and strengthen the detecting and 
preventive capacities against counterfeit banknotes and coins in circulation. 
During 2015, the number of counterfeit banknotes and coins was slightly 
51	R atio of banknotes and coins delivered at the Bank of Albania to the average annual number 

of banknotes and coins in circulation.
52	R atio of unfit banknotes and coins to the total number of banknotes and coins sorted in a year.
53	R atio of banknotes delivered at the Bank of Albania cash desks to the average annual number 

of banknotes in circulation.

 31.12.2015 

Source: Bank of Albania.

31.12.2014 

Chart 36. Structure of coins in circulation 
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down compared to 2014. Overall, the number of counterfeit banknotes and 
coins was lower and insignificant in relation to the quantity of coins and 
banknotes in circulation. Banknotes evidenced as counterfeit by the technical 
analysis are mainly reproductions by ink-jet toner in colour, and in fewer cases 
by offset, combined with the application of artisanal methods for the imitation 
of some mainly visual security features.

Box 6: Commemorative coins of the Bank of Albania

The Bank of Albania, in addition to the legal obligation for the issue of “lekë” coins 
and banknotes, which are legal tender, is the only one issuer of commemorative 
coins and banknotes in Albania. The issue of commemorative coins from the 
national bank in Albania started in 1926, when the National Bank of Albania 
(1925-1945) issued the first national currency. The first commemorative coin was 
also put in circulation. It was worth 20 gold franks and commemorated “The Tirana 
Pact” or “The Pact on Friendship and Security” signed between Italy and Albania 
on 27 November 1926. The National Bank of Albania, through the design of the 
coin, aimed at transmitting the message that the two people had a long-standing 
friendship. The obverse features the portrait of the Albanian National Hero, Gjergj 
Kastriot Skënderbeu, the reverse features a stylised reproduction of the winged lion 
of Venice, symbolising the wars that Albanians and Venetians fought together. The 
State Bank of Albania (1945-1992) continued to issue commemorative coins. 

The Bank of Albania has issued a variety of commemorative coins, in precious 
and simple metals. They feature events and important personalities of the Albanian 
history. During 2015, four commemorative coins in gold and silver, of 50 lekë and 
100 lekë, were issued and exposed for the first time on the occasion of the 105th 
Anniversary of the Congress of Manastir, which established the foundations of the 
Albanian language and determined its alphabet. The coins commemorated also the 
the 135 Anniversary of Albanian League of Prizren (1878-2013), which is known 
as the first Albanian political and military organisation with a patriotic inspiration.
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II.7. Foreign-exchange reserve management

•	 The Bank of Albania is the national responsible authority for maintaining and 
managing the foreign exchange reserve of the Republic of Albania. It uses its 
best opportunities to achieve and maintain a certain level of foreign exchange 
reserve, conducive to financial stability, and in accordance with the monetary 
policy. 

The objectives and criteria on foreign exchange reserve management are 
stipulated in the regulation “On foreign exchange reserve management policy”, 
approved by the Supervisory Council. The primary objectives of this process 
are ensuring liquidity and security, whereas ensuring returns from reserve funds 
management represents the third objective as long as it does not infringe the 
objectives for liquidity and security. Also, the Supervisory Council approves the 
allocation of competences and responsibilities among the organisational units, 
engaged with the foreign-exchange reserve management. The Supervisory 
Council, in addition to the definition of objectives, approves the qualitative 
criteria to organise the reserve fund by tranches, the universe of classes of 
permissible instruments, the criteria to select the counterpart for investment and 
to carry out other activities to serve the reserve management, as well as the 
budget of the acceptable risk. Based on the adopted qualitative criteria, the 
Investment Committee approves the quantitative criteria, in accordance with 
the thresholds set out by the Supervisory Council and monitors the investment 
of the reserve portfolio and the generated return. The Monetary Operations 
Department is the responsible unit for managing the foreign-exchange reserve 
at the Bank of Albania. This unit is responsible for establishing the necessary 
infrastructure for the investment of reserve, realising the investments operations, 
assessing, monitoring and regularly reporting on the level of the portfolio risk 
and the result deriving from the investment. The Investment Committee, in 
compliance with the criteria set forth by the Supervisory Council, shall approve 
the names of the entities permitted for investing the foreign exchange reserve, 
which include USA, Japan, United Kingdom and Eurozone governments/
central banks, that are generally rated at least A- (for Eurozone governments 
the accepted minimum rating is BBB-). The names permitted for investment 
include also multiparty institutions or other institutions rated at least AA-. 

Efforts for diversifying the reserve portfolio continued during 2015. New names 
were included in the list of entities for reserve investment, with the aim to improve 
the return on reserve investment per risk unit. The result established under the 
management of reserve portfolio for 2015 was positive, albeit at low rates, 
reflecting an environment at rather low interest rates. The active management 
of portfolios, realised in compliance with the limits set forth according to risk 
budget, provided positive contribution in the total result. After an analysis on 
the optimisation of the portfolio return, the exposure in portfolio established 
with governments rated BBB. Meanwhile, the exposure against governments 
rated as BBB continues to be allowed for the purposes of active management. 
Positions taken in these names and the investment result are monitored through 
defined indicators, in the framework of the special mechanism established for 
the management of credit and market risks for this part of the reserve portfolio.
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Year 2015 was characterised by a further decline in negative territory of 
interest rates for treasury issues in the euro area. Consequently, investment 
opportunities at a positive return rate related to euro-denominated portfolio 
reduced further, compared to the previous year. As at end-2015, around 80% 
of investments in euro-denominated portfolio are at a negative interest rate. 

In the framework of the agreement “On the Reserves Advisory and Management 
Program (RAMP)”, capacity building for the new staff and consolidation for 
the existing staff continued, through training and certified programs, subject of 
sponsorship by this institution. These qualifications have aimed at consolidating 
and enhancing the degree of professionalism of employees committed in the 
process of foreign-exchange reserve management and of the staff supporting 
or monitoring the performance of this process. The World Bank provided 
technical assistance in two main directions, during 2015: 

a.	 establishment of a process on risk budgeting during the active 
management of foreign-exchange reserve portfolios. This process 
will provide a better analysis of strategies implemented during the 
investment of reserve portfolios, for a more optimal allocation of risk 
budgeting;

b.	 improvement of information technology infrastructure, supporting the 
foreign exchange reserve management. During the previous year, the 
Bank of Albania was committed in preliminary tests of the new version 
of the System for Portfolio Management, which will offer additional 
improvements with regard to the processing of operations and reduction 
of operational risk degree. 

Statistics on foreign-exchange reserve in 2015

During 2015, the gross foreign-exchange reserve, estimated and reported in euro, 
increased by about EUR 688.94 million, registering EUR 2,881.27 million as at 
end-December. The key factors contributing to the gross reserve are as follows: 

A.	 Transactions with the Ministry of Finance provided a positive impact, at EUR 
383.13 million, according to the following items:

•	 net inflows from disbursed loans, at EUR 430.32 million;
-	I nternational Monetary Fund (IMF), at EUR 95.14 million;
-	I nternational Development Agency (IDA) etc., at EUR 335.18 million.
•	 inflows from the issue of foreign currency debt, at EUR 512.34 million;
-	 in the external market, at EUR 447.06 million;
-	 in the domestic market, at EUR 65.28 million; 
•	 inflows from other incomes denominated in foreign currency, at EUR 31.30 

million;
•	 Transfers (including debt servicing), at EUR 590.83 million.

B.	 Transactions with commercial banks and other entities provided a positive 
impact, at EUR 204.76 million, according to the following items:
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•	 Commercial banks’ deposits at the Bank of Albania to comply with the required 
reserve and transactions related to their capital, etc., at EUR 649.74 million;

•	 Transfers: at EUR 446.07 million;
•	 Net outflows for the account of other entities (DIA, etc.), at EUR 1.09 million;

C.	 Bank of Albania’s transactions provided a positive impact, at EUR 53.95 
million, according to the following items:

•	 Buying foreign currency from commercial banks and other institutions, at  
EUR 23.95 million:

-	 from banks: at EUR 22.03 million;
-	 from other institutions: at EUR 1.92 million;
•	 Receipts generated from foreign-exchange reserve investments, are estimated 

at about EUR 41.33 million. These receipts represent the bulk of payments 
in the form of interests and coupons which are cash based calculated,

•	 Settlement of Bank of Albania’s dues to the IMF is estimated at EUR 5.44 million;
•	 Transfers, around EUR 5.89 million;

D.	 Market factors provided a positive impact, estimated at EUR 47.10 million, 
according to the following items:

•	 Foreign-exchange rate volatility of currencies composing the foreign-exchange 
reserve influenced positively the gross reserve reported in euro, registering 
an effect of about EUR 79.22 million.

•	 The portfolio revaluation effect, as a result of interest rate volatility, is estimated 
at a negative value of EUR 32.12 million*.

*	 This value also contains the effect arising from the depositing of securities’ coupons.

II.8. Statistics 

•	 Pursuant to its legal obligations, the Bank of Albania collects, processes, and 
publishes official statistics, by categories set forth in the Program of Official 
Statistics. Also, Bank of Albania produces other statistics necessary to support 
its main functions, such as: design and implementation of the monetary policy, 
banking supervision and maintenance of the financial stability. All objectives of the 
Bank of Albania in the field of statistics are guided by the requirements of European 
Union structures on statistical reporting of member states and acceding countries, 
meanwhile the manuals, guidelines and all other international standards serve as 
the methodological basis applied on official statistics. The Bank of Albania, as a 
statistical agency, reports regularly to national and international institutions, and 
is subject of the domestic and external programs of assessment and monitoring. 
During 2015, the statistical function of the Bank of Albania focused on: production 
of some new statistical indicators, perfection and development of methodologies 
and the consolidation of practices and methods of statistical compilation. 

Statistical indicators
In 2015, the Bank of Albania published for the first time three tables of annual 
periodicity, containing information on the flow of foreign direct investments 
by country, and by economic activity, and the situation of foreign direct 
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investments by country and economic activity. During 2015, several measures 
were taken to provide the compilation and disclosure of the quarterly statistics 
of international investments positions and of foreign direct investments, which 
will take place during 2016. 

In compliance with the obligation laid down in the Program of Official Statistics 
2012-2016, on the establishment of a pilot project and methodological 
documents to construct statistics of financial accounts, work continued 
on the compilation of annual statistics for the non-residents sector, general 
government sector and the non-financial corporates sector, households and 
non-profit institutions serving households. Statistics of financial accounts for 
the financial sector, including the central bank, commercial banks, insurance 
companies, pension funds, investment funds, non-bank financial institutions and 
other financial providers, are compiled on quarterly and annual basis, starting 
from end-2013. The financial accounts are completed also for constructing 
“To Whom from Whom Matrices”, for “loan”, “deposit” and “securities” 
instruments. These data will be published by sector, starting with financial 
sector data for the end of 2016. 

Methodology and projects
On November 2015, the “IPA 2012 Multi-beneficiary Statistical Cooperation 
Programme” project financed by the European Union was completed 
successfully. In the framework of this project, a detailed methodology of 
international services statistics, and a technical plan for the future activities 
were compiled, and for the first time, a part of the data were reported in line 
with the requirement for reporting at Eurostat. 

During 2015, work continued intensively for the finalisation of the Automated 
Regulatory and Statistical Reporting project for the reporting entities in the 
banking system. In the framework of this project, all the requirements of the 
Bank of Albania to commercial banks on the statistical and regulatory reporting 
were reviewed, aiming at the highest integration of the two requirements units. 
At the end of 2015, the transfer to the automated system of reporting was 
completed for all requirements laid down in the regulatory acts adopted till 
2015, as well as the major part of requirements of units that produce statistics 
at the Bank of Albania. The transfer from paper-based to entirely electronic-
based reporting from commercial banks at the Bank of Albania, for regulatory 
and statistical purposes, is projected to be completed within the first part of 
2016. 

The project on the Automated Regulatory and Statistical Reporting is considered 
a possibility to review or introduce the new methodological requirements in 
the field of monetary statistics, financial accounts statistics and external sector 
statistics. This process is realised through the improvement of reporting forms 
or the inclusion of the new forms in the reporting system, built according to 
the classifications, concepts and definition stipulated in international statistical 
manuals and methodologies. The sixth edition of the Balance of Payments 
and International Investment Position Manual (BPM6), published by the IMF in 
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2009, the European System of National and Regional Accounts (ESA 2010) 
and the System of National Accounts (SNA 2008, United Nations), serves 
as the basis methodology for the new and reviewed reporting requirements. 
As a result of these measures, during 2016, we project to build the improved 
monetary indicators related to the institutional sectorisation, and of interest 
rates indicators on the outstanding amounts of deposits and loans, according 
to the format implemented by the European Central Bank. 

Cooperation
As a statistical agency, the Bank of Albania regularly cooperates with other 
statistical agencies54 and institutions which use these statistics, both on 
activities and products stipulated in the Program of Official Statistics, and the 
new requirements to the National Statistical System. During 2015, the Bank 
of Albania was represented and actively participated in the Inter-institutional 
Working Group for Chapter 18 (Statistics) of the Acquis, and in the Inter-
institutional Working Group for the preparation and reporting to Eurostat of 
the Excessive Deficit Procedure55. The Bank of Albania, as the responsible 
agency for the compilation of the monetary and financial statistics, and 
external sector statistics, has acted as a coordinating agency for the IMF 
initiatives, related to the dissemination of statistics,56 and is actively committed 
to the strengthening of standards from all statistical agencies. The signing of 
the Memorandum of Understanding among three statistical agencies was an 
objective of the work during 2015. This Memorandum will aim to strengthen 
the technical cooperation among the agencies and increase the quality of 
statistical production for the National Statistical System as a whole. Together 
with the other two statistical agencies, the Bank of Albania was contacted 
by a Mission of Eurostat in July 2015. This mission assessed the degree of 
implementation of the principles set out in the European Statistics Code of 
Practice, by the Albanian statistical agencies. Some of the recommendations 
in the Assessment Report were implemented within 2015, while the remaining 
is included in the short and medium-term plans of the Bank of Albania, as a 
statistical agency. 

II.9. Research

•	 The Bank of Albania aims to base its decision-making process on a sound 
foundation and a body of tested knowledge about the Albanian economy. 
Investment in creating solid research capacities contributes to improving Bank of 
Albania’s reputation and credibility as an institution with advanced methodologies 
and the required knowledge for guaranteeing the country’s macroeconomic 
equilibriums. Therefore, the active development of research assumes a primary 
role in Bank of Albania’s development strategy.

The Bank for Albania’s research has contributed to enhancing the level of 
knowledge on the Albanian economy and expanding the portfolio of research 

54	  Institute of Statistics (INSTAT) and Ministry of Finance.
55	  Groups are chaired by the Albanian Institute of Statistics (INSTAT). 
56	  Initiatives of GDDS, SDDS and GDDS. 
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materials mainly in applied economics. The research aimed at supporting the 
decision-making process for the drafting and implementation of central bank’s 
policies, and the development of new methodologies of empirical analyses. 
Research results of the Bank of Albania endeavour to employ contemporary 
methods of empirical assessment, identify the problems and suggest solutions 
on the proposed issues, about the effectiveness of the monetary policy and 
safeguarding financial stability. During 2015, the Bank of Albania conducted 
more than 20 research and empirical analyses in these two aspects. Other 
areas of scientific research include the problems in transition economies, and 
theoretical researches, about the application of new methodologies in the 
forecasting and economic analyses. 

The monetary policy studies consisted in: the macroeconomic effects of 
monetary policy transmission, the existence of banking credit channel in the 
transmission mechanism, determinants of micro and macro-economic margin, 
transmission of import prices to producer prices, etc. The research works 
tried to bring together the monetary, financial and statistical developments 
of national accounts, to investigate the mutual impact of the real economy 
and the financial stability on the performance of the monetary policy and its 
transmission to the economy. 

Related to financial stability, the research works focused on the efficiency of 
credit allocation, the signalling role of confidentiality index in the banking 
system, the impact of financial sector on economic growth, etc. The studies on 
monetary financial markets show that the current models of the financial market 
expansion have reached their maximum effects on the economic activity. The 
deepening of financial market and the presentation of new financial institutions 
and instruments should drive to the encouragement of financial sector. The 
study of the exchange rate, shows that the interventions of the Bank of Albania 
in the foreign exchange market, contributed in the return of the exchange 
rate to objective values or “defined” by the economic fundamentals. Also, it 
is noted that under the current conditions, there is a light, albeit controlled, 
increase of pressure transmission from the exchange rate to prices. 

The Macro-econometric Model for the Albanian Economy (MEAM) was re-
assessed during 2015. The MEAM model re-assessment, overall, maintains 
the previous version structure, but simultaneously improves the economic 
analysis, based on the new statistical information and by addressing “the 
shortfalls” concluded from the application of the model’s previous versions. In 
concrete terms, these changes consist in the replacement of some time series 
of better proxies; in methodological changes of some series; also the increase 
of new transmission channels, previously assessed off the model. The MEAM 
model and its satellite models were used to assess future developments of 
main macroeconomic indicators, and various risk scenarios in terms of price 
stability, financial stability and macroeconomic stability.

The studies and other research projects are focused on the expansion of the 
database (mainly those of micro-economic character), through new surveys or 
the calculation of the economic and financial indicators at unit level (bank/
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enterprise) and the research of the information that flows arrives from these 
data. The purpose is their use in the future, as indicators of the analysis and 
forecast, in function of the decision-making process. 

These studies were topics of discussion in the activities and conferences 
organised by the Bank of Albania, and contributed in the strengthening of 
the analysis and forecasts for the purposes of decision-making process. In this 
framework, for the ninth regular year, Bank of Albania organised the Workshop 
of Economic Research in Southeaster Europe on “Rethinking Economic Policies 
and Central Banks’ Methodologies”. The purpose of this activity is to serve as 
a presentation and discussion means of the research work among researchers 
and policy-makers, to contribute for the deepening of economic research, and 
to expand the knowledge on definite features of economic developments and 
methodologies of scientific research. 20 research works, were presented in 
the workshop, from central banks of different countries, as Bank of Italy, Bank 
of Greece, Bank of Monte Negro, Bank of Turkey and academic institutions 
as Paris School of Business, Scientific Academy of Hungary. 

A more complete and detailed information on the research works of the Bank 
of Albania is found at the web page of the Bank of Albania: “Publications/
Researches and Working papers”. Other researches are published as articles 
in the “Economic Review” of the Bank of Albania. Semi-annual brochure on 
“Scientific novelties at the Bank of Albania” informs about the newly completed 
research materials or about those in process, materials presented in the “Friday 
Seminars”, or in other activities organized by the Bank of Albania throughout 
the year.

II.10. European integration and international 
cooperation

•	 European integration is a national objective. On 24 June 2014, Albania was 
granted the EU candidate status. Periodic EC reports assess the contribution of 
the Bank of Albania to maintaining macroeconomic stability, financial stability, 
improving supervisory practices and promoting markets and payment system 
development.

European integration and Albania

On 10 November 2015, the European Commission published its “Progress 
Report 2015” for Albania. The Report highlights the achievements and 
obligations that arise from the integration process. The overall conclusions 
of the Report, noted that Albania has made steady progress in addressing 
the key priorities for the opening of accession negotiations, pursuing a set of 
reforms necessary to advance in the EU integration path. 

The most relevant achievements are related to public administration reform 
and the preparation of a comprehensive reform of the judicial system, whose 
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finalisation is amongst the most significant challenges. In the area of rule of 
law, further progress results are necessary, whilst the implementation of effective 
measures to reinforce the protection of human rights, and implementation 
of property rights is of utmost importance. The opening of the Albania-EU 
participation negotiations requires the fulfilment of five key priorities: (1) a 
professional and depoliticized public administration; (2) strengthening the 
independence of the judiciary; (3) fight against corruption; (4) fight against 
organized crime; and (5) protection of human rights.

European integration and the Bank of Albania 

The Bank of Albania has continued its contribution to the Progress Report 
and the National Plan for European Integration, leading chapter 4 “Free 
movement of capital” and Chapter 17 “Economic and monetary policies” 
and contributing to six other chapters of the Acquis.

The Report 2015 assesses Bank of Albania’s actions as successful, regarding 
monetary policy and measures taken to support lending. According to the 
Report, the banking sector is stable but exposed to credit risk. For the reduction 
of non-performing loans, various regulatory and legislative changes have 
already been made to address the problem, but further efforts are needed 
to encourage the clean-up of bank balance sheets as well as to address 
the impediments related to judicial enforcement and collateral execution. The 
Report commends regulatory amendments by the Bank of Albania for bank 
supervision, and strengthening of supervisory capacities and processes within 
the Bank. The Report notes that, despite the progress achieved so far, Albania 
should do more for developing a functioning market economy, improving 
macroeconomic stability, fiscal consolidation, improving the business climate, 
as well as solving the problem of the informal economy and the high level of 
non-performing loans. 

Regarding the protection of the currency against counterfeiting, Albania 
has signed, but not yet ratified, the 1929 International Convention for the 
Suppression of Counterfeiting Currency. Approximation in this area is partial. 
The Bank of Albania cooperates at national and international level with 
competent authorities, while it is still under a cooperation agreement with the 
European Central Bank regarding banknotes. 

The Bank of Albania continues to regularly monitor the implementation of the 
SAA, and the National Plan for European Integration. It participated in the 
Stabilisation and Association Committee meeting, as well as the upcoming 
meetings of the respective subcommittees57. 

In the framework of assistance, the Bank of Albania has used the short-term 
assistance instrument, Technical Assistance and Information Exchange (TAIEX), 
by the EU to help candidate and potential candidate countries, in terms of 
57	 Subcommittee on Internal Market and Competition and the Subcommittee on Economic and 

Financial Issues and Statistics. 
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recognition and enforcement of EU legislation. For 2015, short-term technical 
assistance issues, selected by the Bank of Albania and approved by TAIEX, 
focused on approximation with accounting standards of the European Central 
Bank, and the implementation of a document management system. 

International cooperation

Relations with the International Monetary Fund

•	 On 19-30 January 2015, the Technical Assistance Mission of the IMF 
discussed on the foreign exchange market issues and the impact they have 
on systemic liquidity and accounting issues of the central bank.

•	 Visit of the Technical Assistance Mission of the IMF on 20-31 July 2015, to 
assess the quality and effectiveness of Bank of Albania’s supervisory functions 
and capacities.

•	 Visit of the Technical Assistance Mission of the IMF, on 21-22 September 
2015, to evaluate the technical assistance that the Bank of Albania has 
received from the IMF in the framework of the implementation of targeted 
inflation regime.

•	 Visit of the Technical Assistance Mission of the IMF on 28 October - 10 
November 2015, on the fifth and sixth review of Extended Fund Facility 
(EFF) for Albania.

•	 Visit of the Technical Assistance Mission of the International Monetary Fund, 
on 24 November - 7 December 2015 to assess the asset quality and non-
performing loans (NPL).

The Republic of Albania has been a member of the International Monetary 
Fund (IMF) since October 1991. At the moment, Albania owns 1,338 votes 
(or 0.05% of the total amount of all IMF members). It is in the same constituency 
with Italy, Greece, Portugal, Malta, and San Marino. Represented by Carlo 
Cottarelli, its chief executive for 2014-2016, this constituency has a total of 
106,404 votes, or about 4.22% of the total votes of all members of the IMF.

During 2015, the quota of the Republic of Albania stood at SDR 60 million. 
Following the institutional reforms undertaken by the IMF, the Bank of Albania 
has communicated constantly with the Fund on the resolution for the 14th 
review of quotas, which aims the overall increase of quotas in value up to 
100% for all IMF members. This review reflects the change of relative weight 
of countries in the world economy. 
	
In May 2015, the Executive Board of the IMF completed the fourth review 
of Albania’s economic performance under the Extended Fund Facility (EFF)58, 
the outcome of which created an immediate disbursement of the SDR 28.8 
million (about EUR 35.9 million), bringing the disbursement amount to a total 
of SDR 123.1 million (about EUR 153.1 million). The relevant report, among 
58	O n 28 February 2014, the Executive Board of the IMF approved the three-year arrangement 

for SDR 295.42 million (about EUR 330.9 million) under the Extended-Fund Facility program 
for Albania.
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others, states that the monetary policy easing is assessed as appropriate. The 
monetary policy of the Bank of Albania should continue to support economic 
recovery, in accordance to its objective.

Relations with the World Bank Group 

•	 Cooperation with the World Bank in the framework of Reserves Advisory 
Management Program (RAMP) continued in 2015. The World Bank has 
continued to provide training and specialized education programs, such as 
CFA, CIDA, ACCA and PRM.

•	 In cooperation with the World Bank, Bank of Albania have drafted and 
presented the draft law “On credit saving companies and their unions”.

•	 Missions of the World Bank visited Albania on 26 February – 7 March 
and 2 August – 29 September, to continue the dialogue on the program of 
financial sector reform in Albania (DPL - Development Policy Loan).

Albania is supported by the World Bank Group through the “Partnership 
Framework of the World Bank Group with Albania 2015-2019”, which 
aims to support Albania’s aspirations for economic prosperity and European 
integration. Since the membership of the Republic of Albania in the World Bank 
in 1991, the latter has funded USD 1.8 billion in various sectors. Currently, 
there are six projects with a total of USD 250 million, IDA’s and IBRD’s loans 
and also USD 15.4 million in trust funds.59 

Cooperation with the World Bank in the framework of Reserves Advisory 
Management Program (RAMP) continued in 2015. A long-term project, 
initiated by the World Bank to establish and improve the functionality of 
Portfolio Management System (PAT2), will continue with the release of an 
improved version of the system by the World Bank. The World Bank continued 
to provide specialised training programmes, such as CFA (Chartered Financial 
Analyst), CIDA (Certified Investments and Derivatives Auditor) and (Professional 
Risk Manager), in accordance with the needs of the Bank of Albania’s staff. 

Relations with other international institutions 
The Bank of Albania continued to cooperate with the FSVC, mainly in terms 
of improving the internal audit structures and processes. Training offered by 
this institution addressed the issue of auditors’ professional development, 
recommendations from ECB, IMF, WB, as well as the necessary changes in 
the supervisory structures and reporting lines.

The Bank of Albania continued to keep regular contacts with the European 
Bank for Reconstruction and development (EBRD), providing information and 
statistics on the development of the Albanian economy in general, and the 
financial sector in particular. 

On 23 October 2015, the cooperation with the European Banking Authority 
was formalised with the signing of a Memorandum of Cooperation. This 

59	 For more information, visit http://www.worldbank.org/en/country/albania  
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memorandum was concluded with the supervisory authorities of six countries 
of South Eastern Europe. 

During the year, the Bank of Albania has cooperated with the central banks of 
Kosovo, France, Turkey, Germany, England, Austria, the Czech Republic, etc., 
which have provided for the exchange of experience for some departments 
of the Bank. 

In particular, central bank of the Netherlands (DNB) visit aimed to assess the 
activity of internal audit of the Bank of Albania in compliance with international 
standards on internal auditing and assessment for the maturity level of this 
activity in the framework of the “External Quality Assessment” of the internal 
audit of the Bank of Albania. Also, under the bilateral agreement with the Bank 
of Sweden, a workshop was organized on “Increase of the now-cast system 
at the Bank of Albania”. Its aim was to increase the now-cast system and to 
automate short-term forecasts of macroeconomic indicators. 

At the same time, implementation of agreements with the Graduate Institute 
Geneva continued in the framework of cooperation with the State Secretariat 
for Economic Affairs (SECO). 

Participation in international events, such as conferences, forums and regional 
seminars

During 2015, the senior officials Bank of Albania participated in international events, 
such as conferences, forums and various regional seminars. Here are some of them:

•	 20th Forum of Central and Eastern Europe, organized in January 2015 in 
Vienna (Austria), by “Euromoney”. This is an annual Forum and gathers 
prominent international personalities in the fields of politics and economy. 

•	 34th meeting of the Central Bank Governors Club of Central Asia, the 
Black Sea Region and Balkan Countries, held in Tbilisi (Georgia), 25-27 
September 2015. The high level of dollarization was one of the central 
topics of discussion during the meeting. The heads of monetary institutions 
shared the experiences and measures taken by central banks with regard to 
safeguarding financial stability.

•	 Advisory Group Meeting and Annual Meeting of the European Fund for 
South-east Europe (EFSE), in Berlin (Germany) on 18-19 November 2015. 
This year, the Annual Meetings coincided with the 10th anniversary of the 
establishment of European Fund for South-east Europe (EFSE), and on this 
occasion a conference on “Balancing the Future” was organized. Governor 
Sejko said that it is necessary to boost the absorbing power of EFSE funds 
through additional partner institutions in Albania. 

•	 6th Conference of ECB for CESEE countries: “CESEE, old and new policies’ 
challenges”, held in Frankfurt (Germany) on 10 June 2015. 

•	 Summit Ministers of Finance and central bank Governors, “The financial 
future of the region”, 12 - 13 June 2015, in Becici (Montenegro).
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•	 Annual Meetings of the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and World 
Bank Group (WB), held in Lima, Peru, on 9-11 October 2015, in which 
Albania was represented by a joint delegation of the Governor of the Bank 
of Albania, Mr Gent Sejko and the Minister of Finance, Mr Shkëlqim Cani. 
While attending the Governor held several important meetings with prominent 
personalities of the international financial field, showing the measures taken 
by the Bank of Albania in the field of monetary and financial stability in the 
country.

II.11. Communication with the public 

•	 Public communication is an important aspect in Bank of Albania’s activity for 
fulfilling the responsibility to provide maximum transparency of decision-making 
and its effectiveness; as well as raising public confidence toward this central bank. 
In this framework, the Bank of Albania assesses the interactive communication 
with the public as a primary issue of strategic importance, to transmit its monetary 
policy directly and comprehensively to the public.

An open and transparent central bank
Beyond legal obligations, the Bank of Albania informs the public on its role 
and activity, ranging from the decision-making of the Supervisory Council, to 
the daily operating activities. This transparent communication helps increase 
the effectiveness of policies implemented by the Bank of Albania, prompting 
the public to understand the decisions taken by it in time and clearly, and also 
to be able to fairly evaluate them.

In this context, the Bank of Albania uses a variety of communication channels, 
in order to explain the role and its main objective more clearly, to maintain 
price stability as well the way of its realisation.

The Monetary Policy strategy is based on a decision-making cycle consisting 
in 8 meetings of the Supervisory Council throughout the year. The Governor 
press conference is held after each meeting to explain the decisions taken by 
the Supervisory Council and the analyses used to corroborate this decision, 
to the public. Relevant press conferences were organized in response to this 
cycle, in 2015, during which the Governor has responded to the media 
interest on various issues related to the Bank of Albania. In 2015, press 
conferences were followed by the publication of the Governor speeches, and 
the related Q&A in Albanian and English.

Each meeting was followed by a publication of a brief summary of the main 
decisions taken by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania. All public 
decisions of the Supervisory Council were fully published in the Official Bulletin 
of the Bank of Albania, on nine issues of this publication. 
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Besides the monetary policy decisions, the Bank of Albania publishes rich 
information on banking supervision and financial stability, notably the 
Supervision Annual Report and Financial Stability Report, which analyse 
important developments in the financial system over a six-month-period and 
identifies the factors that represent systematic risk.

Communication at Bank of Albania is further complemented with a number of 
surveys, analyses, data, evaluations and opinions of the Bank of Albania on 
the macroeconomic situation of Albania and its role in supporting financial 
stability. During 2015, the activity of the Bank of Albania is presented to the 
public primarily through 64 public announcements and press releases, 21 
speeches, 23 interviews and participation in TV programmes. 

Communication with the public is in accordance with the interest, academic 
level and professional development of targeted groups, among which, media 
has an important role. In this framework, the media is continuously informed 
and sensitized on issues related to the Bank of Albania and on economic 
and financial situation in Albania. In 2015, communication with the media 
was implemented through press conferences, speeches, presentations and 
press releases about activities organized by the Bank of Albania or other 
domestic and foreign institutions. It was also implemented through interviews 
or participation in dedicated TV programmes, and views on specific issues of 
interest to the Bank of Albania or other public activities of the Governor and 
other Bank of Albania representatives. Six presentations of its periodic reports 
are held “off the records” for the media during this year. These meetings aim 
to guide the media for a correct understanding of the decision-making of the 
Bank of Albania and are considered as effective means of communication 
with the public. 

The forums and round tables held with representatives of the banking system, 
business and academia were part of the communication with the public. During 
2015, a number of forums were organised, such as the forum “Promoting 
lending to the economy” (April 2015), III Financial Forum of Albania, organized 
in cooperation with the IMF (June 2015), the meeting on “Economy and Banks: 
present and future challenges”, organized in cooperation with the Albanian 
government (September 2015), whose main focus was on the discussions on 
credit recovery, reduction of non-performing loans, and their treatment, as an 
important concern for the performance of the Albanian economy. 

Communication with the public reflects the current developments and 
challenges. During 2015, in June-July, the treatment of the escalating Greek 
crisis and the explanation of its possible spillover effects mainly related to the 
banking system in Albania was an important part of discussions. The public 
was informed real time on the stability of the banking system in Albania through 
several dedicated appearances of the Governor and other representatives of 
the Bank of Albania.



Annual Report2015

100 Bank of Albania

Activities in Albania

•	 Upon an initiative by the Bank of Albania and Ministry of Finance, on 8 
April 2015 a meeting was organised on promoting credit growth, serving 
as a platform to exchange ideas and present positions in relation to various 
problems facing the banking and financial sector

•	 Under the auspices of the State Minister of Innovation and Public Administration 
and the Governor of the Bank of Albania, an event on “Innovation in the 
banking sector” was held in May 2015, to promote new technologies used 
by the banking sector to provide services and products to Albanian citizens. 

•	 III Financial Forum was held on 25 June 2015, in Tirana, under the joint 
auspices of the Bank of Albania and the International Monetary Fund. The 
theme this year was to discuss the issue of non-performing loans in the 
banking sector. Discussions in the forum helped authorities develop a strategic 
approach to addressing this issue, and build an effective action plan. 

•	 In the premises of the Bank of Albania, on 2 October 2015 the first meeting 
of the National Committee of the Payments System was held, chaired by the 
First Deputy Governor of the Bank of Albania, who is also the Chairperson 
of the Committee. The purpose of this Committee is to support and contribute 
to enhancing the security, stability and efficiency of the national payment 
system in Albania. Beyond the advisory role, the Committee aims to facilitate 
the implementation of measures of the relevant authorities by fostering 
cooperation. 

•	 On 5 October 2015, the Bank of Albania and World Bank’s Financial 
Sector Advisory Centre (FinSAC) organised a meeting on “Discussions on the 
implementation of Banking Recovery and Resolution Directive”. The meeting 
took place in the framework of the review of the existing legal framework 
aiming at its improvement for the timely and adequate approximation to the 
standards of Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive 2014/59/EU. 

•	 On 30 October 2015, Bank of Albania organised in cooperation with the 
South East European Studies at Oxford its Annual Conference on: “Do crises 
change economic fundamentals in SEE?” The Conference was organised in 
three sessions. Mr Edi Rama, Prime Minister of the Republic of Albania, Mr 
Gent Sejko, Governor of the Bank of Albania, and Mr Othon Anastasakis, 
Director of South East European Studies at University of Oxford welcomed 
conference participants.

•	 On 30 October 2015, the Bank of Albania organized the inauguration 
ceremony of its Renovated Building, which coincides with the first opening 
of the Museum of the Bank of Albania. Through a temporary exhibition, the 
Museum unveiled for the first time special items of cultural heritage, part of 
the treasury of the Bank of Albania, preserved over the years. 

•	 Following the tradition of organizing the Regional Workshop Research in 
Eastern Europe, on 3-4 December 2015 the Bank of Albania organized, 
the 9th Workshop on “Rethinking of economic policies and methodologies 
of central banks”. This event was attended by representatives of the central 
banks of Italy, Greece, Montenegro, Turkey, as well as academics and experts 
of the Bank of Albania who addressed issues related to the stability of the 
European banking system, non-performing loans, credit growth factors, etc.
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A responsible and accountable central bank
Bank of Albania aims to inform citizens, and in particular the Parliament, on 
all its activities.

Institutional relations with the Parliament are held in several aspects. Governor’s 
hearing sessions in the Parliamentary Committee of Economy and Finance are 
the most significant ones. In April 2015, as every year in this Committee, the 
Governor introduced the Annual Report of the Bank of Albania, responding 
to the deputies’ interest on specific issues related to it. For the first time, in 
December 2015, in a dedicated hearing session the Governor shared the 
opinion of the Bank of Albania regarding key elements of the states’ draft-
budged for the upcoming year, 2016.

More comprehensive and up-to-date information on the financial and economic 
situation as well as on main macroeconomic developments, the role and the 
contribution of the Bank of Albania in this regard, could be found on the 
official website www.bankofalbania.org During 2015, the website had 
about 475,000 visitors who clicked our page around 1.326.000 times and 
browsed in total about 3.265.000 topics.

Our website is constantly enriched with a broad statistics system for many 
sectors of the Albanian economy, such as: banking sector, fiscal sector, real 
sector and external sector. These statistics are published according to a defined 
schedule that is updated semi-annually. Bank of Albania’s statistics are also 
found in the monthly statistical reports and in quarterly monetary policy reports.

Bank of Albania publications provide detailed and updated information 
on Albanian and global economy developments in the banking and 
financial system, currency and financial stability, amendments and 
enrichment of the banking legislation and its regulatory framework, as well 
as other relevant issues. Bank of Albania publications are consolidated 
sources of accurate and reliable information for the public. Periodic 
and non-periodic publications, in 2015, consisted of about 3000  
pages of analyses, statistics and research in both Albanian and English. The 
set of periodic reports was the same as in the previous year: Annual Report, 
Quarterly Monetary Policy Report, Financial Stability Report (semi-annual) and 
Annual Supervision Report. In addition to periodic reports, the following were 
published: the monthly Official Bulletin, the semi-annual Bulletin of the Bank of 
Albania, the semi-annual magazine “Research newsletter”.

During 2015, the Bank of Albania continued to free distribute of all its 
publications, taking into account the social responsibility regarding reducing 
paper publication. In order to inform the public, the Bank of Albania informs 
its citizens in writing or in electronic form, depending on how they want to 
receive this information. 
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II.12. Public education

Although education is not a legal obligation, for nearly a decade now, the 
Bank of Albania has been committed to expand and deepen public financial 
literacy, focusing on the younger generation. Two are the main goals of the 
programs, activities and special educational publications prepared by the 
Bank of Albania: presenting the central bank, its functions and role to the 
public; as well as cultivating and strengthening the financial culture in society. 
Financial literacy is now a necessity, taking into consideration not only the 
pace of economic, banking and technological development, but also the 
importance and significance of information on today’s global world.

Efforts in the framework of informing the public, in 2015 culminated in the 
inauguration of the Museum of the Bank of Albania, an interdisciplinary 
museum, with integrated numismatic, historic and educational functions.

Bank of Albania Museum
Located inside “the landmark building” of the capital’s main square, the almost 
80-year-old headquarters of the central bank, the Bank of Albania Museum 
was inaugurated on October 30, 2015, as a combination of museum and 
educational purposes. 

The museum is organised in two independent floors. The main room, called 
“Treasury Room” or the “Rotunda”, in the first floor of the museum displays 
a rich numismatic collection of the Bank of Albania. Here, visitors may find 
information about historical and numismatic values through the exposure 
of treasures, coins and banknotes collections, cheques, bonds, securities, 
medallions and other museum items, used across historical sites of Albania, 
since antiquity.

The second floor of the museum presents the history of the central Bank of 
Albania, its role in maintaining price stability and safeguarding the financial 
stability in Albania as well as its constitutional functions. With a particular 
focus on public education, this museum has dedicated areas, where pupils or 
students accompanied by teaching and faculty members may have classes, 
lectures and other educational activities regarding money and the economy. 

Museum of the Bank of Albania represents a new tourist destination in the 
heart of Tirana, as well as a permanent information centre where the general 
public can learn more about all aspects of money and the economy, and 
better understand what the central bank does.

The museum design started in 2011, taking a quantitative and qualitative 
burst in 2015. The first step which led to the proceeding of the design and 
composition of showcases, which later would hold the numismatic collection, 
was the approval of museum fund in March 2015. In collaboration with 
external expert collaborators, the exhibits were given the historical context 
in which they were used, and were accompanied by information regarding 
money issue, printing and production technology. 
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The conception, design and implementation of various programs to educate 
the public continued simultaneously with the preparation of the permanent 
numismatic exhibition on the first floor of the museum. With the aim to make 
these programs interesting, the ways of presenting them are thought to be more 
“youthful” by including documentaries and animated films, apps, quizzes, and 
interactive guides.

The whole work for establishing the Museum was able to end successfully the 
day of the inauguration, which coincided with the historic date of October 
30, 1938, the date of the inauguration of the building of the National Bank 
of Albania, today the Bank of Albania.

Museum of the Bank of Albania 

In order to fulfil its educational function, the Museum offers several educational 
corners:

•	 Hologram Room 
In the interior architecture, the hologram, a new element and widely used, holds a 
special importance in the Museum of the Bank of Albania. Virtual 3D objects are 
projected in the dark room at 360 degrees. Through this modern technology, with 
an attractive and distinctive appearance, a story of antique coins appears to the 
visitors. The tale speaks for ancient civilization in Albanian-inhabited regions, thus 
showing us coins that our ancestors have minted and used.

•	 Students Spot
The Students Spot in the Museum of the Bank of Albania shows information 
dedicated mainly to youth but not only. Thanks to illustrated panels, visitors can learn 
about the way a commercial banks works and money circulation in the economy. 
Those interested visitors may obtain audio-visual information through guides and 
applications, watch short clips on economic and financial topics and European 
institutions, and take quizzes on the touch-screens. 

•	 Conference Room 
Inside the educational section, the Conference Room is a space dedicated to 
meetings and presentations on issues of interest to various focus groups. Educational 
films and documentaries will be shown here part of a fund enriched with products 
from experienced authors in the field of economy and finance, often awarded 
prestigious international prizes.

•	 Europe Room
The Europe Room presents the role, functions and historical journey of the European 
Union, European Central Bank and Euro zone, and the EU-Albania relations and 
Albania’s European integration process. The treatment of various aspects of euro, 
as well as the review of banknotes and coins security features, holds a particular 
importance. This room offers various communication tools such as audio-visual films, 
maps, apps, games and quizzes, as well as text displayed with graphic illustrations. 

•	 Kids’ corner
Seriously engaged in the financial education of children, thanks to a variety of 
programs offered by the school system, when designing and building the Museum 
of the Bank of Albania, a corner was dedicated exclusively to the little ones. The 
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Kids’ corner, conceived as a multifunctional area, makes it possible for them to read 
and play individually with an interactive application called “Çufo18 Piglet, learns 
to save”. This room gives them the opportunity to test their knowledge through the 
quiz: “Çufo’s cake”, and have fun while working on some papers, or participate 
in one of our activities.



COMMEMORATIVE 5, 50 AND 100 LEKe COINS, ISSUED ON THE 
OCCASION OF THE 42ND ANNIVERSARY OF THE FIRST RAILWAY 
TRACK IN ALBANIA, 1946-1988.

Obverse:	 A train exiting a tunnel.
Reverse:	 A train entering a tunnel,  Emblem of the People’s Socialist Republic 

of Albania. 

*	 The 50 Lekë coin, issue of 1988, won the international prize as the Most Innovative Coin 
of 1990.

(Metal: CuNi)

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Au)
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III. Development of institutional capacities
 

•	 Human resources polices and institutional developments aim at enhancing the 
professional capacities and expertise of the Bank of Albania’s staff, strengthening 
and maintaining a motivating accountable working environment for the employees, 
achieving stability and long-term continuation of management capacities, and 
improving regulatory framework and organisational structure of the Bank of 
Albania.

Human resources

Human resource policies are mainly oriented towards professional growth and 
expertise of the staff. These policies area aimed at achieving the objectives 
of the medium-term strategy of the Bank of Albania, within the provisions of 
the regulatory framework. They aim at further strengthening and maintaining a 
motivating work environment, increasing cooperation between departments and 
staff, and achieve long-term stability and continuity of administrative capacities. 
Another purpose of these policies is the completion and improvement of the 
organizational structure of the Bank of Albania and the regulatory framework.

Human resources policies have always had on their focus the improvements 
and changes of the organizational structure of the institution. Their main goal 
is to increase the efficiency of the Bank of Albania’s activity by strengthening 
coordination and communication between units, adaptation of these structures 
with new tasks deriving from the strategic objectives of the institution as well as 
meeting the standards of member banks of European System of Central Banks 
or the European Central Bank. 

Some of the objectives for the human resources 
management during the year have been: adaptation 
of the regulatory infrastructure in order to provide 
the possibility of promotion into leadership positions 
for experienced and professional employees, and 
filling vacancies. Staff promotion aims to increase 
professional competition and serves as an instrument 
for identification and better management of human 
resources. Also, professional motivation policies 
intend to maintain the retention and continuance of 
staff, which is also one of the main challenges that 
all central banks face.

At the Bank of Albania, the ratio of male/female 
managers is: 12.9% females and 10% males.

Source: Bank of Albania.

Chart 37. Number of employees in management.
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While appreciating human capital and the 
importance of their professional skills in executing 
tasks and achieving the strategic objectives 
of the Bank, the continuous improvement of 
incentive policies for achieving their professional 
qualification is also very important, receiving 
academic and scientific degrees and gaining 
international professional certificates. About 24% of 
employees have postgraduate qualifications while 
1% are attending postgraduate studies. Also, nine 
employees hold CFA, ACCA or CIDA certifications, 
while 12 others are still in the process of getting 
them.

Bank of Albania staff has grown professionally due 
to the professional trainings they have attended in 
Albania and abroad. Besides earning professional 
knowledge, participation in these specialized 
training organized by other central banks, 
international financial institutions (IFIs) or other 
institutions are beneficial to the staff of the Bank of 
Albania because they exchange professional and 
managerial experiences with representatives of 
central banks from other countries.

Chart 39 shows that the highest participation in 
trainings (about 36%) is in international financial 
institutions (IFIs) including the International Monetary 
Fund, the Joint Vienna Institute, EBRD, ECB, FSI. About 
31% of the trainings were conducted by European 
central banks such as: Bundesbank, Bank of France, 
Czech National Bank, Dutch National Bank, Central 
Bank of Turkey, and National Bank of Poland. Other 
trainings were conducted in cooperation with other 
organizers such as: AIDA, CEFTA, Central Banking 

Publications, JP Morgan, and Balkan Economic Forum.

The majority of professional training is focused on building the institutional 
capacities of the central bank in order to fulfil its main functions. Compared 
with 2013 and 2014, in 2015 trainings abroad have decreased, aiming 
a controlled and targeted participation. Most of the professional trainings 
in 2015 were conducted on Banking Supervision, (13%), statistics (11%), 
monetary policy (10%), monetary operations (9%). The rest of training focused 
on: internal audit; money issue and management, legal affairs, information 
technology, human resources management, European integration, etc. 

It should be noted that the largest number of professional trainings are focused 
on building the institutional capacities of the central bank to fulfil its main 
functions.

Source: Bank of Albania.
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Agreements and collaborations 
In the framework of the envisaged three-year collaboration agreement with 
SECO (State Secretariat for Economic Affairs), five workshops were conducted 
with lecturers from prestigious academic institutions and planned content. 
Some 97 employees from various departments of the bank participated in 
these activities. Also, unlike previous years, staff members participated in 
activities such as: Research Coaching, and Executive Training, as part of the 
variety of activities offered by the agreement. The presence of a bank expert at 
GIIDS (Graduate Institute of International Development Studies) was part of the 
activities, enabling the employees to study and continue research work under 
the supervision of experts. 

Social policy and social responsibility

Bank of Albania’s attention is addressed not only towards meeting its legal 
obligations, but also towards its social responsibility growth. Bank of Albania aims to 
maintain and further strengthen social values, increase the awareness of its employees 
in terms of support for vulnerable groups or various social causes, as well as to 
maintain and further develop cultural and academic heritage of Albania. Initiatives 
regarding the support of academic research, financial education, and the creation 
of a motivating and non-discriminatory environment for employees, are examples of 
these efforts. In recent years, the Bank of Albania has been engaged in volunteer 
activities, contributing to the improvement of the life quality for the communities 
in need and responding to environment protection awareness. Based on the law 
“On the Bank of Albania”, the latter cannot allocate financial aids or donations. 
In 2015, in the framework of the social responsibility and sensitivity, employees 
voluntarily contributed to various humanitarian and environmental activities, as a 
moral reaction to the realization of common community goals.

On the occasion of the World Orphans Day, staff members of the Bank contributed 
monetarily and materially (gifts from employees) for the Orphanage of Vlora and 
for “Zyber Hallulli” in Tirana. The collected monetary contributions were used to 
buy clothing, medicines and other items according to the needs presented by the 
directors of these orphanages. Also, many packages were collected with toys, 
clothes, books, etc., and were sent to orphanages by the Bank of Albania. 

In association with the Albanian Red Cross, in September 2015, Bank employees 
voluntarily donated blood. The process was administered by the employees of the 
Albanian Red Cross, according to the applicable standards.

By the end of the year, postcards prepared by children of the “SOS” village were sold 
at the Bank of Albania. The profit from selling these postcards, artworks of children 
themselves, were sent to the SOS village and used for the children’s wellbeing.
Also, employees have offered significant cash contribution for the purchase and 
planting of new seedlings. This contribution is added to the initiatives to increase 
green spaces in the city and increase the quality of the environment.
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Implementation of new information systems

Settlement and registration system of securities - AFISaR (New Financial Instrument 
Settlement and Registration) is the central settlement and registration system of 
securities issued by the Albanian state. The Bank of Albania organizes auctions 
for these securities pursuant to the agreement with the Ministry of Finance. 
Communication with this system is made via messages based on the SWIFT model. 
AFISaR is fully compliant with BIS principles for the settlement of securities transaction 
respecting the Delivery Versus Payment principle. AFISaR’s participants fall into two 
categories: direct participants and indirect participants. Direct participants have 
securities accounts directly into the AFISaR. The indirect participants have their 
accounts opened and operated by direct participants.

ERRS is an “on-line” electronic system, which, pursuant to the legal and regulatory 
framework, enables regular reporting of the URS’s and other statistics by reporting 
entities to the Bank of Albania. URS stands for Unified Reporting System that includes 
the entirety of the reporting forms and currently contains two main statistical blocks: 
Supervision statistics and Financial and Monetary statistics. Banks and foreign banks’ 
branches, non-bank financial institutions, savings and credit unions, and potentially 
other entities licensed by the Bank of Albania are all reporting entities in the ERRS 
(Electronic Regular Reporting System)

Information Technology

The rapid developments in technology applications, communications and 
equipment have led to significant changes in everyday life. Broad use of internet 
has brought changes in social, cultural and economic matters. Communication 
between social networking, on-line shopping, on-line payment services, on-
line banking services, are on an upward trend. Considerable work is made 
to increase the number of digitalised services, especially regarding payment 
services. During 2015, the Bank of Albania has implemented a new service for 
securities’ settlement and registration: the AFISaR system. The Bank of Albania 
has also invested in increasing the processing capacities of the services it 
provides, paying attention to the use of technology and digitalization for 
reporting and processing data through the ERRS system. 

The Bank of Albania attentively monitors the growing trend of electronic services 
in the banking sector. It also supports initiatives and improvements of financial 
instruments in new technologies. In this framework, the Bank of Albania held a 
conference on “Innovation in the banking sector”, associated with innovative 
ideas regarding technology in the banking system. The conference discussed 
new services for electronic signatures, secured authentication in financial 
systems, enhancing the quality of data and the addition of various electronic 
services to 24/7 banking.

These rapid changes, with progressive pace on digitalization are closely 
monitored by the Bank of Albania, in order to evaluate the growth of new 
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cyber risks, integrity, availability of information and payments in the banking 
system. The Bank of Albania has improved its regulations and controls and has 
increased the transparency when addressing these risks.





COMMEMORATIVE COIN DEDICATED TO THE SUMMER OLyMPIC 
GAMES 1992. 10 Lekë, ISSUE OF 1991.

*	 The coin won the international prize as the Best Silver Coin of 1993, and the Most 
Innovative Coin of 1993, issue of 1991.

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Ag)
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IV.	I nternal audit

•	 Internal audit at the Bank of Albania is carried out by the Internal Audit 
Department. The main objective of the Internal Audit Department is to  
ensure compliance with the laws and by-laws in the activity of the Bank of Albania. 
Another objective of the Internal Audit Department is to act as an overall controller 
and consultant to the administrators and the Supervisory Council, by providing 
its contribution toward maintaining the integrity of information, efficiently using 
resources and internal audit systems at the Bank of Albania. Administrators and 
heads of departments are responsible for the preparation, implementation and 
monitoring of the adequate internal audit system. The audit function provides bank 
administrators, regularly and independently, with the verification and assessment 
of internal audit systems, by testing the determined control and procedures, without 
being a substitute for them.

Internal audit highlights

Approval of the Internal Audit Policy and Regulation of Audit Department
Year 2015 marked the approval of the first Internal Audit Policy and review 
of the regulation of the Audit Department functioning, through decisions 
of Supervisory Council no. 39 and No. 40, on 03.06.2015. The Policy 
determines the position of the activity of internal audit within the organizational 
structure of the Bank of Albania, which includes: mission, activity, scope, 
functional independence and establishing reporting lines of internal audit 
activities, right to access/use information, and evaluation of the quality of the 
internal audit activity. 

The Policy and Regulation envisage and clarify: 
•	 Recognition of the Professional Standards of the Internal Audit and 

Code of Ethics, announced by the Institute of Internal Auditors; 
•	 Definition of competencies about the approval of the internal audit 

plan by the Supervisory Council, following the review by the Audit 
Committee; 

•	 Reporting lines of the Inspector General with the Audit Committee, 
Supervisory Council, and inclusion of the Inspector General’s reporting 
to the Parliament.

•	 Recognition of fraud risk management at the Bank of Albania and 
duties and responsibilities of internal audit in regarding this risk;

•	 Unlimited access to information, assets and people;
•	 Defining the characteristics and main stages of internal audit at the 

Bank of Albania; 
•	 Determining the obligation to monitor the implementation status of 

recommendations and quality assurance for improving the internal 
audit;
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•	 Clear definition of the tasks of the Audit Department and the increase 
of participation of inspectors in commissions / committees / working 
groups /as observers.

With the entry into force of the two main documents of the internal audit 
- “Policy of Internal Audit at the Bank of Albania” and regulation “On the 
organization and functioning of the Internal Audit Department” - adoption of 
some practices began and the awareness raising for stakeholders about the 
changes stemming from these new regulatory acts (the form and content of 
the audit report was restructured; the experts auditors were selected for the 
functions of the Bank, etc.).

Following the order of recommendations, units were informed and made aware 
of the changes stemming from the Policy and Regulation. Through including in 
the Policy and Department Regulation, as well as in the Audit Policy Committee, 
new lines of reporting created the need for adaptation, in time and in form, 
reporting to the Inspector General about the Audit Committee. 

Upon establishing and full functioning of the Audit Committee, the Inspector 
General and the Internal Audit Department participated in three meetings of 
the Audit Committee (June 2015, September 2015 and December 2015).

Organisation of the internal audit strategy

In the framework of the drafting of medium-term strategy of the Bank of 
Albania, Audit Department drafted and communicated the strategic mission 
and objectives of the Internal Audit at the Bank of Albania:

•	 Internal Audit vision: Reliable advisers of administrators and the Audit 
Committee-This involves creating adequate expertise for understanding 
the needs of the administrators and the Audit Committee, properly 
addressing the strategic risks for the Bank of Albania, and raising their 
awareness on new risks and preventing measures that may be taken to 
ward off these risks.

•	 Strategic aim: Ensuring compliance with international standards of 
internal audit, based on three basic objectives:

1.	 Preparing and implementing a plan of measures for recommendations 
resulting from the external assessment of the audit function, for full 
compliance with international internal audit standards.

2.	 Increasing internal audit independence and quality by strengthening 
the reporting lines with the administrators and the Audit Committee, 
and restructuring of the Audit Department.

3.	 Awareness of the Bank of Albania regarding the operation and division 
of Line I, II and III60 of defence and coordination between line II and III.

60	 Stratification of internal audit according to the responsibilities for: (I) the implementation of 
controls (first line), (ii) the control and continuous monitoring of controls and risks from different 
units from those that implement controls (second line) and (iii) an independent valuation by an 
indoor unit (internal audit) or external (external audit entities) on the adequacy of the internal 
control system (third line).
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•	 Supportive strategic objective: Creation of a unit for the management 
and prevention of Operational Risk as a part of the organizational 
structure of the Audit Department, preparation of a legal framework 
and the whole supportive infrastructure, which will help with the 
measurement, evaluation and risk management at bank level.

Organizational structure of the Audit Department 

Based on the structural changes of the Bank of Albania, adopted by the 
Supervisory Council decision No. 87, on 12.02.2015, Office of Inspector 
General and the Audit Department underwent the following changes:

-	 Addition of a unit with two specialists for the evaluation and management 
of operational risks, in the Operational Risk Department, under the 
authority of the Inspector General, based on the practices of some 
of the Central Banks of the European Union for the implementation at 
bank level of ORM (Operational Risk Management);

-	 Addition of a new position for the deputy head of Department, which 
will cover a significant part of the Quality Assurance Program of Internal 
Audit in the supervision of audit, and will serve as a supporter and a 
substitute of the Inspector General, in compliance of the duties that she 
has as the head of Audit Department.

Realisation of duties of the Audit Department 

In 2015, a number of planned audit and non-planned audit engagements 
were realized as well as a number of audit and non-audit engagements that 
were not planned in the 2015 but arose as a specific need during the year, 
upon the request of the Supervisory Council, Audit Committee, Administrators 
and/or Inspector General. A special feature of the plan for 2015 was that 
the period in the absence of the Inspector General (September 2014 - April 
2015) prevented the start of the planned audits to be initiated during this 
period. The International Monetary Fund suggested the Bank of Albania and 
the Inspector General, to be proceeded with the initiation and implementation 
of audits of the last four months of 2014 (with some exceptions based on the 
limitation of time and human resources, and on developments specifics of the 
first month of 2015, of External Evaluation- External Quality Assessment).

Nine full-scope audits were planned to be realized during June - December, 
(including audits of statistics reported to IMF- three per year) of which, six full-
scope audits are completed, three audits carried forward from 2014 were 
completed as well and three more audits are currently in process. During 
January - December 2015, a total of 101 recommendations were addressed, 
resulting from audit on granting security, including the suggestions resulting 
from advisory audits on special request from administrators. Findings and 
recommendations for each of the audits realized during this period, are 
addressed initially to the executives of units and then to the Bank of Albania 
administrators, the Audit committee, and the Supervisory Council, as part of 
the periodic reports of the Inspector General.
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Table 15. Realized planned audits and addressed recommendations in 2015 
Total number of planned and unplanned audits / non-audits 20
Total number of finished planned audits   6
Total number of planned audits in process 3
Total number of planned audits in 2014, carried forward in 2015. 3
Total number non - planned audits (with special request) 6
Total number of realized non-audits ( PAT2 and ORM) 2
Total of recommendations addressed in audits of 2015 101 recommendations Total in %
Grouped by categories: 
Advisory audits (recommendations without category) 7 7%
Category I 4 4%
Category II 51 50%
Category III 28 28%
Category IV 11 11%

Audits performed during 2015 are mainly focused on assessing the adequacy 
of internal controls established for the audited functions and supportive 
applications, based on the accomplishment of objectives such as: (i)Evaluation 
of implementation and compliance of audited function with the legal and 
regulatory framework; (ii) evaluation of the procedures followed in fulfilling 
the objectives of the audited processes; (iii) evaluation of the adequacy and 
accuracy of records and accounts related to the function; (iv) evaluation of the 
adequacy of information technology applications which support the function; 
(v) evaluation of risk function. 

Implementation of the Operational Risk Management framework 

The Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania approved the unit dedicated to 
the management of operational risk in view of the 
institution’s governance regarding the fulfilment of its 
mission and objectives set by law, and also pursuant 
to a medium-term strategy of the Bank of Albania. 
Based on the best practices and recommendations 
of international institutions(IMF, ECB, FSVC, BB); as 
well as on successful practices in the institution which 
identify, assess and follow operational risks during 
the process of reserve management, in 2015the 
Bank of Albania launched a projection “Preparing 
the framework for operational risk management at 
the bank.” This project extends along 2016 and 
aims: (a) determining the policy and methodology 
for operational risk management at the bank, and 
(b) identification and assessment of operational risk 
at the bank, creating the basis on which the cycle 
of operational risk will be constantly pursued. Source: Bank of Albania.
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Chart 40. Development and implementation cycle 
of the operational risk management framework.
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Box 7 Operational risk definitions

Like other organizations, the Bank of Albania is exposed to operational risks. 
These risks must be understood and managed so that the bank’s whole activities 
and functions will be carried out effectively Operational risk is the risk of creating 
financial losses and/or damage the reputation of the Bank as a result of a failure 
or inadequacy of internal processes, people, systems or due to external events. 
Operational Risk sources are:

1.	 Processes - losses arising as a result of a deficiency in an existing procedure 
or due to lack of documentation of a procedure associated with the activities 
carried in the financial institution. This includes potential losses created during 
the execution and management of procedures. These losses are unintentional. 

2.	 People- losses arising as a result of the violation of internal policies of the 
institution’s human resources. These losses can be caused intentionally. 
Exposures to losses from this factor may result from: given competences, 
fraud, employment practices, etc.

3.	 Systems - losses arising as a result of a dysfunction of existing systems or 
information technology. These losses are unintentional. In case when these 
losses are intentional, they will be classified in “People” or “ external events”. 
Exposures to losses from this factor may result mainly from partly or fully 
dysfunction of the systems.

External events - losses arising as a result of force of nature or as a direct result of 
a third party action. Losses in this category can be intentional or unintentional. Loss 
exposures from this factor may result mainly in blackouts, terrorist attacks, inconvenient 
weather, problematic issues associated with providers of products/ services, etc.

Due to its complexity and comprehensiveness, the project is associated with 
intensive work, and continuous interaction with all the departments. It has 
several phases, briefly described below.

•	 Phase I- Organizing, informing and preparing the units and coordinators. 
The way of collecting all existing materials and various references related 
to operational risk; preparation of an appropriate technical structure 
associated with this project, for a better management of all phases, 
the documentation, minutes at the disposal of meetings, information 
reported by the coordinators; presentation of the coordinators and 
heads of departments, regarding information and awareness on the 
object, the importance of this project and the stages through which it 
will pass. All this was realized in this phase. 

•	 Phase II - Identification of processes and drafting of the processes 
scheme for each department, including: identification of core processes 
for each unit; compiling of preliminary versions of the schemes of the 
processes, and relevant files for each unit of the Bank of Albania 
(departments, committees, other units); their review by the working 
group; Meetings with each coordinator and the final validation of 
processes’ schemes and the corresponding files from the units,  
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•	 Phase III - Compiling a matrix of processes at Bank level. All the basic 
functions of the bank by the unit they carry them and by the rank from 
administrators, committees and Supervisory Council, are reflected in 
the matrix. The creation of the data base for all applicable regulatory 
acts that regulate identified processes was initiated in this phase. 

•	 Phase IV - Guidance on the identification of operational risks for 
each unit. Coordinators were instructed and assisted by the working 
group through models standardized with chosen methodology, on 
the process of the identification of the main risks associated with the 
processes already established in the previous phases which would 
have an impact on the department activity. 

•	 Phase V - Determining the main risks of each unit (in progress). 
Information in the above phase, precedes the determining of risk 
from each department, a process which was deemed to be done 
in working group meetings with each coordinator in order for it to 
be more productive. During the work done with each coordinator, 
it was possible for the most important operational risks to be treated 
sequentially, (through the identification of the risk’s source, its impact 
and likelihood of occurrence). The determination of key risks by the 
departments is in the process and the working group has led this 
task by suggesting a set of possible risks that are identified from the 
experience of other central banks.

•	 Phase VI - Risk Assessment at Bank level (in progress). Simultaneously 
with the activity associated with the Phase V, the working group has 
compiled an integrated matrix of the organizational structure, main 
functions / mega processes. The completion of the whole set of risks 
for the Bank in in the process after the conclusion of key risks and 
respective classifications with each department. 

•	 Phase VII - Regulatory framework (in process). Preparation of the overall 
risk management policy consists in the drafting of the policy and the 
methodology of operational risk management. This task is spread 
throughout the activity of the working group, clarifying in each phase, 
certain elements that this framework should contain. The draft-policy 
and methodology that the working group is pursuing to in order to 
achieve the objective are defined. Except of a first assessment of risk 
the at bank level, according to the calendar of this project, the working 
group will propose the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania to 
approve the regulatory framework covering the process of operational 
risk management.
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Lekë” is inscribed on them, with “uncials” taken from the Codex. Above number 5, 
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Reverse:	 Text from the Codex embossed on a purple setting. The letters of the Codex are in 
silver and two letters in golden color.

Artist:	B rikena Berdo

(Metal: Ag)



Annual Report2015

122 Bank of Albania



Annual Report 2015

Bank of Albania 123

V.	 Medium-term development strategy of 
the Bank of Albania

The medium-term development strategy of the Bank of Albania for 2016-2018 
continues the implementation of the former strategy 2013-2015, envisaging 
the key objectives of next three years. 

For the first time, this document clearly states the mission, vision and values of 
the Bank of Albania, which serve as the starting point of the strategy. 

Mission 
The mission states concisely the reason of the central bank existence and 
the main purpose toward which its activities are oriented. The mission also 
describes how the Bank of Albania expects to fulfil its duties in the areas 
of monetary policy, financial stability, reserve, money circulation, banking 
supervision and payment system. 

Vision 
The vision clarifies Bank of Albania’s objectives. These objectives aim at 
strengthening the governance of the institution, in order to increase public 
confidence. This will be realised through: (i) strengthening independence in 
accomplishing the mission and achieving the legal objectives, (ii) increasing 
accountability to the Assembly for the fulfilment of the primary objective and 
(iii) enhancing the transparency on the activity of the Bank of Albania, through  
an open and clear communication with the public. 

Values
Besides the mission and vision statement, the strategy also expresses the values 
that are part of the culture of Bank of Albania and hold a great importance 
in guiding the conduct of the employees. Bank of Albania promotes: (I) the 
integrity and ethics; (Ii) competence and professionalism; (iii) effectiveness and 
efficiency; and (iv) team work and innovation: 

Main objectives
The main challenges that the institution will face during the 2016-2018, in 
compliance with its legal mandate are concisely ranked by the Medium-Term 
Strategy. Bank of Albania, 2016 main objectives are:

a) 	 Maintaining monetary stability. Bank of Albania’s monetary policy 
continues to be oriented towards maintaining price stability. To keep 
the inflation around three per cent, inflation targeting regime will be 
pursued, a regime of free floating of exchange rate, and a much more 
transparent and comprehensive communication of the monetary policy. 
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Monetary policy decision-making will be supported by scientific activity 
in the field of economic research. 

Bank of Albania’s operations aim to ensure proper functioning of the money 
market, help banks to meet their liquidity needs, and enable rapid transmission 
of the monetary policy decisions on short term rates money market. 

Credit and market risk management continues to constitute a prerequisite for 
the investment of foreign reserves, having a significant importance in fulfilling 
the duties of Bank of Albania in terms of exchange rate management. 

b) 	 Ensuring a stable and efficient financial system. Bank of Albania 
will continue to contribute in preserving the stability of the financial 
system, through the drafting and implementation of macro-prudential 
policy, which aims at taking actions for the prevention and treatment 
of systemic risk. 

c) 	 Ensuring a healthy banking activity. Having a healthy financial 
system is the focus of the Banking Supervision. A healthy financial 
system guarantees citizen’s trust, creates opportunities for a sustainable 
economic growth, ensures financial stability and contributes positively 
to the economy as a whole. 

d) 	 Increasing the quality of statistical data. Objectives of the Bank of 
Albania, in the statistical field, are oriented towards fulfilling quantitative 
standards of international methodologies and EU legislation, related to 
the content and reporting of statistics to European and international 
institutions. 

e) 	 Improving the infrastructure of the payment system. Bank of Albania 
will intensify the efforts to further promote security and effectiveness in 
financial markets to safeguard their stability and guarantee the safe 
and quick money circulation, at minimum costs. Improvement of its 
infrastructure is intended in order to align with European best practices 
and increase safety and efficiency, aiming to increase the use of the 
system by the public. 

f) 	 Improving money quality. A constant target of Bank of Albania is 
to maintain the quality of banknotes that are circulation, in order to 
increase public confidence about the money, and protect banknotes 
and coins from counterfeiting. 

g) 	 Strengthening the governance of the institution. Strengthening 
the governance of the Bank of Albania aims, firstly to increase the 
independence of the institution, in accordance with European 
legislation standards and the European System of Central Banks. This 
will be accomplished through the drafting of a new organic law. 
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	 Good governance also means: (i) increase of accountability regarding 
performance, physical, human and financial resources of the institution 
- including adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards; (ii) 
strengthening of internal audit and operational risk management, and 
(iii) increasing transparency. 

	 Preparing regulatory framework for operational risk management, at 
institutional level, is another strategic objective. In this context, the aim 
is to prepare the implementation of infrastructure and strengthening risk 
assessment and sufficiency of internal control systems. 

h) 	 Bank of Albania resources. The Bank of Albania aims at adopting 
the best practices of the European System of Central Banks on human 
resources management, and the rationalization of the organization 
structure. 

	 For the first time, in procurement, the introduction of electronic 
procurement procedures is projected, in order to facilitate business 
participation in procurements of Bank of Albania, the modernization 
of these procedures and increase transparency in procurement 
opportunities offered by the institution. 

	 Information of technology policy will be oriented toward technology 
developments based on international standards and relying on the 
help / advice from international financial institutions. 

	T he main objective of the Bank of Albania regarding accounting and 
finance is to enhance the efficiency of the use of financial resources, 
by improving processing, analysis and reporting.

Implementation and periodic monitoring of the implementation of the 
objectives of the medium-term strategy is a process that is tracked regularly by 
administrators and by the Supervisory Council of the Bank of Albania.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

In millions of Lek Note 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 8 93,477 30,229 21,700
Trading assets 12 15,870 14,383 12,601
Standardized gold 9 6,762 6,993 6,193
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund 10 34,403 21,792 20,220
Loans to banks 11 12,987 25,548 21,502
Available-for-sale investment securities 13 307,939 306,367 294,508
Property, equipment and intangible assets 14 20,855 21,160 15,889
Other assets 15 2,259 2,545 2,793

Total assets 494,552 429,017 395,406

LIABILITIES

Currency in circulation 16 239,191 226,407 207,766
Trading liabilities 12 16 10 -
Due to banks 17 142,967 106,309 100,032
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 18 3,361 2,386 2,188
Due to the Albanian Government 19 27,451 17,552 23,756
Due to the International Monetary Fund 10 18,711 17,932 18,633
Other liabilities 20 567 961 643

Total liabilities 432,264 371,557 353,018

CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Capital 2,500 2,500 2,500
Reserves 21 59,788 54,960 39,888

Total capital and reserves 62,288 57,460 42,388

Total liabilities, capital and reserves 494,552 429,017 395,406

The notes on pages 135 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements were authorized for issuance by the Supervisory Council and signed on 30 
March 2016 on its behalf by:

Gent Sejko

Governor 

Anjeza Beja (Harizaj)

Head of Payment Systems and Accounting 
and Finance Department
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In millions of Lek Note 2015 2014

Interest income 22 3,613 4,277
Interest expense 22 (644) (889)
Net interest income 2,969 3,388

Fee and commission income 66 74
Fee and commission expense (56) (40)
Net income from fees and commissions 10 34

Net trading income 23 503 182
Other revenue 24 809 970
Net (loss)/gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 9 (231) 800
Net foreign exchange gains 21 4,569 8,949
Total revenue 8,629 14,323 
Employee benefit expenses 25 (1,053) (1,051)
Depreciation and amortization 14 (562) (556)
Other general and administrative expenses (781) (907)
Other expenses 26 - (713)
Net profit 6,233 11,096 

Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets) 21 (310) 1,003 
Other comprehensive income for the year (310) 1,003
Total comprehensive income for the year 5,923 12,099

The notes on pages 135 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

In millions of Lek Capital Legal 
reserve

Revalu-
ation 

reserve

Fair 
value 

reserve

Other 
reserves

Transi-
tion 

reserve

Retained 
earnings Total

Balance at 1 January 2014 2,500 12,500 10,119 302 15,760 1,207 - 42,388
Total comprehensive income
Net profit - - - - - - 11,096 11,096
Other comprehensive income
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial 
assets) - - - 1,003 - - - 1,003

Total other comprehensive income - - - 1,003 - - - 1,003
Total comprehensive income - - - 1,003 - - 11,096 12,099
Contributions and distributions
Distribution of profit to Government of Albania - - - - - - (1,386) (1,386)
Total contributions and distributions - - - - - - (1,386) (1,386)
Transfers to reserves - - 9,749 - (12) - (9,710) 27
Balance at 31 December 2014 2,500 12,500 19,868 1,305 15,748 1,207 - 53,128
Effect of transition to IFRSs (note 31) - - - - - 4,332 - 4,332
Balance at 31 December 2014 2,500 12,500 19,868 1,305 15,748 5,539 - 57,460
Total comprehensive income
Net profit - - - - - - 6,233 6,233
Other comprehensive income
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial 
assets) - - - (310) - - - (310)

Total other comprehensive income - - - (310) - - - (310)
Total comprehensive income - - - (310) - - 6,233 5,923
Contributions and distributions
Distribution of profit to Government of Albania - - - - - - (1,095) (1,095)
Total contributions and distributions - - - - - - (1,095) (1,095)
Transfers to reserves - - 4,338 - 800 - (5,138) -
Balance at 31 December 2015 2,500 12,500 24,206 995 16,548 5,539 - 62,288
 
The notes on pages 135 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

In millions of Lek Note 2015 2014
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit 6,233 11,096 
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 14 562 556
Net interest income 22 (2,969) (3,388)
Net trading income 23 (503) (182)
Profit from sale of available-for-sale investment securities 24 (751) (834)

Net loss/(gain) from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 9 231 (800)

Provisions 20 46 3 
2,849 6,451 

Changes in:
Held-for-trading assets (978) (1,590)
Accounts with the International Monetary Fund (12,611) (1,572)
Loans to banks 12,561 (4,046)
Other assets 286 248
Currency in circulation 12,787 18,639 
Due to banks 36,656 6,279 
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 975 205
Due to the Albanian Government 9,755 (5,804)
Due to the International Monetary Fund 779 (701)
Other liabilities (441) 308 

62,618 18,417 
Interest received 3,189 4,627 
Interest paid (646) (932)
Net cash from operating activities 65,161 22,112 

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities (346,420) (310,743)
Proceeds from sale of investment securities 345,715 300,373
Acquisition of property, equipment and intangible assets (257) (1,427)
Net cash used in investing activities (962) (11,797)

Cash flows from financing activities
Profit distributed to Government (951) (1,786)
Net cash used in financing activities (951) (1,786)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 63,248 8,529 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 30,229 21,700 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 8 93,477 30,229 

The notes on pages 135 to 178 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements as of and for 
the year ended 31 December 2015

(amounts in ALL millions, unless otherwise stated)

1.	 GENERAL

The Bank of Albania (the ‘Bank’) is the central bank of the Republic of Albania 
established pursuant to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On 
the Bank of Albania’, as amended. 

Under the terms of its charter, the Bank’s main responsibilities include:

•	 formulating, adopting and executing the monetary policy of Albania, 
which shall be consistent with its primary objective;

•	 formulating, adopting and executing the foreign exchange arrangement 
and the exchange rate policy of Albania;

•	 issuing or revoking licenses and supervising banks that engage in the 
banking business in order to secure the stability of the banking system;

•	 holding and managing its official foreign reserves;
•	 acting as banker and adviser to, and as fiscal agent of, the Government 

of the Republic of Albania; and
•	 promoting an effective operation of payment systems.

The Bank is subject to the regulatory requirements of the Assembly of the 
Republic of Albania and the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

2.	 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (‘IFRS’). These are the Bank’s first 
financial statements prepared in accordance with the IFRSs and IFRS 1 First-time 
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards has been applied.

An explanation of how the transition to IFRSs has affected the reported financial 
position, financial performance and cash flows of the Bank is provided in note 
31.

3.	 Basis of measurement

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis 
except for the following items:

Items Basis of measurement 
Derivative financial instruments Fair value
Non-derivative financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss Fair value
Available-for-sale financial assets Fair value
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4.	F unctional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Albanian Lek (‘Lek’), which is the 
Bank’s functional currency. All amounts have been rounded to the nearest 
million, unless otherwise indicated.

5.	U se of estimates and judgments 

When preparing the financial statements in conformity with IFRSs, the 
Bank makes judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities for the following financial year. Estimates and 
judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience 
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to 
be reasonable under certain circumstances.

These disclosures supplement the commentary on financial instruments (see 
note 7).

(a)	 Judgments 

Information about critical judgments made in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial 
statements is included in the following notes:

•	 Note 17 Currency in circulation: The Bank has classified cash in 
circulation as a financial liability; and

•	 Note 9 Gold: The Bank has classified standardized gold as financial 
asset at fair value through profit or loss.

(b)	 Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a 
significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment in the next financial year 
is set out below in relation to the impairment of financial instruments and 
determination of the fair value of financial instruments.

(i)	I mpairment of financial instruments 

Assets accounted for at amortized cost and available-for-sale assets are 
evaluated for impairment on a basis described in the accounting policy 6.a.(vii). 

The specific counterparty component of the total allowances for impairment 
applies to financial assets evaluated individually for impairment and is based 
upon management’s best estimate of the present value of the cash flows that are 
expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes 
judgments about the counterparty’s financial situation and the net realizable 
value of any underlying collateral. Each impaired asset is assessed on its 
merits, and an estimate of cash flows considered recoverable is independently 
approved. 
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(ii)	 Determining fair values

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in 
active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. 
For all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using other 
valuation techniques. 

For financial instruments that are traded infrequently and have little price 
transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of 
judgment depending on liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, 
pricing assumptions and other risks affecting the specific instrument.

Measurement of fair values

The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which 
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. 

•	 Level 1: inputs that are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active 
markets for identical instruments. 

•	 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that 
are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived 
from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted 
market prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for 
identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than 
active; or other valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are 
directly or indirectly observable from market data. 

•	 Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all 
instruments for which the valuation technique includes inputs not based 
on observable data and the unobservable inputs have a significant 
effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes instruments 
that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which 
significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to 
reflect differences between the instruments.

The Bank recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at end 
of the reporting period, during which the change has occurred.

For more information on the determination of the fair value of financial 
instruments see Note 7.e. Financial instruments: risk management and fair 
values.

6.	SU MMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all 
periods presented in these financial statements and in preparing the opening 
IFRS statement of financial position at 1 January 2014 for the purposes of the 
transition to IFRSs, unless otherwise indicated.

(a)	F inancial assets and liabilities
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(i)	R ecognition

The Bank initially recognises loans and advances on the date on which they 
are originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases 
and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the 
date on which the Bank becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument. 

A financial asset or financial liability is measured initially at fair value plus, for 
an item not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition or issue.

(ii)	C lassification

Financial assets 

The Bank classifies its financial assets into one of the following categories: 

•	 available-for-sale; 
•	 loans and receivables; and
•	 at fair value through profit or loss.

See c., d., e., f., and g. 

Financial liabilities 

The Bank classifies its financial liabilities as measured at amortised cost. See 
b. and h. 

(iii)	 Derecognition 

Financial assets

The Bank derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the 
cash flows from the financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive 
the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the 
Bank neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

On the derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the carrying amount allocated to the portion of the 
asset derecognised) and the sum of (i) the consideration received (including 
any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) and (ii) any cumulative 
gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) 
is recognised in profit or loss. Any interest in transferred financial assets that 
qualify for derecognition that is created or retained by the Bank is recognised 
as a separate asset or liability. 
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Financial liabilities 

The Bank derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled, or expire. 

(iv)	O ffsetting 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented 
in the statement of financial position when, and only when, the Bank has a 
legal right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net 
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under 
the IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions 
such as in the Bank’s trading activity. 

(v)	 Amortised cost measurement 

The ‘amortized cost’ of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at 
which the financial asset or financial liability is measured at initial recognition, 
minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using 
the effective interest method of any difference between the initial amount 
recognized and the maturity amount, minus any reduction for impairment.

(vi)	 Fair value measurement

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to 
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous 
market to which the Bank has access at that date. The fair value of a liability 
reflects its non-performance risk. 

When available, the Bank measures the fair value of an instrument using the 
quoted price in an active market for that instrument. A market is regarded 
as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient 
frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an on-going basis. 
If there is no quoted price in an active market, then the Bank uses valuation 
techniques that maximize the use of relevant observable inputs and minimize 
the use of unobservable inputs. The chosen valuation technique incorporates 
all of the factors that market participants would take into account in pricing a 
transaction. 

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition 
is normally the transaction price – i.e. the fair value of the consideration given 
or received. If the Bank determines that the fair value at initial recognition 
differs from the transaction price and the fair value is evidenced neither by a 
quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability nor based 
on a valuation technique that uses only data from observable markets, then 
the financial instrument is initially measured at fair value, adjusted to defer the 
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difference between the fair value at initial recognition and the transaction price. 
Subsequently, that difference is recognized in profit or loss on an appropriate 
basis over the life of the instrument but no later than when the valuation is 
wholly supported by observable market data or the transaction is closed out. 

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask 
price, then the Bank measures assets and long positions at a bid price and 
liabilities and short positions at an ask price. 

The fair value of a demand deposit is not less than the amount payable on 
demand, discounted from the first date on which the amount could be required 
to be paid. 

The Bank recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of 
the end of the reporting period, during which the change has occurred. 

(vii)	I dentification and measurement of impairment 

At each reporting date, the Bank assesses whether there is objective evidence 
that financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss are impaired.

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is ‘impaired’ when objective 
evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset(s) and that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows of 
the asset(s) that can be estimated reliably. 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes: 

•	 significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
•	 default or delinquency by a borrower; 
•	 indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy; 
•	 disappearance of an active market for a security; or 
•	 observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes 

in the payment status of borrowers or issuers in the group, or economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults in the group.

Impairment losses on assets measured at amortised cost are calculated as the 
difference between the carrying amount and the present value of estimated 
future cash flows discounted at the asset’s original effective interest rate. 
Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance 
account against loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments. Interest 
on the impaired assets continues to be recognized through the unwinding of 
the discount. If an event occurring after the impairment was recognized causes 
the amount of impairment loss to decrease, then the decrease in impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss.

Impairment losses on available-for-sale investment securities are recognized by 
reclassifying the losses accumulated in the fair value reserve in equity to profit 
or loss. The cumulative loss that is reclassified from equity to profit or loss is the 
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difference between the acquisition cost, net of any principal repayment and 
amortization, and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously 
recognized in profit or loss. Changes in impairment attributable to application 
of the effective interest method are reflected as a component of interest income.

If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale 
debt security increases and the increase can be related objectively to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized, then the impairment 
loss is reversed through profit or loss; otherwise, any increase in fair value is 
recognized through OCI. 

The Bank writes off a loan or an investment debt security, either partially or in 
full, and any related allowance for impairment losses, when it determines that 
there is no realistic prospect of recovery.

(viii)	Securities lending agreements

Investments lent under securities lending agreements are reported in the 
statement of financial position and are valued in accordance with the 
accounting policies applicable to assets held for trading and assets available-
for-sale. Investments lent under securities lending agreements continue to be 
recognised in the Bank’s statement of financial position. The Bank receives 
cash or securities collateral for such lending. Income arising from the securities 
lending agreements is reported as interest income.

(b)	C urrency in circulation

Currency in circulation includes banknotes and coins in circulation and is 
presented under liabilities by deducting the nominal value of the banknotes 
and coins on hand from the nominal value of all the banknotes and coins 
issued.

(c)	C ash and cash equivalent

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins on hand in foreign currency 
and highly liquid financial assets with original maturities of three months or less 
from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
their fair value, and are used by the Bank in the management of its short-term 
commitments. 

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of 
financial position.

(d)	T rading assets and liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities are those assets and liabilities that the Bank 
acquires or incurs principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the 
near term, or holds as part of a portfolio that is managed together for short-
term profit or position taking.
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Trading assets and liabilities are initially recognized and subsequently 
measured at fair value in the statement of financial position, with transaction 
costs recognized in profit or loss. All changes in fair value are recognised as 
part of net trading income in profit or loss. Trading assets and liabilities are 
not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition. 

General information on the derivative instruments, which comprise future and 
forward contracts, is disclosed in Note 7 (d).

(e)	 Available-for-sale investment securities

Investment securities are initially measured at fair value plus incremental direct 
transaction costs.

Available-for-sale investments are non-derivative investments that are designated 
as available-for-sale or are not classified as another category of financial assets. 
Available-for-sale investments comprise debt securities. All other available-for-
sale investments are measured at fair value after initial recognition.

Interest income is recognized in profit or loss using the effective interest 
method. Foreign exchange gains or losses on available-for-sale debt security 
investments are recognized in profit or loss. Impairment losses are recognized 
in profit or loss (see a.(vii)). 

Other fair value changes, other than impairment losses (see a.(vii)), are 
recognized in OCI and presented in the revaluation (fair value) reserve within 
equity. When the investment is sold, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is 
reclassified to profit or loss.

(f)	L oans and receivables

Loans and receivablesare non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market and that 
the Bank does not intend to sell immediately or in the near term. Loans and 
receivables to banks and loans to employees are classified as loans and 
receivables. 

Loans and receivables are initially measured at fair value plus incremental 
direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortized cost 
using the effective interest method.

When the Bank purchases a financial asset and simultaneously enters into 
an agreement to resell the asset (or a substantially similar asset) at a fixed 
price on a future date (reverse repo), the arrangement is accounted for as a 
loan orreceivable , and the underlying asset is not recognized in the Bank’s 
financial statements.
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(g)	S tandardized gold

Standardized gold is valued at its fair value being the market value based on 
the official London Bullion Market price at the reporting date. Changes in the 
fair value are recognized in profit or loss and then transferred from retained 
earnings to the revaluation reserve in accordance to Article 64 (a) of the Law 
‘On the Bank of Albania’.

(h)	 Deposits and borrowings

Deposits and borrowings are initially measured at fair value minus incremental 
direct transaction costs, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

(i)	 Printing and minting costs

Freshly printed banknotes and coins, which have not yet been put into 
circulation, are recognized as assets at acquisition cost. The costs of printing 
banknotes and minting coins are deferred and amortized over 2.5 years and 
10 years, from the date of recognition, respectively.

(j)	 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Bank and the cost 
of the asset can be measured reliably. Intangible assets are comprised of 
computer software.

Intangible assets acquired by the Bank are stated at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Subsequent expenditure on software is capitalised only when it increases the 
future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All 
other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life of the software, from the date that it is available for use. 
The estimated useful life of a software is two years. Work in progress is not 
amortized.

(k)	 Property and equipment 

(i)	R ecognition and measurement

Items of property and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
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(ii)	 Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a part of an item of property or equipment is recognized 
in the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic 
benefits embodied within the part will flow to the Bank and its cost can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. 
The costs of the day-to-day maintenance of property and equipment are 
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

(iii)	 Depreciation

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of each part of an item of property and equipment. Land, 
work in progress, and numismatic coins and objects are not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

•	 Buildings 40 - 70 years
•	 Installations 4 – 20 years 
•	 Vehicles 5 - 10 years
•	 Furniture and equipment 3 - 20 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at the 
reporting date.

(l)	 Interest 

Interest income and expense are recognized in profit or loss using the effective 
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments and receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability (or, where appropriate, a shorter period) to 
the carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating 
the effective interest rate, the Bank estimates future cash flows considering all 
contractual terms of the financial instrument, but not future credit losses. 

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees 
and points paid or received that are an integral part of the effective interest 
rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to 
the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability. 

Interest income and expense presented in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income (‘OCI’) include:

•	 interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at 
amortised cost calculated on an effective interest basis; and

•	 interest on available-for-sale investment securities calculated on an 
effective interest basis.

Interest income and expense on all trading assets and liabilities are considered 
to be incidental to the Bank’s trading operations and are presented together 
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with all other changes in the fair value of trading assets and liabilities in net 
trading income (see accounting policy (o)).

(m)	F ees and commissions 

Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective 
interest rate on a financial asset or liability are included in the measurement of 
the effective interest rate.

Other fees and commission income, including account servicing fees, fund 
transfer fees, placement fees and credit registry fees are recognised as the 
related services are performed.

Other fees and commission expense relate mainly to transaction and service 
fees, which are expensed as the services are received.

(n)	T ransactions in foreign currency

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency at 
the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange 
rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is 
the difference between the amortised cost in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the year, adjusted for effective interest and payments during 
the year, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot 
exchange rate at the end of the year. 
Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated into the functional currency at the spot exchange rate at 
the date that the fair value determined. Non-monetary items that are measured 
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss. 

According to the Law No. 8269, dated 23 December 1997 ‘On the Bank 
of Albania’ and the Decision No. 104 dated 27 December 2006 of the 
Supervisory Council, the net gains/(losses) from foreign exchange that are 
initially recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, are then 
transferred from retained earnings to the ‘Revaluation reserves’ included in 
Capital and Reserves. According to Article 64 (b), the Government of Albania 
issues debt securities at market interest rates to cover any negative balance of 
the revaluation reserve arising from the Bank’s activity. 

(o)	N et trading income

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and 
liabilities, and includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes, interest, 
and foreign exchange differences.



Annual Report2015

146 Bank of Albania

(p)	O ther revenue

Other revenue includes gains and losses arising from disposals and changes 
in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets.

(q)	 Income from other financial instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss

Net income from other financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
relates to financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss. It 
includes all realised and unrealised fair value changes and foreign exchange 
differences.

(r)	T axation and Profit distribution policy of the Bank

Based on the law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ the Bank is not subject to income 
tax.

The Bank’s policy of distribution of profit from banking operations is defined in 
the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’. According to Article 10 (2) of this Law, the 
Bank allocates all the realised profit to the State Budget after having fulfilled its 
requirement for the reserve fund pursuant to the Law and as determined by the 
Supervisory Council of the Bank.

According to Article 11 of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, no transfer, 
redemption or payment under Articles 8, 9 or 10 of this Law shall be made 
if the assets of the Bank are less than the sum of its liabilities and paid-up 
capital. If such conditions arise, based on the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’ 
under Article 7, the Ministry of Finance might have to transfer interest bearing 
negotiable government securities to the Bank, in such amount as would be 
necessary to remedy the deficiency.

(s)	E mployee benefits

(i)	 Defined contribution plans

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution plans are expensed as the 
related service is provided and recognised as personnel expenses in profit or 
loss. Defined contribution plans include voluntary and compulsory contribution 
plans.

The Bank makes compulsory social security contributions that provide pension 
benefits for employees upon retirement. The local authorities are responsible 
for providing the legally set minimum threshold for pensions in Albania under 
a defined contribution pension plan. 
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(ii)	 Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense when the Bank is 
demonstrably committed, without realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal 
detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement date, 
or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage 
voluntary redundancy. Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are 
recognized if the Bank has made an offer of voluntary redundancy, it is 
probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can 
be estimated reliably.

(iii)	 Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted 
basis and are expensed as the related service is provided. A provision is 
recognized for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus if 
the Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as 
a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be 
estimated reliably.

(t)	O perating leases

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on 
a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are 
recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the term of the 
lease.

(u)	 Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Bank’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each 
reporting date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds 
its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the highest value between its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate 
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. 

Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are assessed at each reporting 
date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 
impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to 
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no 
impairment loss had been recognized.
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(v)	 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Bank has a 
present legal or constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future 
cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount 
is recognised as finance cost.

(w)	N ew standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 
are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2015, and have not 
been early applied in preparing these financial statements. Those that may be 
relevant to the Bank are set out below: 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

IFRS 9, published in July 2014, replaces the existing guidance in IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 includes revised 
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial instruments, 
including a new expected credit loss model for calculating impairment on 
financial assets, and the new general hedge accounting requirements. It also 
carries forward the guidance on recognition and derecognition of financial 
instruments from IAS 39. IFRS 9 is effective for annual reporting periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018, with early adoption permitted. The 
Bank has started the process of evaluating the potential impact on its financial 
statements resulting from the application of IFRS 9.

Amendments to IAS 1

The Amendments to IAS 1 include certain narrow-focus improvements to the 
disclosure requirements contained in the standard. It amends the guidance in 
IAS 1 on materiality and on the order of the notes, including the accounting 
policies. The Bank expects that the amendments, when initially applied, will 
have an impact on the presentation of the financial statements of the Bank and 
is in process of evaluating such impact.

The following new or amended standards are not expected to have a significant 
impact on the Bank’s financial statements:

•	 IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
•	 IFRS 15 Revenues from contracts with customers
•	 IFRS 16 Leases
•	 Amendments to IFRS 11: Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint 

Operations
•	 Amendments to IFRS 10, 12 and IAS 28: Investment entities-applying 

the consolidation exception
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•	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and Amortization

•	 Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41: Bearer Plants 
•	 Amendments to IAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions
•	 Amendments to IAS 27: Equity method in separate financial statements; 
•	 Amendments to IAS 7: Disclosure Initiative 
•	 Amendments to IAS 12: Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for 

Unrealized Losses
•	 Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or contribution of assets 

between an investor and its associate or joint venture 

7.	FINANCIAL  INSTRUMENTS: RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 
VALUES 

(a)	R isk management framework

The financial instruments of the Bank, are mainly used for the purposes of 
the foreign reserve management. The significance of risk is assessed within 
the context of the foreign reserve management. The Bank has exposure to 
the liquidity risk, credit risk, market risks and operational risks from financial 
instruments.

This note presents information about the Bank’s exposure to each of the 
above risks, the Bank’s objectives, policies and processes for measuring and 
managing risk.

Pursuant to the legal requirements, the Bank holds and manages the foreign 
reserves of the Republic of Albania. The Supervisory Council has the overall 
responsibility for the establishment of the risk management framework and the 
reserves management policies.

The Supervisory Council has approved the regulation ‘On the functions of the 
management structure in the decision-making process of the management of 
the reserves’. This regulation defines the responsibilities of the management, 
Supervisory Council, the Investment Committee, and the Department of the 
Monetary Operations, in managing the foreign reserves. The Supervisory 
Council is responsible for approving the regulation ‘On the policy and 
management of the foreign reserve management’, whilst the Investment 
Committee is responsible for approving the ‘Operational Procedures of 
Investment’ document. The regulation ‘On the policy and management of the 
foreign reserve management’ defines the objectives of the portfolio management 
ranked by priority, and the principles and qualitative criteria used as the basis 
of the financial risk management. The Investment Committee approves the 
quantitative criteria based on the limits set forth by the Supervisory Council 
and monitors the foreign reserve investment portfolio performance and results. 

In accordance with the decisions of the Supervisory Council on the eligible 
instruments, the reserve is invested in fixed or floating income securities, in 
deposits or certificates of deposit, and in derivative instruments. The remaining 
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foreign reserves are held in SDR and in standardized gold. Standardized 
Gold is managed in accordance with the regulation ‘On the policy and the 
management of gold’, approved by the Supervisory Council.

(b)	L iquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that: a) the Bank will encounter difficulty in meeting 
obligations associated with its financial liabilities in due time; and b) the Bank 
will not be able to sell a financial instrument within a specific time frame 
without causing significant loss compared to the market value. Liquidity is 
amongst the primary objectives of the foreign reserve management and is 
defined as the goal to insure the availability at all times of sufficient funds to 
meet the liquidity needs associated with: 

•	 the implementation of the monetary policy and the exchange rate 
policy of the Bank; and

•	 meeting the needs of the country in times of crisis. 

The implementation of these objectives is performed through the breakdown 
of the foreign reserve in certain tranches that, within the context of a prudent 
management of the liquidity risk, serve specific purposes and carry specific 
features. 

The foreign currency fund represents investments in assets that are financed 
by the liabilities in foreign currency, which are mainly composed by the funds 
deposited by commercial banks as part of the reserve requirement and by the 
government. 

The net reserve is composed of: 

1.	 the working capital tranche: designed to meet the monthly liquidity 
needs arising within one month; 

2.	 the liquidity tranche: designed to meet the liquidity needs arising within 
one year; 

3.	 the investment tranche: designed to meet the liquidity needs arising 
beyond the timeframes described in the first two tranches. 

The amount and currency composition of the tranches is determined based on 
the needs to use such tranches. The selection of the financial instruments where 
the majority of each tranche is invested, (the ‘benchmark portfolios’) and the 
duration of each benchmark portfolio are determined in line with the use of 
each tranche to meet the liquidity needs of the Bank. Although the overall 
reserve is invested in highly liquid instruments, the first and the second tranches 
described above, are invested in highly liquid short-term sovereign issues with 
high credit rating.

The tables below set out the remaining contractual maturities of the Bank’s 
financial liabilities and financial assets. The Bank’s expected cash flows on 
these instruments may vary from the contractual cash flows. 
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31 December 2015 Up to 1 
month 

From 1 
month 

to 3 
months 

From 3 
months 

to 6 
months 

From 6 
months 

to 1 
year

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

Over 5 
years 

Undefined 
maturity  Total

Financial assets                
Non-derivative assets
Cash and cash equivalents 76,320 17,157 - - - - - 93,477
Trading assets 252 392 189 1,662 13,245 - - 15,740
Standardized gold 4,621 2,141 - - - - - 6,762
Account with the IMF 23,815 - - - - - 10,588 34,403
Loans to banks 12,987 - - - - - - 12,987
Available-for-sale investment securities 19,976 28,508 43,520 60,743 144,091 11,101 - 307,939
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,646 - 1,646

137,971 48,198 43,709 62,405 157,336 12,747 10,588 472,954
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange forwards - 130 - - - - - 130
Total financial assets 137,971 48,328 43,709 62,405 157,336 12,747 10,588 473,084
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative liabilities
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 239,191 239,191
Due to banks 142,967 - - - - - - 142,967
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 2,147 - 5 - 1,209 - - 3,361
Due to the Albanian Government 23,740 - 1,395 - - - 2,316 27,451
Due to the IMF 9,629 121 39 234 584 - 8,104 18,711
Other liabilities 72 - - - - - - 72

178,555 121 1,439 234 1,793 - 249,611 431,753
Derivative liabilities
Interest rate futures 16 - - - - - - 16
Total financial liabilities 178,571 121 1,439 234 1,793 - 249,611 431,769
Asset-liability maturity mismatch as of 31 
December 2015 (40,600) 48,207 42,270 62,171 155,543 12,747 (239,023) 41,315

31 December 2014 Up to 1 
month 

From 1 
month 

to 3 
months 

From 3 
months 

to 6 
months 

From 6 
months 

to 1 
year

From 1 
year to 5 

years 

Over 5 
years 

Undefined 
maturity  Total

Financial assets                
Non-derivative assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14,817 15,412 - - - - - 30,229
Trading assets 346 - 545 1,099 11,972 416 - 14,378
Standardized gold 6,993 - - - - - - 6,993
Account with the IMF 12,306 - - - - - 9,486 21,792
Loans to banks 22,231 3,317 - - - - - 25,548
Available-for-sale investment securities 21,741 33,835 46,664 53,496 140,560 10,071 - 306,367
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,730 - 1,730

78,434 52,564 47,209 54,595 152,532 12,217 9,486 407,037
Derivative assets
Foreign exchange forwards - 5 - - - - - 5
Total financial assets 78,434 52,569 47,209 54,595 152,532 12,217 9,486 407,042
Financial liabilities 
Non-derivative liabilities
Currency in circulation - - - - - - 226,407 226,407
Due to banks 106,309 - - - - - - 106,309
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 1,152 - - - 1,234 - - 2,386
Due to the Albanian Government 16,101 - 951 - - - 500 17,552
Due to the IMF 8,521 266 21 328 1,043 - 7,753 17,932
Other liabilities 49 - - - - - - 49

132,132 266 972 328 2,277 - 234,660 370,635
Derivative liabilities
Interest rate futures 10 - - - - - - 10
Total financial liabilities 132,142 266 972 328 2,277 - 234,660 370,645
Asset-liability maturity mismatch as of 31 
December 2014 (53,708) 52,303 46,237 54,267 150,255 12,217 (225,174) 36,397
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(c)	C redit risk 

For the purpose of the foreign reserve management, the credit risk is the risk 
of financial loss to the Bank, if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Bank’s loans 
and advances to other banks and investment securities. For risk management 
reporting purposes, the Bank considers and consolidates all elements of credit 
risk exposure (such as individual obligor default risk, country and sector risk). 
The management of this risk is an important objective, in the process of the 
foreign exchange reserve management. 

The market risk in respect of changes in value in trading assets arising from 
changes in market credit spreads applied to debt securities and derivatives 
included in trading assets is managed as a component of market risk; for 
further details, see (d) below.

The Supervisory Council has established limits of concentration of exposure to 
counterparties, and by type of investment, issuer, credit rating band, market 
liquidity, with the governments and central banks issues prioritized. The 
evaluation and monitoring process of the credit rating of the eligible issuers 
is based on the analysis and the rating determined by the principal rating 
agencies, including Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch, as well as in 
the reviewing processes, on a daily basis, of the performance of several 
market indicators of the quality of the credit rating of the issuer. In accordance 
with the limits imposed by the Supervisory Council, the Investment Committee 
is authorized to establish other qualitative and/or quantitative limits on the 
exposure level for the issuer/financial institution on an individual basis, 
category, or combined category and instrument basis. Depending on the 
market environment and conditions, the Bank may decide to adapt even more 
conservative limits for an issuer/financial institution. 

The investment of the foreign exchange reserve is limited to sovereign 
(government/central bank) issues with minimum credit ratings of A- and BBB- 
for sovereign/central banks of the euro area); sovereign agencies, multilateral 
institutions, public entities with a minimum credit rating of AA-; and banks and 
other financial institutions with a minimum credit rating of AA-. The credit rating 
refers to the credit rating of an issuer/financial institution, and if such rating is 
not provided, the credit rating of the long-term debt of the financial institution 
is used. 

For the purpose of the reserve management operations and for payments, 
the Bank may operate through current accounts opened with banks with a 
minimum credit rating of A. 

The loans to the local banks are secured/collateralized by treasury bills issued 
by the Albanian Government.

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of the financial assets that are 
exposed to credit risk as at 31 December 2015 and 2014:
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2015 2014
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents (note 8) 93,454 30,210
Standardized gold 6,762 6,993
Accounts with the IMF (see below) 15,713 4,555
Loans to banks 12,987 25,548
Trading assets 15,870 14,383
Available-for-sale investment securities 307,939 306,367
Other assets (note 15) 1,646 1,730
Total 454,371 389,786

An amount of ALL 8,104 million (2014: ALL 7,752 million) which is included 
in the SDR Holdings with the IMF (see note 10) does not represent credit risk 
for the Bank since it represents the counter-account of the amounts acquired 
through the SDR allocations. Only the amount of holdings above allocations of 
ALL 15,713 million (2014: ALL 4,555 million) is included in the assets, which 
represent credit risk.

A segregation of the financial assets by geography is set out below: 

31 December 2015 Ger-
many 

France Other EU 
countries 

United States 
of America 

Republic 
of Albania Other Total 

Accounts and deposits with financial institutions 
(note 8) 7,261 10,664 71,922 3,607 - - 93,454

Trading assets	 1,909 718 2,003 10,985 130 125 15,870
Standardized gold - 2,141 4,621 - - - 6,762
Accounts with the IMF - - - - - 15,713 15,713
Loans to banks - - - - 12,987 - 12,987
Available-for-sale investment securities 40,026 35,108 134,099 44,643 53,227 836 307,939
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,646 1,646
Total 49,196 48,631 212,645 59,235 66,344 18,320 454,371

31 December 2014 Ger-
many 

France Other EU 
countries 

United States 
of America 

Republic 
of Albania Other Total 

Accounts and deposits with financial institutions 
(note 8) 2,358 2,847 19,423 5,582 - - 30,210

Trading assets	 1,646 231 3,278 9,223 5 - 14,383
Standardized gold - -  6,993 - - - 6,993
Accounts with the IMF - - - - - 4,555 4,555
Loans to banks - - - - 25,548 - 25,548
Available-for-sale investment securities 48,476 39,168 104,637 43,378 63,948 6,760 306,367
Other assets (note 15) - - - - - 1,730 1,730
Total 52,480 42,246 134,331 58,183 89,501 13,045 389,786



Annual Report2015

154 Bank of Albania

A segregation of the financial assets by counterparty type is set out below: 

31 December 2015
Cash 

and cash 
equivalents

Trading 
assets

Stan-
dardized 

gold 

Accounts 
with the 

IMF 

Loans to 
banks 

Available-for-
sale invest-

ments securities

 Other 
Assets Total

Central Bank 22,800 - 6,762 15,713 - - - 45,275
BIS Basel 44,883 - - - - - - 44,883
Foreign Governments and 
Agencies - 15,740 - - - 248,459 - 264,199

Commercial Banks 25,771 - - - 12,987 6,255 - 45,013
Albanian Government - 130 - - - 53,225 - 53,355
Other - - - - - - 1,646 1,646
Total 93,454 15,870 6,762 15,713 12,987 307,939 1,646 454,371

31 December 2015
Cash 

and cash 
equivalents

Trading 
assets

Stan-
dardized 

gold 

Accounts 
with the 

IMF 

Loans to 
banks 

Available-for-
sale invest-

ments securities

 Other 
Assets Total

Central Bank 8,553 - 6,993 4,555 - - - 20,101
BIS Basel 3,239 - - - - - - 3,239
Foreign Government and 
Agencies - 14,378 - - - 231,855 - 246,233

Commercial Banks 18,418 - - - 25,548 10,564 - 54,530
Albanian Government - 5 - - - 63,948 - 63,953
Other - - - - - - 1,730 1,730
Total 30,210 14,383 6,993 4,555 25,548 306,367 1,730 389,786

An analysis of concentration of the credit risk by quality of credit rating is 
shown below: 

Credit Risk 
31 December 2015

Cash 
and cash 

equivalents

Standard-
ized gold 

Investment 
securities 

 Special 
Drawing 

Rights (SDR)**

Loans to 
banks and 

other assets 
Total 

AAA 13,927 4,621 55,638 - - 74,186
AA 21,512 2,141 183,146 - - 206,799
A 5,870 - 6,515 - - 12,385
BBB 7,262 - 25,155 - - 32,417
B+* - - 53,355 - 8,441 61,796
BIS Basel (Bank for International Settlements) 44,883 - - - - 44,883
Unrated - - - 15,713 6,192 21,905
Total 93,454 6,762 323,809 15,713 14,633 454,371

*) The Albanian Government is rated as B+, stable, based on the credit rating of Standard & 
Poor’s and Ba2, stable, based on the credit rating of Moody`s. 

The credit ratings included above show the second best rating amongst 
Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. 

Credit Risk
31 December 2014

Cash and cash 
equivalents

Standardized 
gold 

Investment 
securities 

 Special Drawing 
Rights (SDR)

Loans to banks 
and other assets Total 

AAA  8,038 6,993 71,635 - - 86,666
AA  13,625 - 160,766 - - 174,391
A  2,949 - 3,061 - - 6,010
BBB  2,359 - 21,335 - - 23,694
B*  - - 63,953 - 19,630 83,583
BIS Basel  3,239 - - - - 3,239
Unrated  - - - 4,555 7,648 12,203
Total 30,210 6,993 320,750 4,555 27,278 389,786

*) The Albanian Government is rated B (with positive expectation) based on the credit rating of 
Standard & Poor’s and B1 based on the credit rating of Moody`s. The credit ratings included 
above show the second best rating amongst Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch.

**) The currency value of the SDR is determined by summing the values in the US dollar, based 
on market exchange rates, of a basket of major currencies (the US dollar, euro, Japanese yen, 
and pound sterling). The SDR currency value is calculated daily and the valuation basket is 
reviewed and adjusted every five years.
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(d)	M arket risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as interest rates, equity 
prices, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads (not relating to changes 
in the obligor’s / issuer’s credit standing) will affect the Bank of Albania’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within 
acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return on risk.

The key elements of price risk affecting the Bank are:

•	 Interest rate risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in market interest rates; and

•	 Currency risk associated with fluctuations in the fair value of financial 
instruments due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Bank’s exposure to currency risk is monitored on a continual basis by the 
Monetary Operations Department. Financial assets and liabilities denominated 
in foreign currencies are disclosed in the relevant notes of the financial 
statements.

For the purpose of foreign reserve management, the Investment Committee defines 
a set of narrow ranges of the currency composition of some of the tranches of the 
foreign exchange reserve. The limits are monitored by the Monetary Operations 
Department, which carries out the necessary rebalancing operations in order to 
preserve the required weights of the currencies’ composition.

i)	I nterest rate risk

The Bank’s operations are subject to the risk of interest rate fluctuations, which 
affect the prices of interest-earning assets (including investments) and interest-
bearing liabilities. 

The Monetary Operations Department of the Bank monitors the interest rate risk. 
The Bank mitigates such risks by maintaining a significant excess of interest-
bearing assets over liabilities. The Bank maintains a portfolio of interest-bearing 
financial assets and liabilities such that the net interest income is significantly 
higher than operating needs, in order to minimize the potential adverse effects 
of interest rate fluctuations. Interest rates applicable to financial assets and 
liabilities are disclosed in the relevant notes to the financial statements. 

The interest rate risk management, for the purpose of foreign exchange reserve 
management, in its core process includes the selection of the portfolio/duration 
benchmark for each market (currency) in which the foreign reserves are held. 
The benchmark selection is reviewed annually or whenever changes in 
market conditions require a reassessment. Besides determining the benchmark 
portfolio, the Investment Committee, in accordance with the limits imposed by 
the Supervisory Council, determines limits at the tranche level for the additional 
risk factors that can be taken by the portfolio manager specialist during the 
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active administration. The portfolio level limits are established by the Head of 
the Monetary Operation Department.

The principal tools used to measure interest rate risk for individual portfolios 
within the foreign exchange reserve are Duration and VaR (Value at Risk).

•	 Duration measures the sensitivity of the price of a fixed-income security 
against the volatility of the interest rates in the market.

•	 The VaR is defined as the estimated maximum loss that will arise on a 
portfolio over a specified period of time from its exposure to the risk 
factors with a specified confidence interval.

The Bank uses parametric methods such as the covariance matrix, calculated 
based on the historical changes of the interest rates, weekly data from the last 
three years with a confidence interval of 95%, and weighted methods such as 
EWMA (Exponentially Weighted Moving Average) to calculate the estimated 
maximum loss from the portfolios for a one-year period. A VaR of 95% (VAR (95%)) 
can be interpreted as the maximum loss in 95% of the cases in a one-year period.

For the purposes of reserve management, the calculated VaR includes only 
the exposure to the risk of changes in interest rates for all positions, including 
benchmark instruments and non-benchmark instruments. 

For benchmark instruments, the data used encompasses changes in interest 
rates for treasury issues for each currency and for non-benchmark instruments 
the data used encompasses issues rated as AA, given that this rating constitutes 
the major share of non-benchmark instruments of the reserve portfolios. 

The following is a summary of the VaR (95%) position of the Bank’s portfolios 
at 31 December 2015 and 2014: 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
VaR (95%) in Lek (1,954) (1,631)

Furthermore, an important method to measure market risk is the sensitivity analysis 
of the value of the reserve to hypothetical changes in market factors. The data 
used in the sensitivity analysis calculations include the duration of portfolios and 
weight of each currency. The duration of the portfolio shows the degree of 
change in the market value of the portfolio, assuming a parallel shift of the yield 
curve based on interest rates for all the instruments within the portfolio. 

Assuming an immediate parallel increase (decrease) in interest rates by 50 
basis points and 100 basis points and a correlation equal to 1 between 
the curves, and based on the duration of the aggregate foreign exchange 
reserves, the estimated loss (gain) for each scenario is as follows:

Estimated Profit (loss) effect 2015 2014
100 bp 50 bp 100 bp 50 bp

Increase (2,244) (4,489) (2,112)  (4,223)
Decrease 2,244 4,489 2,112 4,223
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Assets and liabilities with variable interest rates carry the risk of changing the 
base that serves to determine interest rates.

The position of the Bank’s sensitivity to interest rate by contractual repricing is 
presented in the following table, showing the carrying amounts of financial 
instruments classified by contractual repricing or maturity date.

31 December 2015 Total Floating rate 
instruments 

Fixed rate instruments Non-interest 
bearing 

instruments 
Up to 1 

month
From 1 to 3 

months 
Over 3 
months 

Interest-earning assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 93,477 69,989 6,003 17,160 - 325
Trading assets 15,870 817 - - 14,923 130
Standardized gold 6,762 - - 2,141 - 4,621
Accounts with the IMF 34,403 23,817 - - - 10,586
Loans to banks 12,987 - 12,987 - - -
Available-for-sale investment securities 307,939 2,961 - 1,638 303,340 -
Other assets (note 15) 1,646 - - - 1,646 -
Total 473,084 97,584 18,990 20,939 319,909 15,662

Interest-bearing liabilities 
Currency in circulation 239,191 - - - - 239,191
Trading liabilities 16 - - - - 16
Due to banks 142,967 - 55,297 - - 87,670
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 3,361 - 1,603 - 1,215 543
Due to the Albanian Government 27,451 500 - - - 26,951
Due to the IMF 18,711 8,698 - - - 10,013
Other liabilities 72 - - - - 72
Total 431,769 9,198 56,900 - 1,215 364,456

Interest-bearing financial instruments gap 41,315 88,386 (37,910) 20,939 318,694 (348,794)

31 December 2014 Total Floating rate 
instruments 

Fixed rate instruments Non-interest 
bearing 

instruments 
Up to 1 

month
From 1 to 3 

months 
Over 3 
months 

Interest-earning assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 30,229 12,194 2,339 15,412 - 284
Trading assets 14,383 1,339 - - 13,039 5
Standardized gold 6,993 - - - - 6,993
Accounts with the IMF 21,792 - 12,306 - - 9,486
Loans to banks 25,548 - 25,548 - - -
Available-for-sale investment securities 306,367 1,038 - - 305,329 -
Other assets (note 15) 1,730 - - - 1,730 -
Total 407,042 14,571 40,193 15,412 320,098 16,768

Interest-bearing liabilities 
Currency in circulation 226,407 - - - - 226,407
Trading liabilities 10 - - - - 10
Due to banks 106,309 - 45,978 - - 60,331
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 2,386 - 52 - 1,234 1,100
Due to the Albanian Government 17,552 500 - - - 17,052
Due to the IMF 17,932 8,806 - - - 9,126
Other liabilities 49 - - - - 49
Total 370,645 9,306 46,030 - 1,234 314,075

Interest-bearing financial instruments gap
Interest-earning assets 36,397 5,265 (5,837) 15,412 318,864 (297,307)
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i)	I nterest rate risk 

Future contracts

A future contract is a Standardized contract to buy or sell a financial or non 
financial asset, at a certain date in the future and at a market determined price. 
To minimize the credit risk, depended on the type of instrument, the investor 
should post a margin to the clearing house. This margin or performance bond, 
is valued every day according to the prices in the market (marked to market), 
which means that every change in value is shown in the account of investor at 
the end of each trading day until the expiry day.

The net fair value of future contracts at 31 December 2015 is ALL 16 million 
(2014: ALL 10 million) (see Note 12).

The nominal value of these contracts as at 31 December 2015 is composed 
by the following:

•	 buy contracts in the amount of ALL 1,180 million (2014: ALL 856 
million); and

•	 sell contracts in the amount of ALL 6,128 million (2014: ALL 6,440 
million).

ii)	 Exchange rate risk 

Exchange rate risk results from the difference between the currency structure of 
assets and liabilities. From an accounting point of view, the Bank is exposed 
to currency risk due to its principal central bank functions.

This risk can affect the size of its capital. In order to manage this type of 
exposure, over the years, action has been taken to increase capital, inflow 
funds and in exceptional cases, when the value of the revaluation of the 
foreign currencies was negative, issuance of debt instruments of the Republic 
of Albania, compliant to the provisions of the law ‘On the Bank of Albania’.

Forward contracts 

Trading derivatives include forward exchange contracts that are entered into 
by the Bank with the Albanian Government. These instruments are not usually 
closed out before contractual maturity.

The fair value of forward contracts at 31 December 2015 is ALL 130 million 
(2014: ALL 5 million) (see Note 12).

The Bank’s exposure to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2015 and 
31 December 2014 is as follows:
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31 December 2015 ALL USD EUR GBP Other Total

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents - 3,848 78,252 3,103 8,274 93,477
Trading assets - 15,740 - - 130 15,870
Standardized gold - - - - 6,762 6,762
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 34,403 34,403
Loans to banks - - - - 12,987 12,987
Available-for-sale investment securities 53,226 57,448 186,417 10,012 836 307,939
Other assets 1,646 - - - - 1,646
Total assets 54,872 77,036 264,669 13,115 63,392 473,084

Liabilities 
Currency in circulation 239,191 - - - - 239,191
Trading liabilities - 16 - - - 16
Due to banks 66,119 5,876 70,972 - - 142,967
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 2,147 - 1,214 - - 3,361
Due to the Albanian Government 14,252 170 12,215 1 813 27,451
Due to the IMF - - - - 18,711 18,711
Other liabilities - 72 - - - 72
Total liabilities 321,709 6,134 84,401 1 19,524 431,769

Net currency position (266,837) 70,902 180,268 13,114 43,868 41,315

31 December 2014 ALL USD EUR GBP Other Total

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents - 4,851 19,914 3,606 1,858 30,229
Trading assets - 14,378 - - 5 14,383
Standardized gold - - - - 6,993 6,993
Accounts with the IMF - - - - 21,792 21,792
Loans to banks 25,548 - - - - 25,548
Available-for-sale investment securities 63,948 53,848 172,882 8,929 6,760 306,367
Other assets 1,730 - - - - 1,730
Total assets 91,226 73,077 192,796 12,535 37,408 407,042

Liabilities
Currency in circulation 226,407 - - - - 226,407
Trading liabilities - 10 - - - 10
Due to banks 57,143 5,246 43,920 - - 106,309
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 1,152 - 1,234 - - 2,386
Due to the Albanian Government 13,919 91 3,278 1 263 17,552
Due to the IMF - - - - 17,932 17,932
Other liabilities - 49 - - - 49
Total liabilities 298,621 5,396 48,432 1 18,195 370,645

Net currency position (207,395) 67,681 144,364 12,534 19,213 36,397

(e)	F air value of financial instruments

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow 
models, comparison with similar instruments for which market observable prices 
exist, and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation 
techniques include risk-free and benchmark interest rates, credit spreads and 
other premiums used in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, 
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foreign currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected 
price volatilities and correlations. 

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement 
that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or paid to 
transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date. 

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the fair 
value of common and more simple financial instruments, such as interest rate 
and currency swaps that use only observable market data and require little 
management judgment and estimation. Observable prices or model inputs are 
usually available in the market for listed debt and equity securities. Availability of 
observable market prices and model inputs reduces the need for management 
judgment and estimation and also reduces the uncertainty associated with 
determining fair values. Availability of observable market prices and inputs 
varies depending on the products and markets and is prone to changes based 
on specific events and general conditions in the financial markets.

Fair value estimates obtained from models are adjusted for any other factors, 
such as liquidity risk or model uncertainties, to the extent that the Bank believes 
that a third party market participant would take them into account in pricing 
a transaction. Fair values reflect the credit risk of the instrument and include 
adjustments to take account of the credit risk of the Bank entity and the 
counterparty where appropriate. 

Model inputs and values are calibrated against historical data and published 
forecasts and, where possible, against current or recent observed transactions 
in different instruments and against broker quotes. This calibration process is 
inherently subjective and it yields ranges of possible inputs and estimates of fair 
value, and management judgment is required to select the most appropriate 
point in the range.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active 
markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. For 
all other financial instruments, the Bank determines fair values using valuation 
techniques. Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted 
cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for which market 
observable prices exist and other valuation models. The objective of valuation 
techniques is to arrive at a fair value determination that reflects the price of the 
financial instrument in an orderly transaction between market participants at 
the measurement date.

The Bank uses widely recognized valuation models for determining the 
fair value of common and more simple financial instruments that use only 
observable market data and require little management judgment and estimation. 
Observable prices and model inputs are usually available in the market for 
listed securities, exchange traded derivatives like interest rate futures and 
simple over the counter derivatives. Availability of observable market prices 
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and model inputs reduces the need for management judgment and estimation 
and also reduces the uncertainty associated with determination of fair values. 
Availability of observable market prices and inputs varies depending on the 
products and markets and is prone to changes based on specific events and 
general conditions in the financial markets.

Financial instruments measured at fair value – Fair value hierarchy

The following table analyses financial instruments measured at fair value at the 
reporting date, by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value 
measurement is categorized. The amounts are based on the values recognised 
in the statement of financial position.

31 December 2015 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Standardized gold 9 6,762 - - 6,762
Non-derivative trading assets 12 15,740 - - 15740
Derivative trading assets 12 - - 130 130
Investments in securities 13 303,132 4,807 - 307,939
Total 325,634 4,807 130 330,571

Trading liabilities
Derivative trading liabilities 12 16 - - 16
Total 16 - - 16

31 December 2014 Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
Financial assets
Standardized gold 9 6,993 - - 6,993
Non-derivative trading assets 12 14,378 - - 14,378
Derivative trading assets 12 - - 5 5
Investments in securities 13 296,004 10,363 - 306,367
Total 317,375 10,363 5 327,743

Trading liabilities
Derivative liabilities 12 10 - - 10
Total 10 - - 10

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair values of certain financial instruments not 
measured at fair value by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each 
fair value measurement is categorised.

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Note Fair value Level 2 Carrying amount Fair value Level 2 Carrying amount

2015 2015 2014 2014
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 8 93,477 93,477 30,229 30,229
Loans to banks 11 12,987 12,987 25,548 25,548
Special Drawing Rights (“SDR”) held 10 34,403 34,403 21,792 21,792
Other financial assets 15 1,646 1,646 1,730 1,730
Liabilities
Due to the IMF 10 18,711 18,711 17,932 17,932
Due to banks 17 142,967 142,967 106,309 106,309
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 18 3,361 3,361 2,386 2,386
Due to the Albanian Government 19 27,451 27,451 17,552 17,552
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(e)	O perational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety 
of causes associated with the Bank’s processes, personnel, technology and 
infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity 
risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally 
accepted standards of corporate behaviour. Operational risks arise from all of 
the Bank’s operations.

Operational risk management is supported by the internal control systems on 
several activities of the Bank of Albania and standards for the management 
of operational risk and a wide range of common policies, staff management 
regulations and obligatory requirements. 

8.	 cash and CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Cash 66 47 71
Current accounts 70,252 12,428 13,313
Short-term deposits 23,159 17,754 8,316
Total 93,477 30,229 21,700

The annual interest rates for short-term deposits are as follows:

In % EUR GBP USD
At 31 December 2015 (0.30) - 0.00 n/a 0.36
At 31 December 2014 0.03 – 0.07 0.52 0.09

9.	g old

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Standardized gold 6,762 6,993 6,193
Total 6,762 6,993 6,193

The standardized gold is placed in time deposits and current accounts with 
foreign banks.

The decrease of ALL 231 million compared to the prior year (2014: increase 
of ALL 800 million comparing to 2013) is a result of valuing the gold at the 
market price at the reporting date, and is initially recognized in profit or loss, 
and subsequently transferred from retained earnings to the Revaluation reserve 
(see Note 21).

10.	A ccounts with/DUE to the international monetary 
fund (imf)

Accounts with the IMF 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Quotas with IMF 10,586 9,485 9,712
Special Drawing Rights (“SDR”) held 23,817 12,307 10,508
Total assets 34,403 21,792 20,220
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Due to the IMF 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
SDR allocations 8,104 7,752 7,286
IMF securities account 7,422 6,823 7,286
IMF account No.1 2,587 2,301 2,379
IMF account No.2 1 1 1
Poverty Reduction and Growth Facility (‘PRGF’) 595 1,054 1,678
Accrued interest 2 1 3
Total liabilities 18,711 17,932 18,633

Quotas with the IMF of ALL 10,586 million or SDR 60 million (2014: ALL 
9,485 million or SDR 60 million) originate from the membership of the Republic 
of Albania in the IMF, according to the Law No.8269, dated 23 December 
1997 ‘On the Bank of Albania’. 

The SDR holdings of ALL 23,817 million or SDR 137 million (2014: ALL 
12,306 million or SDR 74 million) represent deposits with the IMF. The SDR 
holdings bear interest, which is determined on a weekly basis. The interest rate 
at 31 December 2015 is 0.05% p.a. (2014: 0.05% p.a.).

SDR Allocations of ALL 8,104 million or SDR 46 million (2014: ALL 7,752 
million or SDR 46 million) represent amounts borrowed from IMF with two 
tranches in August and September 2009, whose purpose is to provide 
immediate response to the short-term and long-term liquidity needs of the 
member countries.

The IMF accounts represent liabilities towards Albania’s participation in the 
IMF. The IMF accounts do not have a defined maturity. The IMF securities 
account includes borrowings that are part of the Extended Fund Facility (EFF) 
program. EFF borrowing of ALL 496 million or SDR 3 million (2014: ALL 670 
million or SDR 4 million) were disbursed during the period from 2006 to 
2009. The facility is repayable within 10 years, after a grace period of four 
and a half years. The interest on these borrowings is floating and is paid on 
quarterly basis. At 31 December 2015, the annual interest rate was 1.05 % 
(2014: 1.05%).

IMF pays remuneration to members with remunerated reserve tranche positions, 
at 0.044% p.a. (2014: 0.05% p.a.). The reserve tranche position of ALL 
1,071 million or SDR 6 million (2014: ALL 1,031 million or SDR 6 million) 
is calculated as the difference between Quotas in the IMF and the currency 
holdings in the IMF accounts, excluding holdings acquired as a result of the 
use of the Fund credit and holdings in the IMF account No.2. 

PRGF borrowings of ALL 595 million or SDR 3 million (2014: ALL 1,054 
million or SDR 6 million) include PRGF No. 3 that was fully settled in 2015, 
and PRGF No. 4 that was granted in 2006 and bears an interest rate of 0.5% 
p.a. This facility had a grace period of five and a half years and is payable 
in 10 semi-annual equal instalments.

Direct budget support provided by the IMF in 2015 and 2014
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Direct budget support provided by the IMF to the Government of Albania, 
where the Government assumes the Fund liability, is not recognised by the 
Bank even though the funds are initially deposited in the Government accounts 
at the Bank. In 2015 and 2014, the IMF disbursed tranches with a total 
balance of ALL 21,743 million (2014: ALL 7,398 million), as part of the EFF 
facility program approved by the IMF in favor of Albania. These tranches 
are used to provide direct budget financing to the Government of Albania 
represented by the Ministry of Finance. The borrowing is repayable within 
3 years, by the Albanian Government through the accounts of the Bank with 
the IMF. The Albanian Government will repay all principal, interest and any 
other expense associated with the above tranches, and those expected to be 
disbursed in the future. In relation to this borrowing, the Ministry of Finance 
issued promissory notes in favor of the IMF. 

11.	LOANS  TO BANKS

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Reverse repurchase agreements 12,987 25,548 21,132
Other loans to banks - - 370
Total 12,987 25,548 21,502

At 31 December 2015, reverse repurchase agreements signed between the 
Bank and commercials banks have original maturities from one week to one 
month (2014: from one week to three months).

12.	TRADIN G ASSETS

Trading assets 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Non-derivatives:
Government Treasury Notes 11,996 10,556 7,685
Agencies and Corporate Securities 3,744 3,822 4,906
Derivatives:
Interest rate futures - - 2
Foreign exchange forwards 130 5 8
Total 15,870 14,383 12,601

Trading assets are administrated by the International Bank for Reconstruction 
and Development (‘IBRD’) as stated in the agreement ‘On the administration 
and technical assistance on investing the foreign reserve of Bank of Albania 
(Reserves and Advisory Management Program) signed between Bank of 
Albania and IBRD on 23 September 2005. Investments from this portfolio are 
denominated in USD.

Trading liabilities 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Derivatives:
Interest rate futures 16 10 -
Total 16 10 -

The annual interest rates for non-derivative assets at 31 December 2015 and 
2014 are as follows:
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In % USD
At 31 December 2015 0.38-2.75
At 31 December 2014 0.25-2.75

13.	AVAILA BLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT SECURITIES

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Foreign Governments Treasury Notes 163,734 156,192 169,262
Foreign Governments Treasury Bills 2,905 6,678 3,502
Agencies and Corporate long term securities 81,408 67,584 55,723
Agencies and Corporate short term securities 6,667 11,965 2,101
Treasury Bills of the Albanian Government 53,225 63,948 63,920
Total 307,939 306,367 294,508

The annual yields for each currency at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are 
as follows:

In % ALL USD GBP JPY EUR
At 31 December 2015 1.75-2.56 0.22-3.76 0.32-1.62 0.006 (0.39)-3.38
At 31 December 2014 3.08-3.83 0.07-3.93 0.31-1.55 (0.02)-0.03 (0.10)-3.62 

Available for sale investments in ALL at 31 December 2015, represent 
Albanian Government treasury bills with a maturity period from 3 months to 
12 months (2014: from 3 months to 12 months). 

As a result of further relaxing monetary policies of certain central banks during 
2015 and 2014, the return rates of some of the instruments in the EUR and JPY 
portfolios, are negative. These instruments represent mainly treasury securities 
issued by Eurozone Governments with high credit ratings, including those 
issued by the governments of Germany and France with maturities of 5 years 
and 3 years, respectively.

14.	P roperty, equipment and intangible assets

Land, 
buildings 

and instal-
lations 

Furniture 
and 

Equip-
ment

Ve-
hicles

Work in
Progress

Numis-
matic 

coins and 
objects

Total Prop-
erty and 

Equipment

Com-
puter 

software

Work 
in prog-

ress

Total In-
tangible 

Assets
Total

Cost or deemed cost
At 1 January 2014 6,684 2,099 275 2,248 6,302 17,608 468 - 468 18,076
Additions - 389 - 968 - 1,357 28 43 71 1,428
Transfers 2,971 32 - (3,003) - - - - - -
At 31 December 
2014 9,655 2,520 275 213 6,302 18,965 496 43 539 19,504

Effect of transition 
to IFRSs (see note 
31.b)

(253) - - - 4,090 3,837 - - - 3,837

At 31 December 
2014 9,402 2,520 275 213 10,392 22,802 496 43 539 23,341

Additions - 87 5 75 60 227 31 - 31 258
Transfers - 119 - (119) - - 43 (43) - -
Disposals (5) (90) - - - (95) (2) - (2) (97)
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At 31 December 
2015 9,397 2,636 280 169 10,452 22,934 568 0 568 23,502

Depreciation/amortization and impairment losses
At 1 January 2014 405 1,185 173 - - 1,763 424 - 424 2,187
Charge for the year 157 347 15 - - 519 37 - 37 556
At 31 December 
2014 562 1,532 188 - - 2,282 461 - 461 2,743

Effect of transition 
to IFRSs (see note 
31.b)

(562) - - - - (562) - - - (562)

At 31 December 
2014 - 1,532 188 - - 1,720 461 - 461 2,181

Charge for the year 145 338 15 - - 498 64 - 64 562
Disposals (5) (89) - - - (94) (2) - (2) (96)
At 31 December 
2015 140 1,781 203 - - 2,124 523 - 523 2,647

Net carrying amount 
At 1 January 2014 6,279 914 102 2,248 6,302 15,845 44 - 44 15,889
At 31 December 
2014 9,402 988 87 213 10,392 21,082 35 43 78 21,160

At 31 December 
2015 9,257 855 77 169 10,452 20,810 45 - 45 20,855

15.	 other assets 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Loans to employees 1,646 1,730 1,822
Numismatics (banknotes and coins) 304 264 264
Printing and minting costs 230 467 459
Inventory 43 54 58
Other 36 30 190
Total 2,259 2,545 2,793

Loans to employees at 31 December 2015 are net of allowance for impairment 
of ALL 8 million (2014: ALL 8 million). 

16.	CURRENCY  IN CIRCULATION

The exclusive right of issuing Albanian currency is vested with the Bank. 
Currency in circulation comprises domestic banknotes and coins in circulation 
issued by the Bank.

The following banknotes and coins were in circulation as at 31 December 
2015, 31 December 2014 and 1 January 2014:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014

Nominal value Lek Number in 
thousand

Total Lek 
(million)

Number in 
thousand

Total Lek 
(million)

Number in 
thousand

Total Lek 
(million)

Notes:
100 3,409 341 3,410 341 15,843 1,584
200 10,525 2,105 11,064 2,213 10,210 2,042
500 19,046 9,523 22,486 11,243 24,663 12,331
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1,000 40,817 40,817 47,168 47,168 52,643 52,643
2,000 24,994 49,988 23,565 47,130 20,285 40,570
5,000 26,524 132,618 22,960 114,801 19,289 96,445

Coins 3,799 3,511 2,151
239,191 226,407 207,766

17.	DUE  TO BANKS 

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Compulsory reserve and current accounts 132,145 88,156 87,443
Compulsory reserve – cash in custody 10,822 11,153 12,589
Overnight deposits - 7,000 -
Total 142,967 106,309 100,032

Based on the decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 39, dated 25 June 
2014, the compulsory reserve in foreign currency in 2014 is not remunerated, 
whilst the compulsory reserve in ek is remunerated at 1.225% (2014: 1.575%). 

Based on the Decision of the Supervisory Council, No. 29, date 16 May 
2012, ‘On the minimum compulsory reserve level held at Bank of Albania 
by commercial banks’, the Bank allows the commercial banks to maintain the 
compulsory reserve in the form of cash in custody with the Bank. 

18.	D eposits and borrowings from third parties

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Borrowing from the Republic of Greece 1,215 1,234 1,240
Deposits from households for participation in Treasury 
Bills auctions 364 1,014 725

Deposits from the pension fund 31 14 15
Deposits from the Deposit Insurance Agency 1,751 124 208
Total 3,361 2,386 2,188

The borrowing from the Republic of Greece, amounting ALL 1,215 million or 
EUR 8.8 million (2014: ALL 1,234 million or EUR 8.8 million), was granted 
for the purpose of funding the balance of payments of the Republic of Albania. 
The interest rate is 1.17% p.a., payable semi-annually, whilst the principal is 
payable at maturity, in 2018. 

The deposits from the pension fund relate to the pension plan scheme, which 
is based on employee contribution and employer contribution. Based on the 
Decision No. 17, dated 26 February 2014 of the Supervisory Council the 
pension fund reports its financial statements separately from the Bank.

19.	D ue to the albanian government

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Profit to be distributed to the Government 1,095 951 1,351
Deposits from the Government 26,356 16,601 22,405
Total 27,451 17,552 23,756
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The Bank does not pay interest for deposits from the Government, except for 
a guarantee deposit of ALL 500 million (2014: ALL 500 million), based on 
an agreement between the Bank and the Ministry of Finance, for which the 
remuneration rate is based on decisions of the Supervisory Council.

20.	O ther liabilities

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Due to international financial institutions 323 280 45
Accrued expenses 179 611 405
Provisions for claims and litigations 65 70 193
Total 567 961 643

Due to international financial institutions include amounts payable to IBRD of 
ALL 251 million (2014: ALL 231 million) for the purchase of securities that 
are managed by the IBRD, and other amounts payable to IBRD, International 
Development Agency (‘IDA’), Multilateral Investment Guarantee 

Agency (‘MIGA’), and Islamic Development Bank (‘IDB’) totalling ALL 72 
million (2014: ALL 49 million).

For the years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014, the 
movements in provisions for claims and litigations are presented below:

2015 2014
Balance at 1 January 70 193
Charge for the year 46 3
Reversals for the year (51) (126)
Balance at 31 December 65 70

21.	R eserves

31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Legal reserve 12,500 12,500 12,500
Revaluation reserves 24,206 19,868 10,119
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale assets) 995 1,305 302
Other reserves 16,548 15,748 15,760
Transition reserve (see note 31) 5,539 5,539 1,207
Total 59,788 54,960 39,888

According to the requirements of Article 9 of the Law ‘On the Bank of Albania’, 
the Bank sets aside 25 per cent of the net profit for the year into a Legal Reserve 
until the reserve amounts to 500% of the capital. The Bank has complied with 
this requirement as at 31 December 2011 with its legal reserve amounting to 
ALL 12,500 million.

Net (loss)/gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 
(note 9) and net foreign exchange gains/(losses) are initially recognized in 
profit or loss and then transferred to the revaluation reserves. 

Other reserves include the following:
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31 December 2015 31 December 2014 1 January 2014
Reserve for the Balance of Payments 7,209 7,209 7,209
Reserve of gold and precious metals 7,042 7,042 7,042
Other 2,297 1,497 1,509
Total 16,548 15,748 15,760

The reserve for the Balance of Payments represents financial assistance 
provided by the European Community during the years 1992 and 1993. 
There have been no movements in such reserve since 1995. 

The reserve of gold and precious metals represents the reserve created based 
on Law No. 9862, dated 24 January 2008 ‘On the transfer of ownership of 
gold and other precious metals from the Albanian Council of Ministers to the 
ownership of the Bank of Albania’. 

Other includes reserves of ALL 2,297 million (2014: ALL 1,497 million) 
created from the allocation of profits for the years 2004 - 2007 based on the 
Supervisory Council decisions in the respective following years. In addition, 
other reserves at 31 December 2015 include an amount of ALL 800 million, 
which was created based on the Decision No. 25, dated 2 March 2016, of 
the Supervisory Council.

22.	N et interest income 

2015 2014
Interest income
Available-for-sale investment securities 2,893 3,522
Loans to banks 631 691
Deposits with banks 12 26
Accounts with IMF 12 11
Other 65 27
Total interest income 3,613 4,277

Interest expense
Compulsory reserves 530 784
Loan from the Republic of Greece 15 15
Due to the International Monetary Fund 10 15
Due to the Albanian Government 14 50
Deposits from third parties 19 22
Negative interest from deposits with financial institutions 56 3
Total interest expense 644 889
Net interest income 2,969 3,388

Negative interest from deposits with financial institutions of ALL 56 million 
(2014: ALL 3 million) represent charges arising from negative yielding deposits 
and accounts placed with foreign financial institutions.

Interest income from available-for-sale securities include income received from 
securities issued by the Albanian Government with a total value of ALL 2,016 
million (2014: ALL 2,319 million).
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23.	N et trading income

2015 2014
Interest income from trading assets 143 112
Net (loss)/gains from the sale of trading assets (26) 22
Unrealized fair value changes (18) (21)
Net profit from forward and future contracts 404 69
Total 503 182

24.	OTHER  REVENUE

2015 2014
Net profit from sale of available-for-sale investments 751 834
Other 58 136
Total 809 970

25.	E MPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2015 2014
Employee salaries and compensations 882 878
Contributions for health and social security 88 88
Contribution for pension fund (see note 18) 83 85
Total 1,053 1,051

As at 31 December 2015, the Bank had 502 employees (2014: 500 
employees).

26.	OTHER  EXPENSES

Other expenses of ALL 713 million in 2014 represent losses resulting from 
the cash embezzlement that was discovered in July 2014. This amount was 
charged to losses based on the Decision No. 56, dated 1 October 2014 of 
the Supervisory Council. There were no such expenses in 2015.

27.	CONTIN GENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

(i)	R everse repurchase agreements

Reverse repurchase agreements as at 31 December 2015, represented 
collateralized loans (see note 11). The nominal value of the securities used 
as collateral as at 31 December 2015, was ALL 14,380 million (2014: ALL 
28,635 million).

(ii)	R ent agreements

The Bank has entered into rent agreements for its premises. Rent agreements in 
force at 31 December 2015, expire on 31 December 2018. Rent commitments 
payable within one year are ALL 36 million, whilst rent commitment payable 
within one and five years are ALL 73 million (2014: payable within one year 
of ALL 17 million).
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(iii)	C apital commitments

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Bank has not entered into capital 
commitments.

(iv)	C redit commitments and collaterals received from employees

The total value of registered collateral for long-term loans extended to 
employees (see note 15) at 31 December 2015, is ALL 2,233 million (2014: 
ALL 2,247 million). At 31 December 2015, unused credit commitments for 
employees amount to ALL 58 million (2014: ALL 60 million).

28.	 MANAGED ASSETS

At 31 December 2015, the Bank acts as custodian for short-term treasury 
bills with maturities from 3 to 12 months, with total nominal value of ALL 227 
billion (2014: ALL 263 billion) and EUR 24 million (2014: EUR 35 million) 
and for long-term securities with maturities varying between 2 and 10 years 
and with nominal value of ALL 286 billion (2014: ALL 269 billion) and EUR 
81 million (2014: EUR 63 million). These securities are issued by the Albanian 
Government.

29.	RELATED  PARTIES

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the 
other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making 
financial and other decisions. 

Considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to 
the substance of the relationship and not merely to the legal form.

The related parties of Bank of Albania include the directors and the members 
of the Supervisory Council. As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, balances 
with related parties comprised: 

2015 2014
Loans to directors
Directors 56 123
Total 56 123

Loans to directors have an interest rate of 0.5% p.a. and a grace period of 
two years, and are repayable within 30 years in equal monthly instalments. 
The mortgage loans are collateralized.

The decrease in loans to directors of ALL 67 million (2014: ALL 19 million) 
in 2015, represents repayments of ALL 3 million (2014: ALL 4 million) and 
reclassifications of the loans after changes in the hierarchy structure of the 
borrowers during 2015, of ALL 64 million (2014: ALL 15 million).
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2015 2014
Administrative expenses
Telephone expenses
Directors and Supervisory Council members 4 3
Salaries and bonuses
Directors and Supervisory Council members 98 93
Contribution to pension plan scheme
Directors 9 9
Total of administrative expenses 111 105

Balances with/(due to) the Albanian Government are disclosed in Notes 13 
and 19, and related interest income from securities and interest expenses are 
included in Note 22. Promissory notes issued by the Albanian Government 
in favour of the IMF are detailed in Note 10, whilst securities issued by the 
Albanian Government and managed by the Bank are detailed in Note 28.

30.	S ubsequent events

There are no significant events after the reporting date that may require 
adjustment or disclosure in the financial statements.

31.	E xplanation of transition to IFRSs 

As stated in note 2, these are the Bank’s first financial statements prepared in 
accordance with IFRSs.

The accounting policies set out in note 6 have been applied in preparing the 
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015, the comparative 
information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2014 and in the preparation of an opening IFRS statement of 
financial position at 1 January 2014 (the Bank’s date of transition).

In preparing its opening IFRS statement of financial position, the Bank has 
adjusted amounts reported previously in financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the accounting policies adopted in the Bank’s Accounting 
Manual approved with the order No. 50 of the Council of Ministers, dated 
26 January 2001 and other approved accounting policies and procedures 
(previous GAAP). An explanation of how the transition from previous GAAP 
to IFRSs has affected the Bank’s financial position, financial performance and 
cash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that accompany the 
tables.

Under the previous GAAP, the Bank presented the statement of financial position 
showing assets and liabilities separated in the domestic and foreign currencies 
classifications. Under IFRSs the assets and liabilities are not separated and 
each asset and liability line item combines amounts in foreign and domestic 
currencies. 
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1 January 2014 31 December 2014
Previous GAAP Aggregated Previous GAAP Aggregated

In foreign 
currencies Domestic For IFRS 

purposes 
In foreign 
currencies Domestic For IFRS 

purposes
ASSETS
Trading assets 12,591 - 12,591 14,378 - 14,378
Gold and precious metals 8,474 4,021 12,495 9,569 4,483 14,052
Accounts with the International Monetary 
Fund 20,220 - 20,220 21,792 - 21,792

Loans and deposits with banks 21,661 21,502 43,163 30,003 25,548 55,551
Available-for-sale investment securities 230,588 63,920 294,508 242,419 63,948 306,367
Balances with the Albanian Government - - - - 7,398 7,398
Other assets 577 12,388 12,965 779 13,009 13,788
Total 294,111 101,831 395,942 318,940 114,386 433,326

LIABILITIES
Currency in circulation - 207,766 207,766 - 226,407 226,407
Due to banks and financial institutions 1,256 100,032 101,288 1,255 106,310 107,565
Due to the Albanian Government - 23,779 23,779 - 17,578 17,578
Due to the International Monetary Fund 18,633 - 18,633 25,330 - 25,330
Other liabilities - 1,545 1,545 230 1,827 2,057
Total 19,889 333,122 353,011 26,815 352,122 378,937

Reconciliation of equity 1 January 2014 31 December 2014

Notes Previous 
GAAP

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRSs
IFRSs Previous 

GAAP

Effect of 
transition to 

IFRSs
IFRSs

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents a - 21,700 21,700 - 30,229 30,229
Trading assets c 12,591 10 12,601 14,378 5 14,383
Standardized gold b 12,495 (6,302) 6,193 14,052 (7,059) 6,993
Accounts with the International 
Monetary Fund 20,220 - 20,220 21,792 - 21,792

Loans to banks a 43,163 (21,661) 21,502 55,551 (30,003) 25,548
Available-for-sale investment securities 294,508 - 294,508 306,367 - 306,367
Balances with the Albanian Government d - - - 7,398 (7,398) -
Property, equipment and intangible 
assets b - 15,889 15,889 - 21,160 21,160

Other assets a,b,c,e 12,965 (10,172) 2,793 13,788 (11,243) 2,545
Total assets 395,942 (536) 395,406 433,326 (4,309) 429,017
LIABILITIES
Currency in circulation 207,766 - 207,766 226,407 - 226,407
Trading liabilities c - - - - 10 10
Due to banks and financial institutions f 101,288 (1,256) 100,032 107,565 (1,256) 106,309
Deposits and borrowings from third 
parties f - 2,188 2,188 - 2,386 2,386

Due to the Albanian Government f 23,779 (23) 23,756 17,578 (26) 17,552
Due to the International Monetary Fund d 18,633 - 18,633 25,330 (7,398) 17,932
Other liabilities e,f 1,545 (902) 643 2,057 (1,096) 961
Total liabilities 353,011 7 353,018 378,937 (7,380) 371,557
CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Capital 2,500 - 2,500 2,500 - 2,500
Legal reserve 12,500 - 12,500 12,500 - 12,500
Revaluation reserves b,h 12,171 (1,750) 10,421 23,641  (2,468) 21,173
Transition reserve b,e,h - 1,207 1,207 -  5,539 5,539
Other reserves 15,760 - 15,760 15,748 - 15,748
Total capital and reserves 42,931 (543) 42,388 54,389 3,071 57,460
Total liabilities, capital and reserves 395,942 (536) 395,406 433,326 (4,309) 429,017
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Reconciliation of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year 
ended 31 December 2014 Note Previous 

GAAP

Effect of 
transition 
to IFRSs 

IFRSs

Interest income - 4,277 4,277
Interest expense g - (889) (889)
Net interest income g - 3,388 3,388

Operations with non-residents
Interest and commission income g 4,640 (4,640) -
Interest and commission expense g (3,457) 3,457 -
Operations with non-residents, net 1,183 (1,183) -

Operations with residents
Interest and commission income g 3,095 (3,095) -
Interest and commission expense g (856) 856 -
Operations with residents, net 2,239 (2,239) -

Fee and commission income g - 74 74
Fee and commission expense g - (40) (40)
Net income from fees and commissions - 34 34

Net trading income 182 - 182
Other revenue 970 - 970
Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss h - 800 800
Net foreign exchange gains h 10,478 (1,529) 8,949
Total revenue 15,052 (729) 14,323 
Personnel expenses (1,051) - (1,051)
Depreciation and amortization i (788) 232 (556)
General and administrative expenses i (675) (232) (907)
Other expenses (713) - (713)
Net profit 11,825 (729) 11,096 

Other comprehensive income:
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss
Fair value reserve (available-for-sale financial assets) 1,003 - 1,003
Other comprehensive income for the year 1,003 - 1,003
Total comprehensive income for the year h 12,828 (729) 12,099

Material adjustments to cash flows

Under previous GAAP, local currency on hand was classified as cash and 
cash equivalents and certain accounts with international financial institutions 
as other assets. The nominal value of the banknotes and coins on hand in local 
currency is deducted from currency in circulation, and is not classified as cash 
and cash equivalents, whilst accounts with international financial institutions 
are classified as cash and cash equivalents under IFRSs. There are no other 
material differences between the statement of cash flows presented under 
IFRSs and the statement of cash flows presented under previous GAAP. 

Notes to the reconciliations 

(a)	 Under previous GAAP, certain accounts with banks and international 
institutions were classified as loans to banks and cash in foreign 
currency was classified as other assets. Under IFRSs, those balances 
are classified as cash and cash equivalents.
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The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:
1 January 2014 31 December 2014

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 21,700 30,229
Loans to banks (21,661) (30,003)
Other assets (39) (226)
Total - -

(b)	 Under previous GAAP, numismatic coins and objects were classified 
as gold and precious metals, whilst property, equipment and intangible 
assets were classified as other assets. Under IFRSs, those balances are 
classified as property, equipment and intangible assets, since these are 
not regularly used for the purposes of contributing to the financial capacity. 

In addition and as a condition under IFRS 1, the Bank elected to apply the 
optional exemption to use an event-driven fair value as deemed cost at 31 
December 2014. Because of the reconstruction in process of the main building 
of the Bank which was completed in 2014, the properties were fair valued 
at 31 December 2014. In 2015, the Bank fair valued land, buildings and 
numismatic coins based on the reports of the external appraisers.

The aggregate fair value of land and buildings at 31 December 2014, is ALL 
9,402 million, and the aggregate adjustment to the carrying amounts reported 
under previous GAAP was ALL 309 million. The aggregate fair value of 
numismatic coins and objects at 31 December 2014 is ALL 10,392 million, and 
the aggregate adjustment to the carrying amounts reported under previous GAAP 
was ALL 3,333 million (see 31.h for further changes related to the numismatic 
coins valuation). The total effect was to increase property and equipment and the 
transition reserve at 31 December 2014, by ALL 3,642 million.

Under previous GAAP, the property revaluation reserve was ALL 1,750 million 
at 1 January 2014, and ALL 1,711 million at 31 December 2014. Under 
IFRSs, those balances are classified as transition reserve.

The impact arising from the changes is summarized as follows:
1 January 2014 31 December 2014

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Gold (6,302)  (7,059)
Other assets (9,587)  (10,459)
Property, equipment and intangible assets 15,889  21,160 
Total -  3,642 
Capital and reserves
Property revaluation reserve (1,750) (1,711)
Transition reserve 1,750 5,353

- 3,642

(c)	 Under previous GAAP, certain derivatives were classified as other 
assets. Under IFRSs, those balances are classified as trading assets 
and trading liabilities. 
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The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:
1 January 2014 31 December 2014

Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Trading assets 10 5
Other assets (10) 5
Total - 10
Liabilities
Trading liabilities - 10
Total - 10

(d)	 Under previous GAAP, promissory notes issued by the Government of 
Albania in favour of the IMF were recognized as assets and borrowings 
granted by the IMF to the Government of Albania during 2014, were 
recognized as liabilities (see note 10). Under IFRSs, those balances 
are not recognized as assets or liabilities of the Bank. As a result, 
balances with the Albanian Government and due to the IMF at 31 
December 2014, were reduced by ALL 7,398 million.

(e)	 The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:

1 January 2014 31 December 2014
Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Balances with the Albanian Government - (7,398)
Total - (7,398)
Liabilities
Due to International Monetary Fund - (7,398)
Total - (7,398)

(f)	 Under previous GAAP subscriptions of the Republic of Albania with 
international financial institutions were included in other assets. Under 
IFRSs and pursuant to an agreement with the Government of Albania, 
the Bank has written off the subscriptions and has recognized liabilities 
for subscriptions acquired and not yet settled.

(g)	 The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:

1 January 2014 31 December 2014
Statement of Financial Position
Assets
Other assets (537) (564)
Total (537) (564)
Liabilities
Other liabilities 6 7
Total 6 7
Capital and reserves
Transition reserve (543) (571)
Total (543) (571)

(h)	 Under previous GAAP, certain deposits and borrowings from third 
parties were classified as due to banks, due to Albanian Government 
and other liabilities. Under IFRSs, those balances are classified as 
deposits and borrowings from third parties. 
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The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:
1 January 2014 31 December 2014

Statement of Financial Position
Liabilities
Due to banks (1,256) (1,256)
Deposits and borrowings from third parties 2,188 2,386
Due to the Albanian Government (23) (26)
Other liabilities  (909)  (1,104)
Total - -

(i)	 Under previous GAAP, interest income and interest expenses, and 
fees and commissions from resident and non-resident operations 
were shown separately in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. In addition, interest and fees and commissions 
were not separated. Under IFRSs interest amounts are presented 
separately from fees and commissions, and each income and expense 
line item combines amounts from resident and non-resident operations. 

The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:
2014

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Net interest income  3,388 
Net income from fees and commissions  34 
Operations with non-residents, net  (1,183)
Operations with residents, net  (2,239)
Total -

(j)	 Under previous GAAP changes in the fair values of standardized gold 
and numismatic coins and objects were classified as net gains/(losses) 
from foreign exchange and were subsequently transferred from retained 
earnings to revaluation reserves. Under IFRSs, net (loss)/gain from 
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (standardized 
gold) are presented separately in the statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income. 

The impact arising from the change is summarised as follows:
2014

Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Net gain from financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 800
Net foreign exchange gains (1,529)
Net profit (729)
Total comprehensive income (729)

Capital and reserves
Revaluation reserves (757)
Transition reserve 757
Total -

(k)	 Under previous GAAP printing and minting costs recognized during the 
year were classified as depreciation and amortization expenses. Under 
IFRSs, these costs were classified as general and administrative expenses. 
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The impact arising from the change is summarized as follows:

2014
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
Depreciation and amortization  232
General and administrative expenses  (232)
Total -



COMMEMORATIVE SERIES of 50, 100 AND 200 LEK COINS, 
ISSUED ON THE OCCASION OF THE 100TH ANNIVERSARY OF THE 
DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE, 2012. 

(Metal: CuNiZn)

(Metal: Ag)

(Metal: Au)

		  50 Lekë
Obverse: 	 The two-headed eagle of the flag raised in Vlorë on 28 November 1912.
Reverse:	 The sculpture “Besëlidhja” (Eng: The Pledge), by Asim Lokaj, conveys the message of independence 

from other countries. 
Artist:	 Gentian Gjikopulli

		  100 Lekë
Obverse: 	 The two-headed eagle of the flag raised in Vlorë, on 28 November 1912.
Reverse:	 The Document of the Declaration of Independence.
Artist:	O rgest Tafa

		  200 Lekë
Obverse: 	 The two-headed eagle of the flag raised in Vlorë, on 28 November 1912. Railings of the balcony, 

where the Flag of Independence was raised.
Reverse:	 The portrait of Ismail Qemali, his name, and the years 1912 and 2012.
Artist:	 Petraq Papa
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Shtojcë Statistikore	S tatistical Appendix
Përmbajtja Fq.-Pg. Contents
Tregues të përgjithshëm makroekonomikë 190 Main macroeconomic indicators

1. Zhvillimet monetare dhe normat e interesit 190 Monetary developments and interest rates 1.
2. Prodhimi i brendshëm bruto, indekset e çmimeve dhe tregu i punës 190 Gross domestic product, price indexes and labor market 2.
3. Bilanci i pagesave, rezerva dhe kursi i këmbimit 191 Balance of payments, reserves and exchange rate 3.
4. Bilanci fiskal, stoku i borxhit të brendshëm dhe borxhi i jashtëm 191 Fiscal balance, domestic debt stock and external debt 4.

1. SEKTORI FINANCIAR 192 FINANCIAL SECTOR 1.
1-1 Bilanci sektorial i Bankës së Shqipërisë 192 Sectoral balance sheet of Bank of Albania 1-1
1-2.a Bilanci sektorial i bankave para depozituese/ Mjetet 193 Sectoral balance sheet of deposit money banks / Assets 1-2.a
1-2.b Bilanci sektorial i bankave para depozituese / Detyrimet 194 Sectoral balance sheet of deposit money banks / Liabilities1-2.b
1-3 Agregatët monetarë dhe përbërësit e tyre 195 Monetary aggregates and their components 1-3
1-4 Kundërpartitë e agregatëve monetarë 196 Counterparts of monetary aggregates1-4
1-5 Llogaritë rrjedhëse dhe depozitat pa afat në lekë sipas sektorit 197 Lek denominated current account and sight deposits by sector 1-5
1-6 Depozitat me afat në lekë sipas sektorit 197 Lek denominated Time deposits by sector1-6

1-7 Llogari rrjedhëse dhe depozita pa afat në valutë sipas sektorit 198 Foreign currency denominated current account and sight deposits 
by sector1-7

1-8 Depozitat në valutë sipas sektorit 198 Foreign currency denominated deposits by sector1-8
1-9 Kredia sipas aktivitetit ekonomik 199 Loans by economic activity 1-9
1-10 Kredia sipas qëllimit të përdorimit dhe monedhës për bizneset¹ 200 Business loans by purpose and currency 1-10
1-11Kredia sipas qëllimit të përdorimit dhe monedhës për individët 201 Household loans by purpose and currency 1-11
1-12 Kredia sipas rrethit 202 Loans by district 1-12

2. NORMAT E INTERESIT TË INSTRUMENTEVE TË POLITIKËS 
MONETARE 202 INTEREST RATES OF MONETARY POLICY INSTRUMENTS 2

2-1 Normat e interesit të Bankës së Shqipërisë 202 Bank of Albania interest rates2-1

3. TREGJET FINANCIARE 203 FINANCIAL MARKETS 3.
3-1 Normat e interesit për depozitat e reja sipas monedhës 203 Interest rates on new deposits bycurrency3-1
3-2Normat e interesit për kreditë e reja sipas monedhës 204 Interest rates on new loans by currency 3-2
3-3Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit sipas afatit 205  Maturity breakdown of Treausury bills yields 3-3

4. KURSI I KEMBIMIT 206 EXHANGE RATE 4.
4-1 Kursi I këmbimit të lekut kundrejt monedhave kryesore 206 Exchange rate 4-1

2 SEKTORI I JASHTËM 206 EXTERNAL SECTOR 2
5-1 Bilanci i Pagesave 206 Balance of payments 5-1
5-2 Eksporti sipas grupmallrave 207 Export by commodity groups5-2
5-3 Importi sipas grupmallrave 207 Import by commodity groups 5-3
5-4 Pozicioni i investimeve ndërkombëtare 208 International investment position5-4
5-4 Pozicioni i investimeve ndërkombëtare 208 International investment position5-4
5-5 Borxhi i jashtëm 209 External debt 5-5

209
6. FINANCAT E QEVERISË 209 GOVERNMENT FINANCE 6.
6-1 Të ardhurat e buxhetit të qeverisë 209 Government budget revenue6-1
6-2 Shpenzimet e buxhetit të qeverisë 210 Government budget expenditure6-2
6-3 Financimi i deficitit buxhetor 210 Fiscal deficit and its financing6-3
6-4Stoku i borxhit të brendshëm sipas instrumenteve 211 Domestic debt stock by instruments 6-4

7 SEKTORI REAL 212 REAL SECTOR 7
7-1 Prodhimi i brendshëm bruto sipas klasifikimit të aktivitetit ekonomik, 
(Metoda e Prodhimit NEVER ev 2) 212 Gross domestic product by economic activities, (Production 

Method NACE Rev2) 7-1

7-2 Indeksi i çmimeve të prodhimit dhe indeksi i kushtimit në ndërtim 
(për banesa) 213 Producer price index and construction cost index 7-2 (for 

dwellings)

Ndryshimet në % të indeksit të Çmimeve të Prodhimit dhe të indeksit 
të kushtimit në ndërtim (për banesa 3) 213 Change in % of Producer Price Index and construction cost index 

(for dwellings 3)
7-3 Indeksi i çmimeve të konsumit 214 Consumer price index 7-3
7-4 Punësimi, papunësia dhe pagat 215 Employment, unemployment and wages 7-4
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3-2Normat e interesit për kreditë e reja sipas monedhës*
Në përqindje

Interest rates on new loans by currency *3-2
In percentage

Në lekë / In ALL 
Deri në 6muaj/Up to 6months 6 muaj-1 vit/ 6 months-1 year 1-3 vjet/1-3 years 3-5 vjet/3-5 years Mbi 5 vjet/Over 5 years

2013 9.59 9.52 13.99 11.65 9.65
2014 8.55 7.66 11.86 10.35 8.09
2015 8.91 7.77 9.24 8.83 6.92
2015/01 8.21 7.76 11.45 9.68 7.37

02 8.17 7.36 11.15 10.09 7.54
03 9.30 8.74 9.39 8.85 6.73
04 10.18 8.14 8.11 8.76 7.38
05 8.86 7.98 9.27 9.23 7.05
06 9.28 8.95 8.93 9.17 6.60
07 7.49 7.62 9.14 9.73 7.29
08 8.28 7.60 9.15 7.00 7.07
09 8.11 8.50 9.83 9.27 6.93
10 9.81 7.11 9.08 9.49 7.19
11 8.38 7.30 8.91 9.01 5.53
12 8.35 7.47 9.33 8.11 6.98

Në dollarë amerikanë / In USD 
2013 6.62 6.33 6.60 6.33 7.45
2014 6.50 6.14 5.47 6.89 6.94
2015 4.84 5.18 5.66 6.07 4.58
2015/01 6.52 5.44 8.47 11.62 5.54

02 5.17 5.13 8.29 8.15 4.89
03 4.08 5.90 8.96 7.05 3.70
04 5.10 5.16 8.69 _ 8.27
05 5.17 6.31 6.32 11.75 6.88
06 4.68 4.76 7.20 11.77 6.76
07 4.03 6.63 7.34 6.07 5.78
08 4.21 2.28 4.98 _ 4.66
09 4.29 4.37 11.90 5.57 5.16
10 5.06 5.26 10.29 6.02 5.79
11 4.23 6.48 3.94 4.41 3.95
12 4.38 6.68 14.38 7.86 6.86

Në euro / In EUR 
2013 6.67 6.82 7.32 7.03 6.95
2014 7.11 6.61 7.17 6.88 6.25
2015 6.64 5.71 6.52 5.79 5.21
2015/01 6.98 5.66 5.88 7.65 5.96

02 7.73 5.81 6.17 7.10 5.74
03 7.15 6.11 5.99 6.40 6.24
04 7.94 5.98 5.21 5.61 5.36
05 6.18 5.97 6.17 5.92 6.00
06 6.58 5.63 5.88 6.29 5.68
07 6.75 6.01 6.40 4.68 5.45
08 6.19 6.39 10.53 5.99 5.49
09 7.28 5.74 5.76 6.08 5.48
10 6.26 5.41 5.96 4.07 4.01
11 5.89 5.00 5.88 6.30 3.57
12 5.20 5.66 6.16 7.03 5.63

Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë
*Përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara të periudhës.-Normat vjetore përfaqësojnë normat 
mesatare të ponderuara vjetore, ndërsa normat mujore përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara 
mujore.

Source: Bank of Albania.
*Weighted average interest rates.-Yearly data presents the annual weighted 

average rate, while the monthly data  presents the monthly weighted average rate.
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3-3Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit sipas afatit*
Në përqindje

 Maturity breakdown of Treausury bills yields *3-3
In percentage

Normat e interesit për bonot e thesarit / Maturity breakdown of Treausury bill yields
3 mujor / 3 months 6 mujor / 6 months 12 mujor / 12 months

2009/12 6.30 7.52 9.14
2010/12 5.29 6.41 7.09
2011/12 5.31 6.23 6.95
2012/12 5.03 5.65 6.37
2013/01 5.08 6.08 6.56

02 5.05 6.00 6.38
03 5.04 5.99 6.18
04 _ 5.94 6.11
05 4.80 5.80 5.87
06 4.63 5.51 5.55
07 _ 5.30 5.35
08 3.85 4.52 4.85
09 3.44 3.99 4.18
10 3.43 3.68 3.81
11 _ 3.49 3.73
12 3.40 3.54 3.66

2014/01 3.36 3.71 3.82
02 3.24 3.52 3.79
03 3.14 3.40 3.66
04 _ 3.32 3.56
05 3.05 3.27 3.40
06 3.02 3.14 3.26
07 2.95 3.16 3.23
08 3.05 3.14 3.20
09 3.08 3.13 3.20
10 3.08 3.13 3.25
11 3.11 3.15 3.29
12 3.15 3.16 3.33

2015/01 3.23 3.23 3.50
02 3.19 3.23 3.58
03 3.11 3.25 3.59
04 3.00 3.14 3.50
05 2.90 3.11 3.42
06 2.79 3.04 3.29
07 2.71 2.97 3.24
08 2.66 2.90 3.22
09 2.61 2.87 3.21
10 2.57 2.82 3.18
11 _ 2.82 2.97
12 _ 2.46 2.40

Burimi: Banka e Shqipërisë
*Përfaqësojnë normat mesatare të ponderuara të periudhës.

Source: Bank of Albania.
*Weighted average interest rates.
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